THE COST OF ROAMING FREE: ASSESSING THE EFFECTS OF PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES ON DIET SELECTION AND NUTRITIONAL CONDITION IN A FREE-RANGING GENERALIST HERBIVORE.

by

Daniel Patrick Melody

A thesis

submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Biology

Boise State University

December 2017

© 2017

Daniel Patrick Melody

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

BOISE STATE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE COLLEGE

DEFENSE COMMITTEE AND FINAL READING APPROVALS

of the thesis submitted by

Daniel Patrick. Melody

Thesis Title: The Cost of Roaming Free: Assessing the Effects of Plant Secondary Metabolites on Diet Selection and Nutritional Condition in a Free-Ranging Generalist Herbivore.

Date of Final Oral Examination: 08 September 2017

The following individuals read and discussed the thesis submitted by student Daniel Patrick Melody, and they evaluated his presentation and response to questions during the final oral examination. They found that the student passed the final oral examination.

Jennifer Forbey, Ph.D.	Chair, Supervisory Committee
John A. Vucetich, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
Ian C. Robertson, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee

The final reading approval of the thesis was granted by Jennifer Forbey, Ph.D., Chair of the Supervisory Committee. The thesis was approved by the Graduate College.

DEDICATION

For my family, especially my grandfather who will always be my greatest inspiration, and my mother who has always supported me in everything I have done.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This graduate work would not have been possible without the help and support of many people and institutions. Special thanks to my committee members; Dr. Jennifer Forbey, the committee chairman and primary advisor who selected me for this project and who has repeatedly afforded me opportunities that I otherwise would never have had. Thank you for all the faith you have placed in me over the years, I have learned more from you than I can put into words. Dr. John Vucetich from Michigan Technological University, who's continued and diligent work on this amazing ecosystem brought this project to life and made it possible. Thank you, John, for your patience with the multiple emails and phone calls requesting clarification on data sheets and analysis. And, Dr. Ian Robertson who has been a constant source of help and support during my tenure at Boise State. Thank you for always being available to help answer even the most trivial of questions.

Funding for this project was provided primarily through National Science Foundation grant ((DEB-0918247 to J.A. Vucetich and DEB-1146194 and IOS-1258217 to J.S. Forbey) as well as the National Institutes of Health Idaho INBRE Program (P20 GM103408). Additional funding was provided by the Biomolecular Research Center and Department of Biological Sciences at Boise State University. A special thanks to the family of Dan Montgomery for their very generous donation to this project and my graduate career. Thanks to Dr. Leah Vucetich at Michigan Technological University who provided all the logistical and planning support for this project. Her efforts coordinating

v

shipping of samples and travel plans to and from the field site were tantamount to the timely success of this project.

Many other people contributed to the timely completion of this project. Thanks go out to Laura Haller, McKenzie Hansen, and Mathew Gasparro who served as lab technicians during this project, without whom the pace would have been much slower. Thanks to Dr. Shin Pu at the Biomolecular Research Center for his constant support and help with equipment issues and assistance with other projects still in the initial phases. Laura Bond, the Bioinformatics Coordinator at Boise State, who's assistance with the statistical analysis on this project has been invaluable. Thanks to Biological Sciences Administrative Assistants Carla Bulen and Jaci Thiede for all their assistance with shipping and receiving samples, supplies, and equipment. Thanks to Dr. Carolyn Dadabay and the biochemistry research lab at College of Idaho for their help and support.

I would also like to thank all the past and present members of the chemical/nutritional ecology research lab who contributed to this project including: Brecken Robb, Karli Graski, Chris Ellis, Jaci Pena, and Brea Goods. As well as graduate students past and present including: Graham Frye, Marcella Fremgen, Jordon Nobler, Zoe Tinkle, Britt Pendleton, and Chelsea Merriman. I would also like to thank Rolf and Candy Peterson, Joe Olenik, and the staff at the Grand Portage Lodge for their hospitality, generosity, and guidance during the summer 2016 Moose-watch/field work expedition.

Finally, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all the members of my family, both immediate and extended. Without their constant support and tolerance I would not have been able to take on this project.

vi

ABSTRACT

Large vertebrate herbivores have a wide variety of browsing options available. However, most plants contain a suite of plant secondary metabolites (PSMs) that can have toxic effects when ingested. Herbivores must therefore make dietary choices that minimize the potentially harmful effects of PSM ingestion and maximize the use of available nutrients and protein. During winter months, in northern latitudes, climatological factors restrict browsing options and many populations of herbivores must subsist primarily on forage that is relatively poor in nutritional quality and high in PSMs. Many species of herbivores have developed a suite of behavioral and physiological adaptations to cope with increased PSM exposure, including selective foraging and increased detoxification efficiency of potentially harmful PSMs. However, detoxification of PSMs may be energetically costly, exacerbating the effects of winter nutritional deficits, which in turn further decreases nutritional condition of free-ranging populations. As a result, PSMs may directly influence diet selection and winter nutritional condition of free-ranging herbivores. We used moose (Alces alces) on Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, to test how PSMs influence the diet selection, rates of intake and the physiological consequences of diet selection in a large mammalian herbivore during winter. We identified browsing patches and bite marks on balsam fir (Abies balsamia) trees and examined the PSM chemical profile and protein content of browsed and unbrowsed trees. We found that both diet selection and rate of intake by moose was directly influenced by PSMs. However, environmental conditions (e.g. snow depth) were

vii

the primary governing factor of intake rate. We also examined the effect of PSMs on nutritional condition of island moose using urine collected from snow. We quantified the concentrations of three metabolites found in urine: Glucuronic Acid (GA) as a biomarker of PSM exposure, Urea Nitrogen (UN) as a biomarker of overall nutritional condition, and Creatinine (C) to correct for individual sample dilution from snow volume or relative hydration of individual animals. We found that UN:C was positively correlated with increased GA:C, indicating higher PSM exposure which may reduce nutritional condition of moose. Furthermore, we found that increased ingestion of monoterpenes, a primary class of PSMs in fir, also directly correlated with decreased nutritional condition of moose. By employing techniques that can be applied generally to test the consequences of PSMs on nutritional ecology of herbivores, this research contributes to our understanding of herbivore foraging ecology and the potential nutritional consequences of "bottom-up" regulation of natural populations of herbivores by plants. The methods detailed here-in are applicable to testing consequences of PSMs in multiple species and habitat types. Specifically, measuring GA from urine collected snow provides managers and wildlife scientists with a simple, effective, non-invasive, and relatively inexpensive means by which to monitor the link between diet quality, behavioral and physiological adaptations to PSMs, and the nutritional consequences of diet quality. Finally, increased ability to utilize biomarkers of diet quality and nutritional condition may considerably contribute to the understanding of the health and population dynamics of difficult to manage or economically important herbivores.

viii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
ABSTRACT vii
LIST OF TABLES xiii
LIST OF FIGURES xvii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xxi
GENERAL INTRODUCTION1
Literature Cited
CHAPTER ONE: PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES DRIVE DIET SELECTION AND INTAKE RATE BY MOOSE11
Abstract
Introduction12
Methods16
Sample Collection17
Sample Preparation18
Chemical Analysis of Samples19
Statistical Analyses
Results
Spatial Variation in Quality of Fir23
Diet Selection24

Bite Diameter	25
Threshold of selection	26
Discussion	26
Literature Cited	32
CHAPTER TWO: PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES INFLUENCE THE NUTRITIONAL CONDITION OF A FREE-RANGING MAMMALIAN	(1
HERBIVORE	61
Abstract	61
Introduction	62
Methods	68
Sample Collection	68
Preparation of Samples	70
Chemical Analysis of Samples.	70
Statistical Analysis	72
Results	75
Discussion	76
Literature Cited	81
MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS	95
Isle Royale National Park	95
Other Systems	98
Literature Cited	99
Appendix A	104
Study system: Isle Royale National Park	104
Literature Cited	107

Appendix B110
GC Headspace autosampler parameters during monoterpene quantification analysis of balsam fir (<i>Abies balsamea</i>)110
Appendix C
Multivariate correlation matrix testing collinearity of dietary parameters in balsam fir trees
Literature Cited
Appendix D117
East and west regional differences in dietary and environmental parameters by sample year
Appendix E
AICc model selection by region to determine region specific effects of dietary parameters on browsing selection by moose
Literature Cited
Appendix F127
Estimating intake rate from bite diameter of balsam fir trees127
Literature Cited
Appendix G130
Regional and island wide values of GA:C and UN:C for the 18-year sample set
Appendix H136
Influence of individual and normalized PSMs on GA:C and UN:C136
Literature Cited
Appendix I
Influence of Dietary Protein on Urinary Urea Nitrogen
Literature Cited

Apper	ndix J	147
	Other Notable Observations	147
	Relative Absorption of Consumed Monoterpenes	148
	Biomarkers of Physiological Processes	149
	Urine Urea Nitrogen as an Index of Nutritional Condition	149
	Correlation of Glucuronic Acid and Urea Nitrogen with Creatinine	151
	Literature Cited	152

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 1.4Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K),
Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc),
change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for
the model selection used for the browsing of balsam fir patches used by
Moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2013,
2014, and 2015. Conditional logit models were used with plant browse
condition (browsed/unbrowsed) as the binary response for each model.
Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value
lower than the null model, are shown in bold.48

- Table 1.5Confidence intervals (85% CI) for estimated use coefficients (Est)
predicting tree use by moose foraging on balsam fir. Confidence intervals
that do not overlap 1.0 for Conditional Logit (clogit) models and
confidence intervals that do not overlap 0.0 for Generalized Linear models
(glm) are shown, indicating parameters that predict odds of use reliably.
Parameters shown are top models from AICc model selection (models
with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model, with AICc values lower than the null
model). Predictor variables are listed in order of increasing AICc value. 49
- Table 1.7Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K),
Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc),
change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for
the model selection used for determining bite diameter of balsam fir trees
used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter
2014, and 2015. Generalized linear models were used with the diameter of
the browsed twig at the observed browsing site (bite diameter (mm)) as the
response variable for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the
top model and with an AICc value lower than the null model, are shown in
bold.
- Table 2.1Model components of Generalized Linear Models; log likelihood (LL),
number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample
size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ
AICc), and model weight (w_i) for the model selection used for

- Table G.1Mean (\bar{x}) and SEM of GA:C (mg/dL) and UN:C (mg/dL) values for each
of 17 years of collected samples, n = 40 for each year. Values reflect the
average values specific to east and west regions as well as across the entire
island. Sequential gaps with respect to year between 1994 and 2000 are
the result of freezer failure in which samples were lost. Sample year 2001

	(bold) was removed from further analysis due to suspected alteration of samples from the west region which was an outlier relative to all other years
Table G.2	Regression statistics for GA:C (predictor) and UN:C (response) isolated from moose urine at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA for each year in the extend sample set. Sample year 2001(bold) was deemed anomalous and was removed from further analysis. All other years demonstrated a significantly positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig 1.1	Aerial view of Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA indicating location of patches browsed by moose during late January and early February where plants were sampled during 2013 (circles, $n = 31$), 2014 (squares, $n = 39$), and 2015 (triangles, $n = 32$) from east and west regions.
Fig 1.2	Bite marks used to determine bite diameter on terminal and lateral stems indicating moose browsing on an immature balsam fir tree (<i>Abies balsamea</i>) at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Photo credit J. S. Forbey. 54
Fig 1.3	Balsam fir grows a new whorl of branches each year (1= oldest, 5=newest). Browsed and respective non-browsed samples were collected from the same whorl as observed browse marks. Samples from browsed terminal stem (top stem in year 5) were collected from the previous year's whorl if multiple stems were not present. Figure from woodlandstewardship.org, courtesy of University of Minnesota Extension.
Fig 1.4	Representative monoterpene profiles of browsed (blue, bottom) and unbrowsed (red, top) balsam fir trees collected from foraging patches used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter. Peaks show individual compounds, with the height of the peak (AUC) indicating relative concentration of the compound at a given retention time. Identity of peaks were determined with co-chromatography using a standard cocktail containing each of the known compounds
Fig 1.5	Mean \pm SEM of camphene concentrations (AUC/mgDW) for browsed and unbrowsed balsam fir within foraging patches used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Camphene explained 71% of diet selection by moose (Conditional Logit model; AICc = 90.84, model weight (w _i) = 0.71)
Fig 1.6	Mean \pm SEM of dietary characteristics for browsed and unbrowsed balsam fir within foraging patches used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Samples were collected in winter 2013, 2014, and 2015 (n = 101). Dietary characteristics include: (a) total monoterpene concentrations (AUC/ 100 µg dry weight [DW]), (b) total phenolic

	concentration (mg GAE/g DW), (c) Total Tannin concentrations (uM TAE/g DW), (d) crude protein (%)
Fig 1.7	Response surface depicting the additive effects of increasing camphene (AUC/mg DW) and snow depth (cm) on bite diameter (mm) of balsam fir trees browsed by moose during winter at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Response surface was generated using top covariates in model selection
Fig 1.8	Difference in concentrations of camphene (AUC/mg DW) between paired browsed and non-browsed balsam fir samples, represented by tick marks along the inside of the x-axis (n = 101) from Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA as a function of mean concentration of camphene (AUC/mg DW) in that patch. Samples included patches browsed by moose from three years: 2013 (n=31), 2014 (n=38), and 2015 (n=32). Values above zero theoretically indicate selection for camphene, and indicate higher camphene concentrations in browsed plants than non- browsed, while values below zero indicate selection against and have lower camphene concentrations in browsed plants. The dark horizontal line at 0.0 on the y-axis indicates where no selection occurs. The solid black line represents the smoothed fit for the generalized additive model, and dashed lines represent 95% confidence intervals derived from the model
Fig 2.1	Linear regression between GA:C and UN:C from moose urine at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA for three years; 2013 (Y=0.02x + 1.62; $F_{1,39} = 4.558$, $p = 0.04$, $R^2 = 0.105$, 95% CI = 0.001 – 0.039), 2014 (Y=0.76x + 0.706; $F_{1,35} = 28.19$, $p < 0.001$, $R^2 = 0.45$, 95% CI = 0.047 – 0.105), and 2015 (Y=0.053x + 0.31; $F_{1,25} = 25.43$, $p < 0.001$, $R^2 = 0.504$, 95% CI = 0.032 – 0.075). Solid line represents the least squares regression with dashed lines representing 95% confidence intervals
Fig 2.2	Intra-annual variation in urinary GA:C (black) and UN:C (grey) for moose on Isle Royale National Park from 2002 - 2015. Points represent average values for each sample year. Only continuous data was used, years with missing or anomalous data (1994, 1997, and 2001) are not included 92
Fig 2.3	17-year relationship between UN:C and GA:C of urine from free-ranging moose on Isle Royal National Park from 2002 - 2015. Points represent annual averages of all samples from individual moose ($Y=0.069x - 0.244$; F1,15 = 18.57, p = 0.0006, R2 = 0.553, 95% CI = 0.035 - 0.104). Solid line represents the least squares regression between the two variables with dashed lines representing the 95% confidence intervals
Fig 2.4	Relationship between the proportional IR of monoterpenes (AUC/gDW/min) and UN:C (mg/dL) for the 2014 data set (n = 40,

	$Y=0.018x+2.56; F_{1,30}=15.41, p=0.0005, R2=0.34, 95\% \ CI=0.008-0.027). Solid line represents least squares regression while the dotted lines represent 95\% confidence intervals. 94$
Fig 3.1	Population trends of Isle Royale moose between 1995 and 2015 (diamonds, black line) and average urinary glucuronic acid (GA) concentration (squares, grey line). Broken line representing GA between 1995 and 2002 is due to missing annual values resulting from sample contamination or loss
Fig 3.2	Populations of wolves (diamonds, grey line) and moose (squares, black line) on Isle Royale National Park, Michigan U.S.A between 1959 and 2015. Figure courtesy of J.A. Vucetich, Michigan Technological University, used with permission
Fig A.1	Isle Royale; a 544 km2 island situated in the north-western region of Lake Superior, North America (47° 50'N, 89° 00'W). 22km from Ontario, Canada and 25km from Grand Portage, Minnesota
Fig C.1	Multivariate analysis of one unknown and eight known monoterpenes, total monoterpenes, total tannins, total phenolics, and % crude protein. Variables with $r > 0.7$ were considered to be strongly correlated and in violation of multicollinearity requirements
Fig F.1	Intake rate as a function of bite diameter of balsam fir trees (<i>Abies balsamea</i>) browsed by moose on Isle Royale, Michigan, USA. Bite diameter measurements collected during sample years 2014 and 2015 (n=67)
Fig G.1	Linear regression of GA:C and UN:C for East ($Y = 0.047x + 1.244$) and West ($Y = 0.026x + 1.515$) regions of Isle Royale for the three-year sample set; 2013 (circles), 2014 (square), and 2015 (triangle). Solid line represents the least squares regression with dashed lines representing 95% confidence intervals. Both regions demonstrated a significantly positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C (east: $F_{1,56} = 12.78$, $p = 0.0007$, $R^2 = 0.19$; west: $F_{1,44} = 4.938$, $p = 0.031$, $R^2 = 0.10$)
Fig H.1	Relationship between proportional IR of PSMs in balsam fir trees browsed by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA during late winter, 2014 and urinary UN:C. a) Proportional IR of total monoterpenes (Y=0.018x+2.56; F _{1,30} = 15.41, p = 0.0005, R ² = 0.34, 95% CI = 0.008 – 0.027). b) Proportional IR of total phenolics (Y=0.0005x+3.35; F _{1,30} = 5.22, p = 0.03, R ² = 0.15, 95% CI = 0.00005 – 0.0009). c) Proportional IR of normalized total PSM (Y=2.29x+3.1; F _{1,30} = 5.41, p = 0.03, R ² = 0.15, 95% CI = 0.278 – 4.293). Solid lines represent least squares regression while dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals

Fig H.2	Relationship between the proportional IR of PSMs from balsam fir trees browsed by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA during late winter, 2014 and urinary GA:C. a) Proportional IR of total monoterpenes (Y=0.077x+35.34; $F_{1,30} = 2.598$, p = 0.117, $R^2 = 0.08$, 95% CI = -0.021 – 0.174). b) Proportional IR of total phenolics (Y=0.001x+43.4; $F_{1,30} = 0.22$, p = 0.64, $R^2 = 0.007$, 95% CI = -0.003 – 0.005). c) Proportional IR of normalized total PSM (Y=14.8x+38.71; $F_{1,30}$ = 2.6, p = 0.118, $R^2 = 0.08$, 95% CI = -3.96 – 33.55). Solid lines represent least squares regression while dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals
Fig I.1	Relationship between proportional intake of crude protein of balsam fir consumed by moose and UN:C values present in moose urine (Y=0.19x + 2.92; $F_{1,31} = 7.761$, p = 0.009, $R^2 = 0.20$, 95% CI = 0.051 – 0.331). Solid lines represent the least squares regression while dashed lines represent the 95% confidence intervals.
Fig J.1	Representative Monoterpene profile of balsam fir shown with monoterpene profiles of moose fecal pellets collected during 2013, 2014, and 2015 (each offset) winter field seasons at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Peaks show individual compounds, with the height of the peak (AUC) indicating relative abundance of each identified compound.
Fig J.2	Relationship between (a) creatinine and glucuronic acid (Y = $33.58X + 76.63$; $F_{1,102} = 165.5$, p < 0.001, R2 = 0.619, 95% CI = $28.4 - 38.76$) and (b) creatinine and urea nitrogen (Y = $2.595X + 4.053$; $F_{1,102} = 92.23$, p < 0.001, R ² = 0.475, 95% CI = $2.059 - 3.131$). Both relationships were significantly positively correlated with higher concentrations C correlating to higher concentrations of both GA and UN. Solid line represents least squares regression, dotted line represents 95% confidence intervals 153

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

PSM	Plant Secondary Metabolite
AUC	Area Under the Curve (on chromatogram)
GA	Glucuronic Acid
UN	Urea Nitrogen
С	Creatinine
GAE	Gallic Acid Equivalent
TAE	Tannic Acid Equivalent
AICc	Akaike's Information Criterion, with sample size
	adjustment
DW	Dry Weight
WW	Wet Weight
EO	Essential Oils

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Advances in the theoretical framework of population ecology have led to a longstanding debate as to the forces that regulate herbivore populations. Some population ecologists argue that predation (i.e., top-down process) is the principle means by which herbivore populations are regulated. This perspective is largely supported by numerous empirical studies on predator-prey interactions and density dependent population oscillations (Hairston et al. 1960; Rosenzweig and MacArthur 1963; Tanner 1975; Erlinge et al. 1984; Messier 1994; Sinclair and Pech 1996; Pople et al. 2000; Jansen 2001). Counter to this, other researchers have proposed that relative abundance of primary producers (i.e., bottom-up process) regulates herbivore populations, and by extension, obligate predator populations (Coe et al. 1976; White 1978; Bach 1980; Newsome et al. 1989; Báez et al. 2006). Modern theoretical approaches to population ecology hold that a combination of top-down and bottom-up processes work synergistically to regulate herbivore populations (Menge 2000; Denno et al. 2005; Elmhagen and Rushton 2007; Laundré et al. 2014). However, not all systems are created equal; thus, the relative strengths of trophic control interactions may be system or species specific and subject to spatial and temporal variation (Hunter and Price 1992; Sæther 1997; Gripenberg and Roslin 2007; Hopcraft et al. 2010). Generalists living in highly connected systems may suffer high predation rates, leading to a greater top-down effect. Conversely, dietary specialists or herbivores living in predator-free systems are highly susceptible to resource limitations, and thus, may experience greater bottom-up effects.

For the purpose of this thesis, we focused on a generalist herbivore living in a natural system with minimal predation. In such a system, both quantity and quality of available forage may be tantamount to herbivore fitness. In the absence of top-down controls, populations can be expected to increase, thereby leading to increased competition for preferred resources among conspecifics. An antagonistic effect in response to resource availability can also be expected, potentially altering the availability and distribution of resources at the landscape scale. Vertebrate herbivores are seldom resource limited in terms of forage availability. However, they are often highly selective of the plants that they consume, favoring plants higher in available protein and lower in defensive plant secondary metabolites (PSMs) (Stolter 2008; Frye et al. 2013; Ulappa et al. 2014; Fauchald et al. 2017). Moreover, herbivores can accelerate or decelerate ecosystem processes, thereby leading to changes in nutrient cycling (Bezemer and van Dam 2005; Olofsson 2006) which can influence changes in plant morphology and nutritional quality as well as plant community dynamics including composition and distribution (Agrawal 1998; Stolter 2008; de Jager et al. 2009; Ulappa et al. 2014; Ricca et al. 2016). Clearly, forage quality and the responses of herbivores to forage quality is important when considering population dynamics of herbivores and plants.

To address how plant quality influences herbivore populations, we investigated diet selection by a large generalist herbivore and assessed the consequences of ingested PSMs on their nutritional condition. We conducted this research using the tri-trophic wolf-moose-balsam fir system on Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA (Appendix A). Isle Royale has been studied continuously for more than 50 years as a model single predator-single prey system, leading to great advancements in the understanding of predator/prey relationships (Vucetich et al. 2011). With the current wolf population on Isle Royale at a critical low with only two known individuals and no known breeding pairs at the time of this writing (Peterson and Vucetich 2016), predation is almost nonexistent on the island, leaving the moose population without population controls exerted by an apex predator. With moose being the only large herbivore on the island, the decline in wolf population provides a unique opportunity to study the effects of forage quality on the diet selection behavior and relative nutritional condition of a large generalist herbivore without the confounding effects of predation.

In the first chapter, we investigated behavioral adaptations and plant-scale foraging decisions made by moose. PSMs can vary both among trees and patches of trees of the same species (Thompson et al. 1989), and they can influence the foraging decisions of herbivores (Frye et al. 2013; Forbey et al. 2013; Ulappa et al. 2014; Fauchald et al. 2017) including moose (Stolter 2008). We hypothesized that PSMs would negatively influence diet selection of island moose. To test this hypothesis, we used a paired sample design (browsed vs. unbrowsed trees) spanning a period of three years to examine dietary factors (i.e. monoterpenes, total phenolics, total tannins, and crude protein) influencing diet selection and intake rate of moose. We focused solely on balsam fir (Abies *balsamea*) because it is the principle winter forage for moose on Isle Royale (Parikh et al. 2016). We also examined how winter environmental conditions (e.g., snow depth) can affect intake rates. We found that island moose foraged selectively with regard to PSM concentration which, along with snow depth, also influenced intake rate. We found that a single monoterpene, camphene, was the strongest predictor of moose browsing, with moose selectively browsing on trees that had higher concentrations of camphene. Intake

rate, as determined by bite diameter of stems browsed by moose, was slightly inversely correlated with camphene concentration and strongly positively correlated with snow depth.

In the second chapter, we investigated how behavioral and physiological adaptations in response to PSMs influence the nutritional condition of moose. We used urine samples from individual moose to isolate and quantify glucuronic acid (GA) as a biomarker of PSM exposure. Controlled feeding studies in herbivores have shown a positive relationship between ingestion of PSMs and GA excretion (Jakubas et al. 1993; Guglielmo et al. 1996; Servello and Schneider 2000; Sorensen et al. 2005). We measured urea nitrogen (UN) as a biomarker of overall nutritional condition. In mammals urea nitrogen (UN) is generally a byproduct of protein breakdown (Weiner et al. 2014). When individuals are not meeting protein needs through dietary intake, they breakdown endogenous proteins to make up the balance, resulting in an increase in UN excretion and a decrease in nutritional condition (Moen and DeIgiudice 1997; Fouillet et al. 2008). Finally, we measured creatinine (C) levels in urine samples to correct for individual sample dilution from snow volume or relative animal hydration. Creatinine is produced from the breakdown of phosphocreatine in skeletal muscle at a relatively constant rate based on the lean muscle mass, thereby making it useful to correct for dilution effects (DelGiudice 1995; Doi et al. 2009). These physiological biomarkers were used to examine relationships between GA:C and UN:C within and across 17 years of field data.

We predicted that increased GA:C concentrations would be positively correlated with increased UN:C values and that increased PSM exposure would be positively correlated with both GA:C and UN:C values. To test these hypotheses, we used moose urine collected from snow and chemical profiles of browsed balsam fir trees as identified by fresh browsing marks. Positive inter and intra-annual correlations were observed between GA:C and UN:C across 17 of the 18 years of collected samples. Additionally the relative amount and rate of monoterpenes (a class of PSMs) consumed by moose was significantly correlated with decreased nutritional condition in island moose.

Results detailed in this thesis provide further understanding of the effects of bottom-up regulation of browsing and nutritional consequences for large generalist herbivores. This research provides a simple, quantitative, relatively inexpensive, and noninvasive, methodology for monitoring how diet quality influences the nutritional condition of wild herbivores. These methods are not species specific and thus can be used to monitor the nutritional condition of a variety of avian and mammalian herbivores. Furthermore, this research informs basic science and applied management practices for ungulate population biology as well as for species that are limited in distribution, difficult to manage, economically important, or of conservation concern.

Literature Cited

- Agrawal AA (1998) Induced Responses to Herbivory and Increased Plant Performance. Science 279:1201–1202. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5354.1201
- Bach CE (1980) Effects of Plant Density and Diversity on the Population Dynamics of a Specialist Herbivore, the Striped Cucumber Beetle, Acalymma Vittata (Fab).
 Ecology 61:1515–1530. doi: 10.2307/1939058
- Báez S, Collins SL, Lightfoot D, Koontz TL (2006) Bottom-up Regulation of Plant Community Structure in an Aridland Ecosystem. Ecology 87:2746–2754. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[2746:BROPCS]2.0.CO;2

- Bezemer TM, van Dam NM (2005) Linking Aboveground and Belowground Interactions via Induced Plant Defenses. Trends Ecol Evol 20:617–624. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2005.08.006
- Coe MJ, Cumming DH, Phillipson J (1976) Biomass and Production of Large African Herbivores in Relation to Rainfall and Primary Production. Oecologia 22:341– 354. doi: 10.1007/BF00345312
- de Jager NR, Pastor J, Hodgson AL (2009) Scaling the Effects of Moose Browsing on Forage Distribution, from the Geometry of Plant Canopies to Landscapes. Ecol Monogr 79:281–297.
- DelGiudice GD (1995) Assessing Winter Nutritional Restriction of Northern Deer with Urine in Snow: Considerations, Potential, and Limitations. Wildl Soc Bull 1973-2006 23:687–693.
- Denno RF, Lewis D, Gratton C (2005) Spatial Variation in the Relative Strength of Topdown and Bottom-up Forces: Causes and Consequences for Phytophagous Insect Populations. Ann Zool Fenn 42:295–311.
- Doi K, Yuen PST, Eisner C, et al (2009) Reduced Production of Creatinine Limits Its Use as Marker of Kidney Injury in Sepsis. J Am Soc Nephrol 20:1217–1221. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008060617
- Elmhagen B, Rushton SP (2007) Trophic Control of Mesopredators in Terrestrial Ecosystems: Top-down or Bottom-up? Ecol Lett 10:197–206. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.01010.x
- Erlinge S, Goransson G, Hogstedt G, et al (1984) Can Vertebrate Predators Regulate Their Prey? Am Nat 123:125–133. doi: 10.1086/284191
- Fauchald P, Park T, Tømmervik H, et al (2017) Arctic Greening from Warming Promotes Declines in Caribou Populations. Sci Adv 3:e1601365. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1601365
- Forbey JS, Wiggins NL, Frye GG, Connelly JW (2013) Hungry Grouse in a Warming World: Emerging Risks from Plant Chemical Defenses and Climate Change.
 Wildl Biol 19:374–381. doi: 10.2981/13-014

- Fouillet H, Juillet B, Bos C, et al (2008) Urea-Nitrogen Production and Salvage are Modulated by Protein Intake in Fed Humans: Results of an Oral Stable-Isotope-Tracer Protocol and Compartmental Modeling. Am J Clin Nutr 87:1702–1714.
- Frye GG, Connelly JW, Musil DD, Forbey JS (2013) Phytochemistry Predicts Habitat Selection by an Avian Herbivore at Multiple Spatial Scales. Ecology 94:308–314. doi: 10.1890/12-1313.1
- Gripenberg S, Roslin T (2007) Up or Down in Space? Uniting the Bottom-up Versus Top-down Paradigm and Spatial Ecology. Oikos 116:181–188. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15266.x
- Guglielmo CG, Karasov WH, Jakubas WJ (1996) Nutritional Costs of a Plant Secondary Metabolite Explain Selective Foraging by Ruffed Grouse. Ecology 77:1103–1115. doi: 10.2307/2265579
- Hairston NG, Smith FE, Slobodkin LB (1960) Community Structure, Population Control, and Competition. Am Nat 94:421–425. doi: 10.1086/282146
- Hopcraft JGC, Olff H, Sinclair ARE (2010) Herbivores, Resources and Risks: Alternating Regulation Along Primary Environmental Gradients in Savannas. Trends Ecol Evol 25:119–128. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2009.08.001
- Hunter MD, Price PW (1992) Playing Chutes and Ladders: Heterogeneity and the Relative Roles of Bottom-Up and Top-Down Forces in Natural Communities. Ecology 73:724–732.
- Jakubas WJ, Karasov WH, Guglielmo CG (1993) Ruffed Grouse Tolerance and Biotransformation of the Plant Secondary Metabolite Coniferyl Benzoate. The Condor 95:625–640. doi: 10.2307/1369606
- Jansen VAA (2001) The Dynamics of Two Diffusively Coupled Predator–Prey Populations. Theor Popul Biol 59:119–131. doi: 10.1006/tpbi.2000.1506
- Laundré JW, Hernández L, Medina PL, et al (2014) The Landscape of Fear: The Missing Link to Understand Top-down and Bottom-up Controls of Prey Abundance? Ecology 95:1141–1152. doi: 10.1890/13-1083.1

- Menge BA (2000) Top-down and Bottom-up Community Regulation in Marine Rocky Intertidal Habitats. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 250:257–289. doi: 10.1016/S0022-0981(00)00200-8
- Messier F (1994) Ungulate Population Models with Predation: A Case Study with the North American Moose. Ecology 75:478–488. doi: 10.2307/1939551
- Moen R, DeIgiudice GD (1997) Simulating Nitrogen Metabolism and Urinary Urea Nitrogen: Creatinine Ratios in Ruminants. J Wildl Manag 61:881–894. doi: 10.2307/3802197
- Newsome AE, Parer I, Catling PC (1989) Prolonged Prey Suppression by Carnivores Predator-Removal Experiments. Oecologia 78:458–467. doi: 10.1007/BF00378734
- Olofsson J (2006) Short and Long-term Effects of Changes in Reindeer Grazing Pressure on Tundra Heath Vegetation. J Ecol 94:431–440. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2006.01100.x
- Parikh GL, Forbey JS, Robb B, et al (2016) The Influence of Plant Defensive Chemicals,
 Diet Composition, and Winter Severity on the Nutritional Condition of a Free Ranging, Generalist Herbivore. Oikos n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/oik.03359
- Peterson RO, Vucentich JA (2016) Ecological Studies of Wolves on Isle Royale, Annual Report 2015-16. www.isleroyalwolf.org. http://isleroyalewolf.org/sites/default/files/annual-reportpdf/annual%20rep%202016%20webversion.pdf
- Pople AR, Grigg GC, Cairns SC, et al (2000) Trends in the Numbers of Red Kangaroos and Emus on Either Side of the South Australian Dingo Fence: Evidence for Predator Regulation? Wildl Res 27:269–276. doi: 10.1071/wr99030
- Ricca M, Miles AK, Van Vuren DH, Eviner VT (2016) Impacts of Introduced Rangifer on Ecosystem Processes of Maritime Tundra on Subarctic Islands. Ecosphere 7:23. doi: 10.1002/ecs2.1219

- Rosenzweig ML, MacArthur RH (1963) Graphical Representation and Stability Conditions of Predator-Prey Interactions. Am Nat 97:209–223. doi: 10.1086/282272
- Sæther B-E (1997) Environmental Stochasticity and Population Dynamics of Large Herbivores: a Search for Mechanisms. Trends Ecol Evol 12:143–149. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(96)10068-9
- Servello FA, Schneider JW (2000) Evaluation of Urinary Indices of Nutritional Status for White-Tailed Deer: Tests with Winter Browse Diets. J Wildl Manag 64:137–145. doi: 10.2307/3802983
- Sinclair ARE, Pech RP (1996) Density Dependence, Stochasticity, Compensation and Predator Regulation. Oikos 75:164–173. doi: 10.2307/3546240
- Sorensen JS, McLister JD, Dearing MD (2005) Plant Secondary Metabolites Compromise the Energy Budgets of Specialist and Generalist Mammalian Herbivores. Ecology 86:125–139. doi: 10.1890/03-0627
- Stolter C (2008) Intra-Individual Plant Response to Moose Browsing: Feedback Loops and Impacts on Multiple Consumers. Ecol Monogr 78:167–183.
- Tanner JT (1975) The Stability and the Intrinsic Growth Rates of Prey and Predator Populations. Ecology 56:855–867. doi: 10.2307/1936296
- Thompson ID, McQueen RE, Reichardt PB, et al (1989) Factors Influencing Choice of Balsam Fir Twigs from Thinned and Unthinned Stands by Moose. Oecologia 81:506–509. doi: 10.1007/BF00378960
- Ulappa AC, Kelsey RG, Frye GG, et al (2014) Plant Protein and Secondary Metabolites Influence Diet Selection in a Mammalian Specialist Herbivore. J Mammal 95:834–842. doi: 10.1644/14-MAMM-A-025
- Vucetich JA, Vucetich LM, Peterson RO (2011) The Causes and Consequences of Partial Prey Consumption by Wolves Preying on Moose. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 66:295– 303. doi: 10.1007/s00265-011-1277-0

- Weiner ID, Mitch WE, Sands JM (2014) Urea and Ammonia Metabolism and the Control of Renal Nitrogen Excretion. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol CJN.10311013. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10311013
- White TCR (1978) The Importance of a Relative Shortage of Food in Animal Ecology. Oecologia 33:71–86. doi: 10.1007/BF00376997

CHAPTER ONE: PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES DRIVE DIET SELECTION AND INTAKE RATE BY MOOSE

Abstract

Free-ranging vertebrate herbivores must make dietary choices that balance the ingestion of necessary nutrients while minimizing exposure to potentially harmful plant secondary metabolites (PSMs). During winter months, food availability becomes highly restricted for some herbivores, making it difficult to avoid plants high in PSMs. During winter, moose (Alces alces) living on Isle Royale, Michigan are restricted to foraging on evergreen trees that are relatively high in PSMs and low in principle nutrients. Specifically, balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*) is a chemically defended conifer that is the principle food source in winter for moose living on Isle Royale. We evaluated the dietary quality of winter balsam fir in both eastern and western regions of Isle Royale as well as the chemical and physical parameters governing diet selection and intake rate for island moose. We identified foraging patches of moose and collected representative samples from browsed and unbrowsed trees within each patch. We analyzed the chemical characteristic of each browsed and unbrowsed tree by quantifying total and individual monoterpenes, total tannins, total phenolics, and crude protein. Crude protein and bornyl acetate differed between east and west regions of Isle Royale but neither influenced diet selection. A single monoterpene, camphene, was the strongest predictor of moose browsing, with moose selectively browsing on trees that had higher concentrations of

camphene. Intake rate, as determined by bite diameter of stems browsed by moose, was slightly inversely correlated with camphene concentration and strongly positively correlated with snow depth. These results indicate that both PSMs and environmental conditions influence foraging behavior of a large generalist herbivore.

Introduction

Vertebrate herbivores consume a wide variety of plant species that vary in concentrations of nutrients and plant secondary metabolites (PSMs). Spatial and temporal variation in PSMs is influenced by many factors including environmental stress (Kopsell and Kopsell, 2008), light quality and availability (Li and Kubota 2009), soil fertility (Ormeño et al. 2008), invading pathogens (Glazebrook 2005) and direct effects of herbivory (Dicke and van Loon 2000). Herbivores make foraging decisions at multiple spatial scales, ranging from stem selection at the plant scale to patch selection at the landscape scale (de Jager et al. 2009; Frye et al. 2013). Damage by herbivores also has the potential to influence plant chemistry (Ulappa et al. 2014) and communities (Stolter 2008). For example, white spruce (*Picea glauca*) has been shown to increase the production of camphor in response to browsing by snowshoe hares (*Lepus americanus*) (Sharam and Turkington 2009). Similarly, browsing by moose (Alces alces) on two species of willow (Salex phylicifolia and S. myrsinifolia) resulted in the induction of certain phenolic compounds which were subsequently selected against by moose during return visits to these same plants (Stolter et al. 2005).

It is widely accepted that PSMs function principally as deterrents against herbivory. Two classes of PSMs, phenolic and monoterpenes, are among the most studied with regard to how PSMs influence herbivory (Acamovic and Brooker 2005; Kumbaşlı et

al. 2011). Monoterpenes are found in the essential oils of the leaves and fruits of many plant species. They have no known nutritional value and often function as chemoattractants or chemorepellents (McGarvey and Croteau 1995; Crowell 1999). Most monoterpenes are volatile compounds that can be released by the plant as a result of herbivore damage (Dudareva et al. 2004), which may function as chemical communication to undamaged conspecific plants to upregulate production of PSMs (Shiojiri et al. 2015; Karban et al. 2016). Many studies indicate that monoterpenes are used as a direct defense against both vertebrate and invertebrate herbivores (Gong and Zhang 2014; Hansen et al. 2016). Tannins are phenolic compounds that can bind to dietary protein (Degabriel et al. 2008; Moore et al. 2010). Many plants contain a suite of simple (hydrolysable) or complex tannins which can inhibit digestion of proteins, and some tannins have been shown to exhibit chronic hepatotoxic effects (Reed 1995). However, not all phenolic compounds are protein-binding tannins. Non-tannin phenolic compounds may be linked to dietary health benefits including antioxidant (Rice-Evans et al. 1997; Medina 2011) and anti-carcinogenic (Adlercreutz et al. 2000; Owen et al. 2000; Touillaud et al. 2007; Patterson 2011) properties.

Direct toxicity or reduced digestibility resulting from the ingestion of PSMs could result in major metabolic (Kohl et al. 2015), energetic (Sorensen et al. 2005), or fitness costs (Iason 2005; Degabriel et al. 2009) to herbivore consumers. Thus, selection is expected to favor herbivores that mitigate the deleterious effects of PSMs while still meeting nutrient requirements and maintaining a positive net energy balance. To achieve these outcomes, suites of behavioral and physiological adaptations are often used by herbivores. Behavioral responses to PSMs may include avoidance of plants containing high levels of PSMs, selection of specific PSMs, or diet mixing (Freeland and Janzen 1974; McArthur et al. 1991). In terms of avoidance, many studies have documented freeranging animals selecting the highest quality forage available. For example, free-ranging Greater sage-grouse (*Centrocercus urophasianus*) selected plants, patches, and species of plants to browse with lower PSMs than those that were abundantly available but not selected by grouse (Frye et al. 2013). By contrast, in some cases herbivores select for, rather than avoid, specific PSMs. For example, some avian herbivores select food items higher in UV-reflecting PSMs (Siitari et al. 2002; Rajchard 2009). Diet mixing, whereby foragers consume different food types to avoid excessive exposure to any one PSM or combination of PSMs, is likely the most common behavioral adaptation employed by herbivores (Provenza et al. 2003; Wiggins et al. 2005). However, it is important to note that behavioral responses are not mutually exclusive and likely work in concert with other adaptive mechanisms to regulate exposure to PSMs (Torregrossa and Dearing 2009).

Feeding studies with captive animals can often inform research on the foraging behavior of wild herbivores. For example, these studies often provide researchers with valuable information about forage preferences in heterogeneous habitats (Hjältén et al. 2004), sensitivities to PSMs (Baker et al. 2005), and metabolic efficiencies (Servello and Schneider 2000; Sorensen et al. 2005; Shipley et al. 2012) in species of interest. Captive studies can also reveal how diet quality affects body condition and reproduction for vertebrate herbivores (Pehrson and Lindlöf 1984; Servello and Schneider 2000; Parker 2003). However, while captive studies may help explain certain elements of foraging behavior, information obtained from captive feeding trials does not necessarily correlate with observable foraging behaviors in wild populations (Forbey et al. 2013). Wild herbivores are generally faced with more complex foraging choices than are their captive counterparts (Moore et al. 2010). For example, animals in wild populations must make foraging decisions that balance the need for nutrients with the need for protection from predators (Searle et al. 2008; McArthur et al. 2014), the elements (Parker et al. 1999), and competition with other herbivores (Beck and Peek 2005). These interactions often result in animals selecting habitats with decreased forage quality in favor of the protection it provides. For example, wild ungulates select for denser, more mature forest stands with decreased movement relative to open habitats during times of increased winter snowfall (Dussault et al. 2005; Gaudry et al. 2015). Additionally, elk (*Cervus elaphus*) select lower quality and more open habitat following wolf reintroduction to Yellowstone National Park (Hernández and Laundré 2005; Mao et al. 2005).

In most natural ecosystems, the abundance of forage options available to herbivores, combined with interactions between habitat structure and predation risk, make it difficult to assess the effects of PSMs on wild populations. In the present study, we used the balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*) – moose (*Alces alces*) system in Isle Royale National Park, Michigan in central North America (Appendix A) to investigate how nutritional and chemical quality of plants shape diet selection by a large free-ranging generalist herbivore. This system presents an ideal opportunity to test how PSMs influence diet selection because balsam fir is the primary source of winter browse for moose on Isle Royale (Montgomery et al. 2013) and it exhibits inter-patch variation in protein and PSM concentrations (Thompson et al. 1989). This variation in dietary composition allowed us to assess whether island moose select diet based on nutrient and
chemical quality. Additionally, low wolf densities during our study period (two known individuals on Isle Royale with no known breeding pairs at the time of this writing; Peterson and Vucetich 2016) minimized the influence of predation on moose foraging behavior, effectively increasing our ability to investigate the role of PSMs while limiting the confounding influences of anti-predator behaviors. Finally, because our experimental design made use of snow to track individual animals to foraging areas, we were able to investigate how snow depth influenced the foraging behavior of moose. Few, if any, ecosystems can off these exclusive parameters for a natural study of wild herbivores. Thus, conditions on Isle Royale provided a unique opportunity to test whether nutritional quality and chemical defenses of balsam fir influence diet selection and feeding rate by a wild population of moose. We used this study system to test the following predictions regarding foraging decisions by moose:

- Given distinct geological differences between east and west regions (Appendix
 A), we predicted that nutrient and PSM concentrations of balsam fir will be
 significantly different between the east and west regions of the island.
- Browsed balsam fir would have lower concentrations of PSMs and higher % crude protein than unbrowsed balsam fir.
- 3. Intake rate of balsam fir would be negatively correlated with concentrations PSM in browsed plants but would generally increase as snow accumulation increases.

Methods

To test these predictions, we compared the concentrations of nine individual monoterpenes, total monoterpenes, total phenolics, total tannins, and crude protein in balsam fir trees browsed and unbrowsed by moose during winter months. We also measured bite diameter and snow depth within foraging patches. Trees were analyzed as paired samples with browsed and unbrowsed identified in each foraging patch.

All samples were collected on Isle Royale between late January and early February in of each of the three study years (2013, 2014, and 2015). Each year, samples were collected from browsed balsam fir trees on both east and west regions of Isle Royale (Fig 1.1).

Dietary selection of specific fir trees by moose in the field was documented by identifying bite marks exclusive to moose. We used these data to assess dietary parameters that influence both selection and intake rate of balsam fir. Because moose are the only large herbivore on Ilse Royale that consume balsam fir, we were able to use bite mark data to determine intake rate and diet selection without physically observing moose browsing behavior. For samples collected during 2014 and 2015, the diameter of browsed twigs at the site of observed bite marks on each tree were measured with calipers to the nearest millimeter (mm), these measurements were not taken during sample year 2013. Diameter measurements acquired in 2014 and 2015 were used as a proxy to estimate intake rate of balsam fir (Risenhoover 1987, Fig 1.2). We sampled unbrowsed lateral stems on the same whorl as the browsed stems for later analysis of the chemical content of browsed trees (note: A. balsamea typically grows one new whorl of lateral branches concentrically around the main trunk each year; Silvertown and Dodd 1999; Fig 1.3). We clipped these samples at the point on the stem that corresponded to the same diameter as the observed bite mark. We also collected samples from the nearest non-browsed tree that was located within reach of the moose (approximately 1m) with respect to the tracks in

the snow. Samples collected from unbrowsed trees were collected from the same whorl and at the same bite diameter as the bite marks on the paired browsed trees. We collected paired samples from three browsed and three unbrowsed fir trees within each distinct foraging patch (i.e., an area along the track of the moose where observable browse marks were identified on a minimum of three individual trees). Additionally, snow depth (cm) was measured at the base of each tree sampled. Areas where moose tracks moved straight through a patch of trees without signs of active browsing, or where moose browsed only one or two trees, were not included. Samples from browsed and unbrowsed fir trees were placed in individual plastic bags and stored at -20^oC for later analysis. Twigs from the browsed and unbrowsed trees represent paired samples (n=3 pairs/patch) that were used to determine selectivity.

Sample Preparation

Clippings from browsed and unbrowsed fir trees were frozen using liquid nitrogen and ground with a mortar and pestle to an average particle size of ~ 2 mm. A subsample (100mg wet weight, WW) of each ground sample was placed in a 20mL glass head-space vial with a crimp style cap for analysis of monoterpenes. Subsamples of each ground sample were placed in separate 1.5mL micro-centrifuge tubes for analysis of total phenolics (50mg WW) and tannins (200mg WW). Approximately 2-4g WW of each ground sample was dried for three days at 69°C in a Thermo-Scientific, Heratherm oven. Dried samples were re-weighed to obtain sample dry weights. These samples were then sent to Dairy One Laboratories (Ithaca, New York, USA) for analysis of available nitrogen content via combustion method AOAC 990.03.

Chemical Analysis of Samples

Monoterpenes in balsam fir were measured using headspace gas chromatography. Concentrations were measured with an Agilent 7694 headspace auto-sampler coupled with an Agilent 6890N gas chromatograph (GC). Headspace vials containing 100mg WW of each ground sample were heated for a period of 20 min at 100°C to achieve vial equilibrium. One mL of headspace gas was then injected into a J&W DB-5 capillary column (30m x 250 μ m x 0.25 μ m). We identified monoterpenes via co-chromatography with known standards, and quantified the area under the curve (AUC) of major monoterpenes, which we defined as those comprising >1% total AUC and present in >70% of all samples (Fig 1.4). Detailed operating parameters for the GC headspace sampler are provided in Appendix B.

Total phenolics in plant samples were analyzed by eluting 50mg WW of each ground sample with 1.0mL of HPLC grade methanol. Eluted samples were placed in a sonicating water bath and sonicated for a period of 3 min, two times at 25°C with a 2 min break between sonications to minimize heating. Samples were centrifuged at 13,000g for a period of 5 min. The supernatant was filtered through glass wool into a 1.5mL amber vial. Samples were analyzed for total phenolics following procedures from Ainsworth and Gillespie (2007). Briefly, 20µL subsamples were diluted to a total volume of 100µL (1:5 factorial dilution) with HPLC grade methanol. Samples were prepared in triplicate in a 96-well plate with 20µL diluted sample extract. Each sample was reacted with 100µL 10% Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (Sigma 47742; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and 80µL 7.5% sodium carbonate solution. All reagents were thoroughly mixed inside the plate wells. Plates were then wrapped in aluminum foil and incubated at room

temperature for a period of 120 min. Plates were read on a Biotek SynergyMX multimode micro-plate spectrophotometer at 765nm. Each sample was paired with a negative control and ran with a range (0 - 1.0 mg/ml) of known standards of Gallic acid (Cat #5995-86-8, Fisher Scientific, Waltham Massachusetts, USA).

Total tannin content was analyzed using radial diffusion methods detailed in Hagerman (1987). Each ground sample (200mg WW) was eluted in 1.0mL of 70% acetone, placed in a sonicating water bath and sonicated for a period of 10 min at 25°C, centrifuged at 13,000g for a period of 5 min and filtered through glass wool into a 1.5mL micro-centrifuge tube. Bovine serum albumin (100mg, BSA, fraction V, fatty acid-free, Cat #126575 Millpore Corp. Billerica, Massachusetts) was dissolved in an agarose gel solution mixed in a 50mM acetic acid and 60μ M ascorbic acid buffer (pH ca. 5.0). Protein-agar solution was poured into a 245 x 245mm petri tray and stored at 4°C until the gel was hardened. A 4mm cork borer was used to create 4mm wells in the hardened agar gel spaced ≈ 25 mm apart. Four 8.0µL aliquots of each sample were added to wells. Plates were covered and placed in a Thermo-Scientific Heratherm oven at 30°C for 96 hours. Concentration of tannins per sample was calculated from precipitate rings that formed in the gel as tannin compounds bound to the BSA protein. Precipitate rings were measured horizontally and vertically to the nearest millimeter. Horizontal and vertical diameters were averaged together for a mean diameter for each precipitate ring and the area was determined. Samples were analyzed with standards of known concentrations (0.5 g/mL to 10 g/mL) of Tannic acid (Sigma 403040; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA).

Statistical Analyses

Spatial Variation in Quality of Fir

To assess spatial variation in dietary parameters, we conducted Wilcoxon rank sum tests with continuity correction using mean, patch level, values to compare each dietary (total monoterpenes, each of nine individual monoterpenes, number of different monoterpenes, total phenolics, total tannins, % crude protein), structural (snow depth), and behavioral (bite diameter) variables between east and west regions of Isle Royale. We used Kruskal-Wallis ranked sum tests to assess temporal variation in these same dietary parameters across all three years of the study.

Diet Selection

To test which dietary variables best predicted diet selection, we first conducted a multivariate analysis (JMP Pro version 12.1.2) with all dietary covariates (i.e., total monoterpenes, each of nine individual monoterpenes, total phenolics, total tannins, and % crude protein). Collinear variables (i.e., $|\mathbf{r}| > 0.7$, Appendix C) were removed from the analysis. Specifically, if unknown compound were correlated with known compounds, the unknown compound was removed from further analysis. Moreover, if two or more unknown compounds were correlated, the compound with the greatest impact on plant chemistry based on available literature was retained and the others were removed from further analysis (Fig C.1). For all remaining non-correlated covariates, we compiled a candidate model set by fitting individual conditional logit (clogit) models to identify factors associated with diet selection. For each clogit model, the browsing condition of each sampled tree in each foraging patch (i.e., browsed or unbrowsed) was treated as the binary response while nutrient and PSM covariates were treated as continuous predictors.

Each clogit model was then subjected to univariate analysis with $\alpha > 0.5$ considered to be non-predictive of selection. Models with $\alpha > 0.5$ were removed from the candidate model set. Remaining models were evaluated using Akaike's Information Criterion values with sample size bias adjustment (AICc) to determine which covariates best predicted diet selection.

Bite Diameter

Using an analysis similar to the one described above, we compiled a candidate model set to evaluate predictors of bite diameter as a proxy for intake rate, with an additional structural covariate of snow depth. Generalized Linear Models (GLM) were fit to each of the covariates that was not removed due to multi-collinearity. Each of these models was subjected to univariate analysis at $\alpha > 0.5$ to remove nonpredictive covariates from the candidate model set. Following univariate analysis, remaining models were evaluated by AICc to determine which covariates best predicted bite diameter. Bite diameter measurements were not recorded during the winter of 2013, so this year was not included in analyses.

For both selection and bite diameter candidate sets, models with AICc values higher than that of the null (intercept only) were removed from further consideration. Models with AICc values lower than that of the null yet greater than 2 AICc units of difference from the top model (Δ AICc) were deemed to not carry enough model weight (w_i) to be sufficiently predictive and were removed from further consideration. Models with AICc values lower than that of the null and less than 2 Δ AICc from the top model were considered competing models and were included in a second round of model selection in which all possible combinations of competing model covariates were considered. Unconditional variance estimates were used to estimate 85% and 95% confidence intervals for estimated use coefficients for top models following second round model selection. Statistical analyses were conducted in R version 3.2.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing 2015).

Threshold of Selection

We explored the selection threshold for the top model that best predicted diet selection using a Generalized Additive Model (GAM) and smoothing parameters to determine the mean concentration of the patch (average concentration of browsed and unbrowsed) at which selection occurred for the top covariate. Selection was determined by the difference of top covariates between browsed and unbrowsed plants within each foraging patch. Positive differences (higher values in browsed plants vs. unbrowsed) indicated selection in favor of that covariate, whereas negative differences indicated avoidance of that covariate. Difference values equal to zero indicated of lack of selection for that covariate. The model was plotted with 95% Bayesian confidence intervals using the package {mgcv} in R.

Results

Spatial Variation in Quality of Fir

There was no difference between east and west regions of the island for the majority of covariates except bornyl acetate and % crude protein. Both these parameters were significantly higher in the western region compared to the eastern region (Table 1.1), but neither of these covariates predicted browsing. There was considerable temporal variation in the majority of covariates with a general trend for largest bite diameter, greatest snow depth and highest concentrations of monoterpens in 2014, highest % crude

protein and total phenolics in 2013, and highest concentration of tannins in 2015 (Table 1.2). Detailed spatial comparisons by sample year for each covariate are shown in Appendix D (Table D.1).

Diet Selection

Browsed and unbrowsed trees were similar in overall composition of monoterpenes (Fig 1.4), but varied with respect to a single monoterpene, camphene. Concentrations of camphene were significantly higher in browsed fir trees compared to their paired unbrowsed counterparts (Fig 1.5). Total monoterpenes, total phenolics, total tannins, and % crude protein did not differ significantly between browsing states (Fig 1.6).

Following univariate analysis of clogit models prior to model selection, camphene and bornyl acetate emerged as significant parameters explaining browsing state (p = 0.009, CI = 1.005 - 1.04; p = 0.048, CI = 1.00 - 1.062, respectively; Table 1.3). Islandwide, camphene alone accounted for 71% of the total weight of the candidate model set and fit the data better than the null model (AICc = 90.84, $w_i = 0.71$, table 1.4). Camphene was the strongest predictor of diet selection for moose on Isle Royale at both east and west ends of the island (Appendix E, Tables E.1 - E.3). Bornyl acetate emerged as the second model of the candidate set (AICc = 94.47, $w_i = 0.12$, Table 1.4). However, model performance for bornyl acetate was greater than 3 Δ AICc values from the top model, accounted for only 12% of the total weight and had a narrow range at 95% confidence that included 1.00 on the lower boundary. For these reasons, bornyl acetate was determined to not be sufficiently reliable as a predictor of browsing selection, and model averaging was not used. Following first round AICc model selection, camphene was the only top model that remained. Analysis of estimated use coefficients indicated that odds of plant selection increased by 2.2% for each unit increase in camphene (AUC/mg DW, Table 1.5).

Bite Diameter

Univariate analysis of Generalized Linear Models (GLM) identified three covariates with a significant influence on bite diameter: camphene, bornyl acetate, and snow depth (Table 1.6). Using diameter-weight-length equations specific to A. balsamea on Isle Royale (Risenhoover, 1987, Appendix F), we were able to extrapolate intake rate of island moose based on bite diameter of browsed twigs on browsed trees (Fig 1.2). In general, larger bite diameters equate to larger rates of dry matter intake (Appendix F, Fig F.1). Following first round AICc model selection, camphene again emerged as the top predictor of bite diameter (AICc = 98.33, $w_i = 0.38$, Table 1.7). Two competing models were also supported: snow depth (AICc = 99.32, $w_i = 0.23$) and bornyl acetate (AICc = 99.58, $w_i = 0.20$, Table 1.7). Second round model selection of all possible combinations of the top variables resulted in an additive model that contained snow depth and camphene as the best predictors of bite diameter (AICc = 91.81, $w_i = 0.65$, Table 1.8), and the only model with an AICc value lower than that of the null. Analysis of use with respect to balsam fir browsing indicated that bite diameter was positively associated with snow depth and negatively associated with camphene. Bite diameter increased by 1.2% for each unit increase in snow depth (cm) and decreased by 0.7% for each unit increase in camphene (AUC/mg DW, Table 1.5, Fig 1.7).

Threshold of selection

A Generalized Additive Model (GAM) was used to explore the threshold of selection for the best-performing model, camphene. This model showed no selection for camphene when mean concentration of camphene in the patch was below 80 AUC/mg DW. As camphene concentrations increased in the patch above ≈95 AUC/mg DW, selection for plants by moose steadily increased (Fig 1.8).

Discussion

Overall, results are consistent with our predictions that diet quality influences diet selection and intake rate by moose, with one major exception. We predicted that moose would select to browse on fir trees with lower concentrations of PSMs and higher % crude protein compared to unbrowsed trees. In contrast to this prediction, our results showed that moose at Isle Royale browsed preferentially on fir trees containing higher concentrations of camphene (Fig 1.5, 1.8). We consider two possible explanations for this result that are not necessarily mutually exclusive. First, camphene may be beneficial, or at least non-harmful to moose. Camphene is a common hydrocarbon monoterpene found in the essential oils (EO) of many plants and it is generally accepted that EO toxicity is rarely the result of a single component, rather it is the result of a summation of all EO constituents (Bekele and Hassanali 2001; Miresmailli et al. 2006). Studies investigating toxicity of individual components of many EO are generally limited to invertebrate herbivores; relatively few focus on vertebrates. In studies of invertebrate herbivores, camphene was shown to be among the least toxic EO terpenoids (Cook and Hain 1988; Abdelgaleil et al. 2009). Camphene-specific effects on vertebrate herbivores are poorly understood. However, camphene does not have deleterious effect on the activity of

digestive enzymes in avian herbivores (Kohl et al. 2015). Moreover, in dose dependent trials, camphene increased insulin response and decreased liver damage associated with diet in mice (Kim et al. 2014). Additionally, many monoterpenes may serve as chemo-attractants to some species (Yan et al. 2005; Brilli et al. 2009). It is possible that browsed trees are producing higher amounts of camphene due to other ecological interactions (Holopainen and Gershenzon 2010; Iason et al. 2011) and that moose, through some as yet unidentified physiological pathway, are attracted to these trees because of the heightened camphene production.

An alternative explanation for higher levels of camphene in browsed trees relative to unbrowsed trees is that it represents a response by fir to browsing. It is well documented that certain PSMs, including many volatile monoterpenes, are induced in response to both biotic and abiotic stressors. For example; herbivory (Dicke and van Loon 2000), pathogens (Glazebrook 2005), light and temperature (Peñuelas and Llusià 2002; Li and Kubota 2009), drought (Turtola et al. 2003), and competition for resources (Ormeño et al. 2007) can cause induced defenses in plants. Anecdotal field observations during sample collection also suggest that browsed trees are more likely to be repeatedly browsed in subsequent visits by moose than unbrowsed trees. However, in a post-hoc analysis of our data, we found no statistical relationship between camphene concentrations and browsing history intensity (Regression, $F_{1,68} = 0.41$, p = 0.52). Therefore, it does not necessarily follow that camphene is induced in these trees as a result of repeated browsing by moose. Nebeker et al. (1995) demonstrated that stressed lodgepole pine trees (*Pinus contorta*) expressed higher concentrations of certain monoterpenes, including camphene. Browsed fir trees could be increasing camphene

production due to an unrelated environmental stressor, and the moose are being attracted to those trees through the heightened camphene production.

Results also indicated that although moose browsed preferentially with respect to camphene, intake rates as indicated by bite diameter, decreased as camphene concentrations increased. These results indicate that moose are selecting for relatively higher concentrations of camphene, which in turn is associated with smaller bite diameters, and therefore, lower intake rates. Lower intake rates of plants with higher camphene may require a longer foraging period to reach satiation which is inconsistent with evidence that herbivores maximize fitness gains while minimizing other risks (Brown and Kotler 2004; Searle et al. 2008; McArthur et al. 2014; Nobler 2016). Island moose subsist primarily, but not exclusively, on balsam fir during winter months (Parikh et al. 2016). Moose may select for smaller bites of higher camphene because of diet mixing. Herbivores often use a mixed diet to help mitigate the cumulative effects of any one PSM or suite of PSMs (Provenza et al. 2003; Wiggins et al. 2005; Torregrossa and Dearing 2009). Moose may be selecting fir trees higher in camphene because it helps regulate the effects of ingested PSMs from other browse sources (e.g., cedar) that were not analyzed in this study. Additionally, many constituents of plant EO provide beneficial anti-microbial activity in ruminants (Benchaar and Greathead 2011). These benefits include decreased methane production, decreased bloating, and increased digestion efficiencies. However, toxicity issues associated with EO and their constituents remain. Moose may be selecting for camphene because it helps mitigate the effects of certain deleterious gut microbial activity, thereby allowing them to consume more biomass of chemically defended forage, but may be selecting for smaller bites due to camphene's cooccurrence with other harmful PSMs. In our data, camphene was strongly correlated with an unknown monoterpene (unknown 12.08, r = 0.977, Appendix Fig C.1). It is possible that this unknown compound lacks any dietary benefit and is instead associated more directly with EO toxicity. Conversely, camphene itself may have beneficial effects at low doses, yet detrimental effects at high doses. To the best of our knowledge there is no direct evidence linking camphene to toxicity or digestive efficiency in ruminants.

Bite diameter, and therefore intake rate, was positively correlated with snow depth in that larger bite diameters were found in areas of deeper snow. Winter conditions with deep snow may subject herbivores to greater risk of predation and increased energy demands of movement. Under these energetically costly conditions, herbivores must still balance the need for nutrition and protection from predators with the resources they have available. Our results show that intake rates of moose increased as snow depth increased, indicating a shift to a more efficient foraging strategy (Tadesse and Kotler 2013). Although greater bite diameter indicates increased rate of intake, we do not know the relative effect of larger bite diameters on digestive efficiency. Larger bite diameters increase the amount of difficult to digest fibrous material taken in, thereby lowering the principle nutrients per bite (Shipley et al. 1999). Herbivores are expected to adopt patch foraging strategies that maximize nutrient intake while simultaneously addressing the energetic requirements of other activities (Searle et al. 2005; Shipley 2010). The increased energetic demands of movement in deep snow may cause individual moose to consume larger bites, despite those bites being relatively less nutritious. Dussault et al. (2005) reported that during periods of heavy snow fall, moose selected habitats that provided shelter from snow and decreased movement within those shelters. It is possible

that island moose elect to move less in deep snow and remain in a foraging patch longer than they would in light snow conditions. Under these conditions, forage resources would become increasingly limited the longer the animal remained in that patch. As a result, moose remaining in foraging patches would have to use more of the available browse, resulting in larger bite diameters (Vivas and Saether 1987; Shipley 2010; Rea et al. 2015). It is also possible that increased bite diameters are not a function of depleting resources and are, in fact, a function of intake rate resulting from an increased need to maintain thermal regulation. Indeed, one possible source of error in our data is that it did not include temperature as a possible predictor of intake rate. Thus, our data may not fully address the metabolic energy requirements that dictate foraging behavior of wintering moose. Direct observation studies are needed to further our understanding of the relationship between resource availability, climatological factors, and intake rate by moose.

Some research suggests that male moose in particular, select habitat based on dietary energy requirements rather than protection (Main 2008; Bjørneraas et al. 2011). In such cases digestible energy (DE) may be the most important dietary factor (Parker et al. 1999; Cook et al. 2004) which may be limited or completely outweighed by energetic costs of detoxifying co-occurring PSMs (Dearing et al. 2005; Sorensen et al. 2005). Therefore, herbivores are expected to select forage options highest in energy and lowest in PSMs. Parikh et al. (2016) reported that Northern white cedar (*Thuja occidentalis*), another abundant evergreen on both east and west ends of Isle Royale, contained more DE than balsam fir. Yet, island moose browse preferentially on fir trees (Montgomery et al. 2013; Parikh et al. 2016). It is possible that cedar contains higher concentrations of PSMs than balsam fir, thereby negating the energetic benefit of increased DE that cedar contains. Neither Parikh et al. (2016) nor the present study examined the PSM concentrations in white cedar on Isle Royale. Future studies concerning winter dietary selection of moose on Isle Royale should include a chemical profile of white cedar or other dietary components in addition to balsam fir.

We found significant annual variation in dietary quality with respect to the majority of our tested dietary variables (Table D.1). However, our samples were collected during the same season each year. Variation between seasons within a single year may be more severe and significant to survival. Northern ungulates experience seasonal variation in energetic metabolic requirements (Wam and Hjeljord 2010) and quality of summer forage is believed to be more importantly linked to winter survival than the forage available during winter (Cook et al. 2004; McArt et al. 2009; van Beest et al. 2010; Wam and Hjeljord 2010). However, that does not negate the importance of winter forage quality. If female winter nutritional condition is not sufficient to accommodate the energetic demands of fetal gestation and lactation, reproductive complications such as low birth weight (Adams 2005), weakened immune system (Treanor 2012), congenital birth defects (Legbo et al. 2010) and reproductive failure (Loudon et al. 1983), may arise. If winter dietary quality is not sufficient to maintain relatively healthy body conditions, fitness costs may result, potentially influencing population dynamics.

We have shown that PSMs influence the foraging selection behavior and intake rates of a large generalist herbivore. These results can inform further research into ungulate nutritional ecology and habitat selection. Additionally, our results may have important implications for the management practices of geographically isolated populations. To fully understand population dynamics of a prey species, we must understand seasonal behavioral adaptations that include diet and habitat selection in addition to the more broadly studied consumptive and non-consumptive consequences of predators. As top-down regulation by predators on the island continues to diminish, regulation of the Isle Royale moose population is likely to become increasingly governed by availability and quality of forage. Understanding and monitoring these dietary characteristics will become necessary for the successful and continued maintenance of both moose and fir populations.

Literature Cited

- Abdelgaleil SAM, Mohamed MIE, Badawy MEI, El-arami SAA (2009) Fumigant and Contact Toxicities of Monoterpenes to Sitophilus oryzae (L.) and Tribolium castaneum (Herbst) and their Inhibitory Effects on Acetylcholinesterase Activity. J Chem Ecol 35:518–525. doi: 10.1007/s10886-009-9635-3
- Acamovic T, Brooker JD (2005) Biochemistry of Plant Secondary Metabolites and Their Effects in Animals. Proc Nutr Soc Camb 64:403–12. doi: http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.boisestate.edu/10.1079/PNS2005449
- Adams LG (2005) Effects of Maternal Characteristics and Climatic Variation on Birth Masses of Alaskan Caribou. J Mammal 86:506–513. doi: 10.1644/1545-1542(2005)86[506:EOMCAC]2.0.CO;2
- Adlercreutz H, Mazur W, Bartels P, et al (2000) Phytoestrogens and Prostate Disease. J Nutr 130:658S–659S.
- Ainsworth EA, Gillespie KM (2007) Estimation of Total Phenolic Content and Other Oxidation Substrates in Plant Tissues Using Folin–Ciocalteu Reagent. Nat Protoc 2:875–877. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.102

- Baker SE, Ellwood SA, Watkins R, Macdonald DW (2005) Non-Lethal Control of Wildlife: Using Chemical Repellents as Feeding Deterrents For the European Badger *Meles meles*. J Appl Ecol 42:921–931. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2005.01069.x
- Beck JL, Peek JM (2005) Diet Composition, Forage Selection, and Potential for Forage Competition Among Elk, Deer, and Livestock on Aspen–Sagebrush Summer Range. Rangel Ecol Manag 58:135–147. doi: 10.2111/03-13.1
- Bekele J, Hassanali A (2001) Blend Effects in the Toxicity of the Essential Oil
 Constituents Of *Ocimum kilimandscharicum* and *Ocimum kenyense* (Labiateae)
 on Two Post-Harvest Insect Pests. Phytochemistry 57:385–391. doi:
 10.1016/S0031-9422(01)00067-X
- Benchaar C, Greathead H (2011) Essential Oils and Opportunities to Mitigate Enteric Methane Emissions from Ruminants. Anim Feed Sci Technol 166–167:338–355. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.04.024
- Bjørneraas K, Solberg EJ, Herfindal I, et al (2011) Moose Alces alces Habitat Use at Multiple Temporal Scales in a Human-Altered Landscape. Wildl Biol 17:44–54. doi: 10.2981/10-073
- Brilli F, Ciccioli P, Frattoni M, et al (2009) Constitutive and Herbivore-Induced Monoterpenes Emitted by Populus × Euroamericana Leaves are Key Volatiles that Orient Chrysomela Populi Beetles. Plant Cell Environ 32:542–552. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01948.x
- Brown JS, Kotler BP (2004) Hazardous Duty Pay and The Foraging Cost of Predation. Ecol Lett 7:999–1014. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00661.x
- Cook JG, Johnson BK, Cook RC, et al (2004) Effects of Summer-Autumn Nutrition and Parturition Date on Reproduction and Survival of Elk. Wildl Monogr 155:1–61. doi: 10.2193/0084-0173(2004)155[1:EOSNAP]2.0.CO;2
- Cook SP, Hain FP (1988) Toxicity of Host Monoterpenes to Dendroctonus Frontalis and Ips Calligraphus (*Coleoptera: Scolytidae*). J Entomol Sci 23:287–292. doi: 10.18474/0749-8004-23.3.287

- Crowell PL (1999) Prevention and Therapy of Cancer by Dietary Monoterpenes. J Nutr 129:7758–778S.
- Dearing MD, McLister JD, Sorensen JS (2005) Woodrat (*Neotoma*) Herbivores Maintain Nitrogen Balance on a Low-Nitrogen, High-Phenolic Forage, *Juniperus monosperma*. J Comp Physiol B 175:349–355. doi: 10.1007/s00360-005-0491-3
- DeGabriel JL, Moore BD, Foley WJ, Johnson CN (2009) The Effects of Plant Defensive Chemistry on Nutrient Availability Predict Reproductive Success in a Mammal. Ecology 90:711–719. doi: 10.1890/08-0940.1
- Degabriel JL, Wallis IR, Moore BD, Foley WJ (2008) A Simple, Integrative Assay to Quantify Nutritional Quality of Browses for Herbivores. Oecologia 156:107–116. doi: 10.1007/s00442-008-0960-y
- de Jager NR, Pastor J, Hodgson AL (2009) Scaling the Effects of Moose Browsing on Forage Distribution, from the Geometry of Plant Canopies to Landscapes. Ecol Monogr 79:281–297.
- Dicke M, van Loon JJA (2000) Multitrophic Effects of Herbivore-Induced Plant Volatiles in an Evolutionary Context. Entomol Exp Appl 97:237–249. doi: 10.1046/j.1570-7458.2000.00736.x
- Dudareva N, Pichersky E, Gershenzon J (2004) Biochemistry of Plant Volatiles. Plant Physiol 135:1893–1902. doi: 10.1104/pp.104.049981
- Dussault C, Ouellet J-P, Courtois R, et al (2005) Linking Moose Habitat Selection to Limiting Factors. Ecography 28:619–628. doi: 10.1111/j.2005.0906-7590.04263.x
- Forbey JS, Dearing MD, Gross EM, et al (2013) A Pharm-Ecological Perspective of Terrestrial and Aquatic Plant-Herbivore Interactions. J Chem Ecol 39:465–480. doi: 10.1007/s10886-013-0267-2
- Freeland WJ, Janzen DH (1974) Strategies in Herbivory by Mammals: The Role of Plant Secondary Compounds. Am Nat 108:269–289.

- Frye GG, Connelly JW, Musil DD, Forbey JS (2013) Phytochemistry Predicts Habitat Selection by an Avian Herbivore at Multiple Spatial Scales. Ecology 94:308–314. doi: 10.1890/12-1313.1
- Gaudry W, Saïd S, Gaillard J-M, et al (2015) Partial Migration or Just Habitat Selection? Seasonal Movements of Roe Deer in an Alpine Population. J Mammal 96:502– 510. doi: 10.1093/jmammal/gyv055
- Glazebrook J (2005) Contrasting Mechanisms of Defense Against Biotrophic and Necrotrophic Pathogens. Annu Rev Phytopathol 43:205–227. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.43.040204.135923
- Gong B, Zhang G (2014) Interactions Between Plants and Herbivores: A Review of Plant Defense. Acta Ecol Sin 34:325–336. doi: 10.1016/j.chnaes.2013.07.010
- Hagerman AE (1987) Radial Diffusion Method for Determining Tannin in Plant Extracts. J Chem Ecol 13:437–449. doi: 10.1007/BF01880091
- Hansen SC, Stolter C, Imholt C, Jacob J (2016) Plant Secondary Metabolites as Rodent Repellents: a Systematic Review. J Chem Ecol 42:970–983. doi: 10.1007/s10886-016-0760-5
- Hernández L, Laundré JW (2005) Foraging in the "Landscape Of Fear" and its Implications for Habitat Use and Diet Quality of Elk *Cervus elaphus* And Bison *Bison bison*. Wildl Biol 11:215–220. doi: 10.2981/0909-6396(2005)11[215:FITLOF]2.0.CO;2
- Hjältén J, Danell K, Ericson L (2004) Hare and Vole Browsing Preferences During Winter. Acta Theriol (Warsz) 49:53–62. doi: 10.1007/BF03192508
- Holopainen JK, Gershenzon J (2010) Multiple Stress Factors and the Emission of Plant VOCs. Trends Plant Sci 15:176–184. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2010.01.006
- Iason G (2005) The Role of Plant Secondary Metabolites in Mammalian Herbivory: Ecological Perspectives. Proc Nutr Soc 64:123–131. doi: 10.1079/PNS2004415

- Iason GR, O'Reilly-Wapstra JM, Brewer MJ, et al (2011) Do Multiple Herbivores Maintain Chemical Diversity of Scots Pine Monoterpenes? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 366:1337–1345. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0236
- Karban R, Grof-Tisza P, Blande JD (2016) CHEMOTYPIC Variation in Volatiles and Herbivory for Sagebrush. J Chem Ecol 42:829–840. doi: 10.1007/s10886-016-0741-8
- Kim S, Choi Y, Choi S, et al (2014) Dietary Camphene Attenuates Hepatic Steatosis and Insulin Resistance in Mice. Obesity 22:408–417. doi: 10.1002/oby.20554
- Kohl KD, Pitman E, Robb BC, et al (2015) Monoterpenes as Inhibitors of Digestive Enzymes and Counter-Adaptations in a Specialist Avian Herbivore. J Comp Physiol [B] 185:425–434. doi: 10.1007/s00360-015-0890-z
- Kopsell, DA, Kopsell DE. (2008) Genetic and Environmental Factors Affecting Plant Lutein/zeaxanthin. Agro Food Industry Hi-Tech, 19 (2):44-46.
- Kumbaşlı M, Bauce É, Rochefort S, Crépin M (2011) Effects of Tree Age and Stand Thinning Related Variations in Balsam Fir Secondary Compounds on Spruce Budworm *Choristoneura fumiferana* Development, Growth and Food Utilization. Agric For Entomol 13:131–141. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-9563.2010.00505.x
- Legbo SM, Sivachelvan MN, Haruna Y, Yahaya IMW and A (2010) Incidence of Congenital Malformations in Ruminants in the North Eastern Region of Nigeria.
- Li Q, Kubota C (2009) Effects of Supplemental Light Quality on Growth and Phytochemicals of Baby Leaf Lettuce. Environ Exp Bot 67:59–64. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.06.011
- Loudon ASI, McNeilly AS, Milne JA (1983) Nutrition and Lactational Control of Fertility in Red Deer. Nature 302:145–147. doi: 10.1038/302145a0
- Main MB (2008) Reconciling Competing Ecological Explanations for Sexual Segregation in Ungulates. Ecology 89:693–704. doi: 10.1890/07-0645.1
- Mao JS, Boyce MS, Smith DW, et al (2005) Habitat Selection by Elk Before and After Wolf Reintroduction in Yellowstone National Park. J Wildl Manag 69:1691– 1707. doi: 10.2193/0022-541X(2005)69[1691:HSBEBA]2.0.CO;2

- McArthur C, Banks PB, Boonstra R, Forbey JS (2014) The Dilemma of Foraging Herbivores: Dealing With Food and Fear. Oecologia 176:677–689. doi: 10.1007/s00442-014-3076-6
- McArthur, C., Hagerman, A.E. and Robbins, T. (1991) Physiological Strategies of Mammalian Herbivores Against Plant Defenses. In *Plant Defenses Against Mammalian Herbivory*. CRC press inc, Boca Raton, Florida. 1-28.
- McArt SH, Spalinger DE, Collins WB, et al (2009) Summer Dietary Nitrogen Availability as a Potential Bottom-up Constraint on Moose in South-Central Alaska. Ecology 90:1400–1411.
- McGarvey DJ, Croteau R (1995) Terpenoid Metabolism. Plant Cell 7:1015–1026.
- Medina MB (2011) Determination of the Total Phenolics in Juices and Superfruits by a Novel Chemical Method. J Funct Foods 3:79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2011.02.007
- Miresmailli S, Bradbury R, Isman MB (2006) Comparative Toxicity of *Rosmarinus* officinalis L. Essential Oil and Blends of its Major Constituents Against Tetranychus Urticae Koch (*Acari: Tetranychidae*) on Two Different Host Plants. Pest Manag Sci 62:366–371. doi: 10.1002/ps.1157
- Montgomery RA, Vucetich JA, Peterson RO, et al (2013) The Influence of Winter Severity, Predation and Senescence On Moose Habitat Use. J Anim Ecol 82:301– 309. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12000
- Moore BD, Lawler IR, Wallis IR, et al (2010) Palatability Mapping: A Koala's Eye View of Spatial Variation in Habitat Quality. Ecology 91:3165–3176.
- Nebeker TE, Tisdale RA, Schmitz RF, Hobson KR (1995) Chemical and Nutritional Status of Dwarf Mistletoe, Armillaria Root Rot, and Comandra Blister Rust Infected Trees Which May Influence Tree Susceptibility to Bark Beetle Attack. Can J Bot 73:360–369. doi: 10.1139/b95-037
- Nobler J (2016) Risky Business: Tradeoffs Between Nutrition, Toxicity, and Predation by a Specialist Mammalian Herbivore. Master's Thesis, Department of Biological Sciences. Boise State University.

- Ormeño E, Baldy V, Ballini C, Fernandez C (2008) Production and Diversity of Volatile Terpenes from Plants on Calcareous and Siliceous Soils: Effect of Soil Nutrients. J Chem Ecol 34:1219–1229. doi: 10.1007/s10886-008-9515-2
- Ormeño E, Bousquet-Mélou A, Mévy J-P, et al (2007) Effect of Intraspecific Competition and Substrate Type on Terpene Emissions from Some Mediterranean Plant Species. J Chem Ecol 33:277–286. doi: 10.1007/s10886-006-9219-4
- Owen RW, Mier W, Giacosa A, et al (2000) Identification of Lignans as Major Components in the Phenolic Fraction of Olive Oil. Clin Chem 46:976–988.
- Parikh GL, Forbey JS, Robb B, et al (2016) The Influence of Plant Defensive Chemicals,
 Diet Composition, and Winter Severity on the Nutritional Condition of a Free Ranging, Generalist Herbivore. Oikos n/a–n/a. doi: 10.1111/oik.03359
- Parker KL (2003) Advances in the Nutritional Ecology of Cervids at Different Scales. Écoscience 10:395–411.
- Parker KL, Gillingham MP, Hanley TA, Robbins CT (1999) Energy and Protein Balance of Free-Ranging Black-Tailed Deer in a Natural Forest Environment. Wildl Monogr 3–48.
- Patterson RE (2011) Flaxseed and Breast Cancer: What Should We Tell Our Patients? J Clin Oncol 29:3723–3724. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.37.9669
- Peterson RO, Vucentich JA (2016) Ecological Studies of Wolves on Isle Royale, Annual Report 2015-16. www.isleroyalwolf.org. http://isleroyalewolf.org/sites/default/files/annual-reportpdf/annual%20rep%202016%20webversion.pdf
- Pehrson A, Lindlöf B (1984) Impact of Winter Nutrition on Reproduction in Captive Mountain Hares (*Lepus timidus*) (Mammalia: Lagomorpha). J Zool 204:201–209. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1984.tb02370.x
- Peñuelas J, Llusià J (2002) Linking Photorespiration, Monoterpenes and Thermotolerance in Quercus. New Phytol 155:227–237. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00457.x

- Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Dziba LE, et al (2003) Linking Herbivore Experience, Varied Diets, and Plant Biochemical Diversity. Small Rumin Res 49:257–274. doi: 10.1016/S0921-4488(03)00143-3
- Rajchard J (2009) Ultraviolet (UV) Light Perception by Birds: A Review. Vet Med (Praha) 54:351–359.
- Rea R, Hjeljord O, Gillingham M (2015) Factors Influencing the use of Willow and Birch by Moose in Winter. Eur J Wildl Res 61:231–239. doi: 10.1007/s10344-014-0891-3
- Reed JD (1995) Nutritional Toxicology of Tannins and Related Polyphenols in Forage Legumes. J Anim Sci 73:1516–1528.
- Rice-Evans C, Miller N, Paganga G (1997) Antioxidant Properties of Phenolic Compounds. Trends Plant Sci 2:152–159. doi: 10.1016/S1360-1385(97)01018-2
- Risenhoover, K.L. (1987) Winter Foraging Strategies of Moose in Subarctic and Boreal Forest Habitat. Dissertation, Michigan Technological University, 104.
- Searle KR, Hobbs NT, Shipley LA, Lindström J (2005) Should I Stay or Should I Go? Patch Departure Decisions by Herbivores at Multiple Scales. Oikos 111:417–424.
- Searle KR, Stokes CJ, Gordon IJ (2008) When Foraging and Fear Meet: Using Foraging Hierarchies to Inform Assessments of Landscapes of Fear. Behav Ecol 19:475– 482. doi: 10.1093/beheco/arn004
- Servello FA, Schneider JW (2000) Evaluation of Urinary Indices of Nutritional Status for White-Tailed Deer: Tests with Winter Browse Diets. J Wildl Manag 64:137–145. doi: 10.2307/3802983
- Sharam GJ, Turkington R (2009) Growth, Camphor Concentration, and Nitrogen Responses of White Spruce (*Picea glauca*) Leaves to Browsing and Fertilization. Ecoscience 16:258–264. doi: 10.2980/16-2-3256
- Shiojiri K, Ishizaki S, Ozawa R, Karban R (2015) Airborne Signals of Communication in Sagebrush: A Pharmacological Approach. Plant Signal Behav 10:e1095416. doi: 10.1080/15592324.2015.1095416

- Shipley LA, Illius AW, Danell K, et al (1999) Predicting Bite Size Selection of Mammalian Herbivores: A Test of a General Model of Diet Optimization. Oikos 84:55–68. doi: 10.2307/3546866
- Shipley L (2010) Fifty Years of Food and Foraging in Moose: Lessons in Ecology from a Model Herbivore. Alces J Devoted Biol Manag Moose 46:1–13.
- Shipley LA, Davis EM, Felicetti LA, et al (2012) Mechanisms for Eliminating Monoterpenes of Sagebrush by Specialist and Generalist Rabbits. J Chem Ecol 38:1178–1189. doi: 10.1007/s10886-012-0192-9
- Siitari H, Viitala J, Hovi M (2002) Behavioural Evidence for Ultraviolet Vision in a Tetraonid Species: Foraging Experiment with Black Grouse Tetrao tetrix. J Avian Biol 33:199–202.
- Silvertown J, Dodd M (1999) Evolution of Life History in Balsam Fir (*Abies balsamea*) in Subalpine Forests. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 266:729–733. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1999.0697
- Sorensen JS, McLister JD, Dearing MD (2005) Plant Secondary Metabolites Compromise the Energy Budgets of Specialist and Generalist Mammalian Herbivores. Ecology 86:125–139. doi: 10.1890/03-0627
- Stolter C (2008) Intra-Individual Plant Response to Moose Browsing: Feedback Loops and Impacts on Multiple Consumers. Ecol Monogr 78:167–183.
- Stolter C, Ball JP, Julkunen-Tiitto R, et al (2005) Winter Browsing of Moose on Two Different Willow Species: Food Selection In Relation to Plant Chemistry and Plant Response. Can J Zool 83:807–819. doi: 10.1139/Z05-077
- Tadesse SA, Kotler BP (2013) Habitat Use by Mountain *Nyala tragelaphus buxtoni*Determined Using Stem Bite Diameters at Point of Browse, Bite Rates, and Time
 Budgets in the Bale Mountains National Park, Ethiopia. Curr Zool 59:707–717.
 doi: 10.1093/czoolo/59.6.707
- Thompson ID, McQueen RE, Reichardt PB, et al (1989) Factors Influencing Choice of Balsam Fir Twigs from Thinned and Unthinned Stands by Moose. Oecologia 81:506–509. doi: 10.1007/BF00378960

- Torregrossa A-M, Dearing MD (2009) Nutritional Toxicology of Mammals: Regulated Intake of Plant Secondary Compounds. Funct Ecol 23:48–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01523.x
- Touillaud MS, Thiébaut ACM, Fournier A, et al (2007) Dietary Lignan Intake and Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Risk by Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Status. J Natl Cancer Inst 99:475–486. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djk096
- Treanor J (2012) The Biology and Management of Brucellosis in Yellowstone Bison. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Kentucky. Department of Biology.
- Turtola S, Manninen A-M, Rikala R, Kainulainen P (2003) Drought Stress Alters the Concentration of Wood Terpenoids in Scots Pine and Norway Spruce Seedlings. J Chem Ecol 29:1981–1995. doi: 10.1023/A:1025674116183
- Ulappa AC, Kelsey RG, Frye GG, et al (2014) Plant Protein and Secondary Metabolites Influence Diet Selection in a Mammalian Specialist Herbivore. J Mammal 95:834–842. doi: 10.1644/14-MAMM-A-025
- Van Beest FM, Mysterud A, Loe LE, Milner JM (2010) Forage Quantity, Quality and Depletion as Scale-Dependent Mechanisms Driving Habitat Selection of a Large Browsing Herbivore. J Anim Ecol 79:910–922. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01701.x
- Vivas HJ, Saether B-E (1987) Interactions Between a Generalist Herbivore, the Moose Alces alces, and its Food Resources: An Experimental Study of Winter Foraging Behaviour in Relation to Browse Availability. J Anim Ecol 56:509–520. doi: 10.2307/5064
- Wam HK, Hjeljord O (2010) Moose Summer and Winter Diets Along a Large Scale Gradient of Forage Availability in Southern Norway. Eur J Wildl Res 56:745– 755. doi: 10.1007/s10344-010-0370-4
- Wiggins NL, McArthur C, Davies NW (2005) Diet Switching in a Generalist Mammalian Folivore: Fundamental to Maximising Intake. Oecologia 147:650–657. doi: 10.1007/s00442-005-0305-z

Yan Z, Sun J, Don O, Zhang Z (2005) The Red Turpentine Beetle, *Dendroctonus valens leconte* (*Scolytidae*): An Exotic Invasive Pest Of Pine In China. Biodivers Conserv 14:1735–1760. doi: 10.1007/s10531-004-0697-9

Table 1.1Mean concentrations (\bar{x}), Wilcoxon rank sum test (W), significance (p-value), and estimated difference value(est, with 95% confidence intervals, CI) for plant secondary metabolites (total, individual, and number of monoterpenes>1% total AUC and present in >70% samples (AUC/mg DW), total phenolics (mgGAE/g DW), total tannins (μ M TAE/gDW)), nutrient content (% crude protein), snow depth (cm), and bite diameter (mm) in balsam fir trees (*Abies balsamia*) atpatches browsed by moose (*Alces alces*) at both east and west ends of Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA duringwinter 2013, 2014, and 2015.

Parameter	East (\overline{x})	West (\overline{x})	W	p-value	est (95% CI)
Total Monoterpenes	1105.6	1095.70	5176	0.699	13.073 (-57.217 - 78.373)
Unknown 12.08 ¹	13.07	13.32	4849	0.686	-0.223 (-1.193 - 0.767)
α-pinene	106.73	105.13	5237	0.593	2.133 (-6.03 - 9.72)
Camphene	89.22	89.92	4918	0.813	-0.542 (-6.79 - 5.71)
β-pinene	553.1	538.60	5339	0.434	16.382 (-24.54 - 58.10)
Myrcene	17.33	16.77	5521	0.221	0.870 (-0.47 - 2.14)
R-limonene	164.61	170.01	4977	0.925	-0.988 (-15.16 - 13.45)
Terpinolene	9.63	9.43	5269	0.540	0.309 (-0.69 - 1.32)
Borneol ²	46.56	41.32	5435	0.309	2.274 (-2.059 - 6.689)
*Bornyl Acetate	36.77	48.18	3713	0.002	-9.325 (-15.6073.594)
Number of compounds ³	8.69	8.60	5228.4	0.584	4.8e-05 (-1.807 - 4.834)
Total Phenolics ⁴	29.41	28.99	4952	0.877	-0.181 (-3.14 - 2.98)
Total Tannins ⁴	5.64	5.79	4965	0.658	0.136 (-0.55 - 0.81)
*Crude Protein	8.87	9.42	3321.5	<0.000	-0.625 (-0.890.34)
Snow Depth	55.23	54.07	5504	-0.764	2.999(-1.99 - 7.00)
Bite Diameter ⁵	2.94	2.73	728.4	0.143	0.199 (-0.067 - 0.466)

*Significant difference between island regions $\alpha = 0.05$ in bold

- ¹ Unidentifiable monoterpene, numbers following "unknown" refer to retention time (min) in the chromatogram resulting from gas chromatography.
- ² Borneol concentrations were measured but were excluded from analysis due to inconsistency in repeat samples and lack of adequate control standards.
- ³ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.
- ⁴ Total phenolics and tannins, concentrations in mg Gallic Acid Equivalence (GAE, phenolics) or μM Tannic Acid Equivalence (TAE, tannins)/g DW.
- ⁵ Bite diameter, diameter of the twig (mm) at the observed bite mark by moose on browsed trees. Bite diameter data was not collected during sample year 2013.

Table 1.2 Mean concentrations for each of three years (2013, 2014, and 2015) (\bar{x}), chi square value (χ 2), and p-value for plant secondary metabolites (total, individual and number of monoterpenes >1% total AUC and present in >70% samples (AUC/mg DW), total phenolics (mgGAE/g DW), total tannins (μ M TAE/g DW)), nutrient content (% crude protein), snow depth (cm), and bite diameter (mm) in balsam fir trees at patches browsed by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter. Chi square and significance values results from nonparametric univariate comparison (Kruskal-Wallace rank sum test) tests are shown for each parameter compared between sample years indicating a high degree of temporal variation in PSM and nutrient concentrations.

Parameter	2013 (x)	2014 (x)	2015 (x)	χ^2	p-value
*Total Monoterpenes	1033.15	1211.12	1036.6	21.60	<0.001
Unknown 12.08 ¹	13.39	13.60	12.47	3.42	0.181
*α-pinene	108.20	112.55	96.2	11.49	0.003
Camphene	88.11	94.63	84.83	5.82	0.055
*β-pinene	528.97	614.39	483.81	22.74	<0.001
*Myrcene	16.13	19.58	15.03	35.54	<0.001
*R-limonene	149.50	193.96	151.81	19.67	<0.001
Terpinolene	9.55	9.81	9.2	1.61	0.447
*Borneol ²	22.41	44.59	65.09	73.01	<0.001
*Bornyl Acetate	42.09	34.84	49.6	13.29	0.001
*Number of					
compounds ³	8.63	8.85	8.44	6.31	0.043
*Total Phenolics ⁴	46.08	19.13	24.89	134.88	<0.001
*Total Tannins ⁴	3.33	5.89	7.81	107.4	<0.001
*% Crude Protein	10.01	8.81	8.59	58.87	<0.001
*Snow Depth	40.29	69.76	50.84	145.19	<0.001
*Bite Diameter ⁵	na	3.01	2.65	7.20	0.007

*Significant difference between island regions $\alpha = 0.05$ in bold

- ¹Unidentifiable monoterpene, numbers following "unknown" refer to retention time (min) in the chromatogram resulting from gas chromatography.
- ² Borneol concentrations were measured but were excluded from analysis due to inconsistency in repeat samples and lack of adequate control standards.
- ³ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.
- ⁴ Total phenolics and tannins, concentrations in mg Gallic Acid Equivalence (GAE, phenolics) or μM Tannic Acid equivalence (TAE, tannins)/g DW
- ⁵ Bite diameter, diameter of the twig (mm) at the observed bite mark by moose on browsed trees. Bite Diameter data was not collected during sample year 2013.

Table 1.3Z-score (z), p-value and 95% confidence interval (CI) for univariate analysis of conditional
logistic predictors against binary response of browsed/unbrowsed balsam fir trees at Isle Royale National
Park, Michigan USA. Significant predictors based on univariate analysis are shown in bold, predictor
variables with p > 0.5 were considered "non-predictive" and removed from further analysis.

Predictor Category	Predictor Variable	Z.	p-value	95% CI
PSM	*Camphene	2.576	0.009	1.005 - 1.04
	*Bornyl Acetate	1.98	0.048	1.00 - 1.062
	β-pinene	1.403	0.16	0.999 - 1.004
	Number of			
	Compounds ¹	1.3	0.194	0.869 - 2.002
	R-limonene	-0.662	0.508	0.994 - 1.003
	Terpinolene	0.281	0.778	0.930 - 1.101
	Total Tannins ²	-0.819	0.413	0.784 - 1.105
	Total Phenolics ²	-0.026	0.979	0.934 - 1.069
Nutrient	Crude Protein	-0.012	0.991	0.462 - 2.143

* Significant predictor of browsing based on univariate analysis at $\alpha = 0.05$.

¹ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.

² Total phenolics and tannins, concentrations in mg Gallic Acid Equivalence (GAE, phenolics) or μM Tannic Acid Equivalence (TAE, tannins)/g DW.

Table 1.4Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's InformationCriterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and modelweight (w_i) for the model selection used for the browsing of balsam fir patches used by Moose at Isle RoyaleNational Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2013, 2014, and 2015. Conditional logit models were used withplant browse condition (browsed/unbrowsed) as the binary response for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value lower than the null model, are shown in bold.

		Log				
Predictor		Likelihood	Number of			Akaike
category	Model	(LL)	parameters (K)	AICc	ΔAIC_c	weight (w _i)
PSM	Camphene ¹	-44.41	1	90.84	0.00	0.71
	Bornyl Acetate ¹	-46.23	1	94.47	3.63	0.12
	Tannins ²	-46.79	1	95.59	4.76	0.07
	β-pinene ¹	-47.38	1	96.77	5.94	0.04
	NULL	-48.52	0	97.04	6.20	0.03
	Number of					
	Compounds ³	-47.64	1	97.29	6.45	0.03
	R -limonene ¹	-48.3	1	98.61	7.78	0.01

 1 Monoterpene compounds, AUC/mgDW > 1% total AUC and present in >70% of samples, and with univariate analysis p < 0.5

 2 Total tannins, μ M Tannic Acid Equivilence (TAE)/g DW

³ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.

Table 1.5Confidence intervals (85% CI) for estimated use coefficients (Est) predicting tree use bymoose foraging on balsam fir. Confidence intervals that do not overlap 1.0 for Conditional Logit (clogit)models and confidence intervals that do not overlap 0.0 for Generalized Linear models (glm) are shown,indicating parameters that predict odds of use reliably. Parameters shown are top models from AICcmodel selection (models with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model, with AICc values lower than the nullmodel). Predictor variables are listed in order of increasing AICc value.

Analysis	Model Type	Predictor Variable	Est	85% CI
Diet Selection	Conditional Logit	Camphene	1.022	1.01 - 1.035
Bite Diameter	Generalized Linear	Camphene	-0.007	-0.0110.004
		Snow Depth	0.012	0.005 - 0.018

Table 1.6 t-value (t), p-value and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for univariate analysis of generalized linear models of bite diameter as described by predictor variables of plant secondary metabolites (individual and number of monoterpenes >1% total AUC and present in >70% samples (AUC/mg DW), total phenolics (mgGAE/g DW), total tannins (µM TAE/g DW)), nutrient content, and environmental properties of balsam fir trees at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA. Significant predictors based on univariate analysis are shown in bold, predictor variables with p>0.5 were considered "non-predictive" and removed from further analysis.

Predictor Category	Predictor Variable	t	p-value	95% CI
PSM	*Camphene	-2.726	0.008	-0.0120.002
	*Bornyl Acetate	-2.469	0.016	-0.010.001
	Number of			
	Compounds ¹	-1.90	0.062	-0.140 - 0.694
	Terpinolene	-1.462	0.149	-0.052 - 0.007
	β-pinene	-0.39	0.698	-0.001 - 0.001
	Total Tannins ²	-0.369	0.713	-0.064 - 0.043
	R-limonene	-0.088	0.93	-0.002 - 0.002
	Total Phenolics ²	-0.469	0.641	-0.024 - 0.015
Nutrient	Crude Protein	-401	0.69	-0.180 - 0.119
Environmental	*Snow Depth	2.523	0.014	0.003 - 0.021
	Region	-1.736	0.087	-0.459 - 0.028

* Significant predictor of bite diameter based on univariate analysis at $\alpha = 0.05$.

¹ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.

² Total phenolics and tannins, concentrations in mg Gallic Acid Equivalence (GAE, phenolics) or μM Tannic Acid Equivalence (TAE, tannins)/g DW.

Table 1.7 Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for the model selection used for determining bite diameter of balsam fir trees used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2014, and 2015. Generalized linear models were used with the diameter of the browsed twig at the observed browsing site (bite diameter (mm)) as the response variable for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value lower than the null model, are shown in bold.

Predictor category	Model	Log Likelihood (LL)	Number of parameters (K)	AICc	$\Delta \operatorname{AIC}_{c}$	Akaike weight (w _i)
PSM	Camphene ¹	-45.97	3	98.33	0.00	0.38
	Snow Depth ²	-46.47	3	99.32	1.00	0.23
	Bornyl Acetate ¹ Number of	-46.60	3	99.58	1.25	0.20
	Compounds ³	-47.79	3	101.96	3.63	0.08
	Region ²	-48.08	3	102.54	4.22	0.05
	NULL	-49.60	2	103.39	5.06	0.03
	Terpinolene ¹	-48.52	3	103.41	5.09	0.03

¹ Monoterpene compounds, AUC/mgDW > 1% total AUC and present in >70% of samples, and with univariate analysis p < 0.5

²Environmental property: snow depth (cm) at tree and region (east versus west) of foraging site.

³ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.
Table 1.8 Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for second round model selection of the generalized linear models used for determining bite diameter of balsam fir trees browsed by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2014, and 2015. Diameter of the browsed twig at the observed browsing site (bite size (mm)) was the response for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value lower than the null model, are shown in bold. Models described are combinations of top model variables from first round model selection.

	Log Likelihood	Number of parameters			Akaike
Model	(LL)	(K)	AIC _c	ΔAIC_c	weight (w_i)
Camphene ¹ + Snow Depth ²	-41.58	4	91.81	0.00	0.65
NULL	-41.42	5	93.82	2.01	0.24
Snow Depth ² + Borneal Acetate ¹	-44.48	4	97.61	5.80	0.04
Camphene ¹	-45.97	3	98.33	6.52	0.02
Camphene ¹ + Bornyl Acetate ¹	-44.95	4	98.55	6.75	0.02
Snow Depth ²	-46.47	3	99.32	7.52	0.02
Bornyl Acetate ¹	-46.60	3	99.58	7.77	0.01

¹ Monoterpene compounds, AUC/mgDW > 1% total AUC and present in >70% of samples, and with univariate analysis p < 0.5

² Snow Depth at foraging site (cm).

FIGURES



Fig 1.1 Aerial view of Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA indicating location of patches browsed by moose during late January and early February where plants were sampled during 2013 (circles, n = 31), 2014 (squares, n = 39), and 2015 (triangles, n = 32) from east and west regions.



Fig 1.2 Bite marks used to determine bite diameter on terminal and lateral stems indicating moose browsing on an immature balsam fir tree (*Abies balsamea*) at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Photo credit J. S. Forbey.



Fig 1.3 Balsam fir grows a new whorl of branches each year (1= oldest, 5=newest). Browsed and respective non-browsed samples were collected from the same whorl as observed browse marks. Samples from browsed terminal stem (top stem in year 5) were collected from the previous year's whorl if multiple stems were not present. Figure from woodlandstewardship.org, courtesy of University of Minnesota Extension.



Retention Time (min)

Fig 1.4 Representative monoterpene profiles of browsed (blue, bottom) and unbrowsed (red, top) balsam fir trees collected from foraging patches used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter. Peaks show individual compounds, with the height of the peak (AUC) indicating relative concentration of the compound at a given retention time. Identity of peaks were determined with co-chromatography using a standard cocktail containing each of the known compounds.



Fig 1.5 Mean ± SEM of camphene concentrations (AUC/mgDW) for browsed and unbrowsed balsam fir within foraging patches used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Camphene explained 71% of diet selection by

moose (Conditional Logit model; AICc = 90.84, model weight $(w_i) = 0.71$)

57



Fig 1.6 Mean \pm SEM of dietary characteristics for browsed and unbrowsed balsam fir within foraging patches used by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Samples were collected in winter 2013, 2014, and 2015 (n = 101). Dietary characteristics include: (a) total monoterpene concentrations (AUC/ 100 µg dry weight [DW]), (b) total phenolic concentration (mg GAE/g DW), (c) Total Tannin concentrations (uM TAE/g DW), (d) crude protein (%).



Fig 1.7 Response surface depicting the additive effects of increasing camphene (AUC/mg DW) and snow depth (cm) on bite diameter (mm) of balsam fir trees browsed by moose during winter at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Response surface was generated using top covariates in model selection.



Average Camphene Concentration (AUC/mg DW)

Fig 1.8 Difference in concentrations of camphene (AUC/mg DW) between paired browsed and non-browsed balsam fir samples, represented by tick marks along the inside of the x-axis (n = 101) from Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA as a function of mean concentration of camphene (AUC/mg DW) in that patch. Samples included patches browsed by moose from three years: 2013 (n=31), 2014 (n=38), and 2015 (n=32). Values above zero theoretically indicate selection for camphene, and indicate higher camphene concentrations in browsed plants than non-browsed, while values below zero indicate selection against and have lower camphene concentrations in browsed plants. The dark horizontal line at 0.0 on the y-axis indicates where no selection occurs. The solid black line represents the smoothed fit for the generalized additive model, and dashed lines represent 95% confidence intervals derived from the model.

CHAPTER TWO: PLANT SECONDARY METABOLITES INFLUENCE THE NUTRITIONAL CONDITION OF A FREE-RANGING MAMMALIAN HERBIVORE Abstract

Free-ranging vertebrate herbivores consume a wide variety of potentially harmful plant secondary metabolites (PSMs). Herbivores use both behavioral (diet selection, altered intake rates, diet mixing) and physiological (regulated absorption and detoxification) adaptations to limit the negative consequences of PSMs. Because these adaptive responses can be energetically expensive, the extent to which behavioral and physiological responses to PSMs are used may influence the nutritional condition and ultimately fitness of herbivores. We used a free-ranging population of moose (Alces *alces*) on Isle Royale National Park, Michigan to determine how behavioral and physiological responses to dietary PSMs influenced the nutritional condition of overwintering moose. We identified bite marks on the dominant forage of moose in winter (balsam fir, Abies balsamea) and quantified total monoterpene and total phenolics of fir consumed by moose. To evaluate behavioral adaptations, we accounted for PSMs in fir that had been browsed (selection), bite diameter (estimate of intake rate), and diet mixing (the proportion of fir consumed using histological analysis of fecal pellets) to calculate the proportional intake rate of PSMs consumed by moose from fir. To evaluate both behavioral and physiological adaptations, we quantified glucuronic acid to creatinine ratios (GA:C) from snow-collected urine samples spanning 17 consecutive years. GA is a metabolite excreted in urine that represents the amount of PSM consumed,

absorbed, and detoxified via the glucuronidation pathway which is the major detoxification pathway for vertebrates. The same urine samples were used to quantify urea nitrogen to creatinine ratios (UN:C) as a biomarker of nutritional condition for individual moose. We found that GA:C, which accounts for both behavioral and physiological responses to dietary PSMs, was a better predictor of nutritional condition of moose than accounting only for behavioral responses to PSMs (proportional intake rate of PSMs). Further, we found that high detoxification via the GA pathway was inversely correlated with nutritional condition within and among the 17 years investigated. These results indicate that GA:C, which captures both behavioral and physiological adaptations for PSMs, is dynamically linked to the nutritional condition of free-ranging vertebrate herbivores over time. The likely explanation for that linkage is that GA:C captures both the behavioral and physiological energetic costs of foraging, beyond the PSM concentrations of a single plant.

Introduction

Foraging decisions made by free-ranging herbivores can have important consequences on their nutritional condition, and ultimately fitness (Harder and Kirkpatrick, 1994). Specifically, nutritional condition can, in part, explain the growth and reproduction of individual animals and populations. In general, reduced nutritional condition of animals can compromise individual and population level fitness factors including fecundity, recruitment and reproduction (Cook et al. 2004; Adams 2005; Parker et al. 2009; Legbo et al. 2010; Wam and Hjeljord 2010). While mechanisms explaining this relationship are limited, poor nutritional condition can lead to acute hepatic consequences (Sansinanea et al. 2000) leading directly to impaired immunity and increased susceptibility to parasites and disease (Lafferty and Gerber 2002; Demas et al. 2011; Jolles et al. 2015), and ultimately compromise population growth (Cook et al. 2004; Parker et al. 2009).

Animals can maximize nutritional condition through behavioral strategies that maximize the amount and quality of food consumed. Although plants provide relatively high biomass of food, many plant species contain a suite of potentially toxic chemical defenses known as plant secondary metabolites (PSMs) that limit intake by herbivores. PSMs can compromise a diversity of physiological functions (Iason 2005) such as protein absorption and nitrogen assimilation (McArthur et al. 1991; Iason 2005; Degabriel et al. 2008; Moore et al. 2010), and enzyme function (Forbey et al. 2011; Kohl et al. 2015). The physiological consequences of ingesting PSMs may explain compromised protein turnover (Au et al. 2013), energy budgets (Guglielmo et al. 1996; Sorensen et al. 2005b), and reproductive success (Brittas 1988; DeGabriel et al. 2009).

To minimize systemic concentrations of potentially harmful PSMs, herbivores rely on adaptive behavioral (see chapter 1) and physiological (Dearing et al. 2005; McLean and Duncan 2006) mechanisms. Behavioral adaptations include diet selection (Stolter et al. 2005; Jones et al. 2006; Frye et al. 2013; Ulappa et al. 2014; Chapter 1), altered intake rates (Sorensen et al. 2005a; McLean et al. 2008; Torregrossa and Dearing 2009), and diet mixing (Wiggins et al. 2005). However, these strategies may compromise net energy and nutrient balance (Searle et al. 2007). Moreover, habitat conditions can limit the extent to which herbivores can be selective, maximize intake rates, mix diets and by extension, influence nutritional condition. For example, increased snow depths during winter months can increase an individual's energy expenditure as it searches for suitable forage (Parker et al. 1999), or it can restrict an individual's movement, thereby, restricting access to high quality forage (DelGiudice 1995). Such dietary restrictions have the potential to further reduce net energy balance and thus reduce the nutritional condition of herbivores.

Since it is not possible for herbivores to completely avoid the consumption of PSMs through behavioral adaptations (Foley et al. 1999; Provenza et al. 2003), several physiological adaptations help herbivores minimize systemic concentrations of ingested and absorbed PSMs. For example, conjugation of PSMs with glucuronic acid (GA) via the uridine 5'-diphospho-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) enzyme represents a major detoxification pathway in vertebrate herbivores that facilitates excretion of ingested and absorbed PSMs (Ghosal et al. 2004, Servello and Schneider 2000). GA is produced in the liver through the enzymatic oxidization of hepatic glucose, resulting in a highly soluble sugar-acid complex that can be excreted (Steimer 1993). The excretion of GA-conjugated metabolites results in a direct net loss of hepatic glucose and endogenous energy reserves. Increased excretion of GA is energetically expensive and was positively correlated with a greater intake of PSMs in herbivores in captive feeding trials (Hewitt and Kirkpatrick 1997, Guglielmo et al. 1996, Sorensen et al. 2005b). Thus, GA can be viewed as a biomarker that captures both behavioral (the amount of PSMs consumed) and physiological (the amount of PSMs absorbed and detoxified, at an energetic cost) adaptations. The energetic cost of GA conjugation could force a positive feedback loop, with regard to nutritional condition during winter dietary restriction, effectively increasing the herbivore's energetic deficit. Such feedbacks would lead to an overall negative energy balance and further exacerbate a decline in nutritional condition. As

dietary restriction increases in winter and herbivores are forced to consume less varied or more chemically defended forage, GA production is expected to increase and nutritional condition is expected to decline. Additionally, the glucuronidation pathway is substrate limited, relying on the availability of hepatic glucose for GA production (Cassaret et al. 2013). Thus, reduced energy reserves could limit GA production, and by extension, limit detoxification capacity forcing individuals to reduce their intake rates.

The vast majority of the research into the energetic or nutritional consequences of ingested PSMs has employed the use of captive feeding studies (Reichardt et al. 1984; Servello and Schneider 2000; Mangione et al. 2001; Sorensen et al. 2005b; Au et al. 2013; Clauss et al. 2013; Ulappa et al. 2014). Few studies have focused on vertebrate herbivores in the wild (DeGabriel et al. 2009), likely because of the difficulty associated with measuring the intake and detoxification of PSMs by individual foragers, and linking these parameters to nutritional condition and population level effects.

One approach to determining the link between the behavioral and physiological consequences of PSMs in the diet and nutritional condition of free-ranging herbivores is to quantify GA in the urine along with two other chemical metabolites, urea nitrogen (UN) and creatinine (C). Urine samples can be obtained non-invasively from urine soaked snow left at foraging patches by mammalian herbivores (DelGiudice 1995; Moen and DelGuidice 1997). UN represents the largest pool of free nitrogen in the mammalian body and its production is directly related to changes in catabolism of dietary and endogenous proteins (Weiner et al. 2014). During periods of relatively low protein intake, UN is recycled through hydrolysis to make up the deficiency in the protein balance (Fouillet et al. 2008). Therefore, the effectiveness of the urea recycling pathway is time

limited. As UN levels in the blood serum diminish, recycling urea through hydrolysis becomes increasingly ineffective. To make up the balance of this nitrogen deficiency, animals often increase catabolic rates of endogenous protein, resulting in increased concentrations of UN in urine and decreased nutritional condition (Moen and DelGiudice 1997).

To standardize the relative amount of GA and UN excreted by animals, creatinine (C) is measured in the same urine sample. Creatinine is the end result of creatine phosphate metabolism in skeletal muscles (Doi et al. 2009) and is excreted as a waste product exclusively in urine (Casey and Greenhaff 2000) at a relatively constant daily rate based on lean muscle mass (Moen and DelGiudice 1997). By evaluating the ratio of GA or UN to C, the processes of detoxification and nitrogen turnover relative to body mass can be estimated. Determining the ratio of GA and UN to C simultaneously corrects for urine dilution factors associated with snow or relative hydration of individual animals (DelGiudice 1995). The ratio of GA:C in urine can provide insights into PSM exposure and UN:C ratios can provide insights into the nutritional condition of the same animal. Delguidice (1995) reported that UN:C ratios >3.5 in ungulates are indicative of accelerated catabolism of endogenous protein and are associated with starvation and substantially reduced nutritional condition. Furthermore, prolonged low UN:C ratios detected in wild populations may be indicative of enhanced renal reabsorption of UN, indicating chronic nutritional restriction which may be a precursor to the dangerously high ratios (>3.5) (Delgiudice et al. 1990).

Our primary objective in the present study was to examine the links between behavioral responses to PSMs, energetic costs of detoxification, and nutritional condition in a free-ranging herbivore. Specifically, we investigated the relationship between GA:C and UN:C relative to the proportional intake rate of PSMs using the balsam fir (Abies balsamea)-moose (Alces alces) system in Isle Royale National Park, Michigan in central North America (Appendix A). Isle Royale was ideal for this study because predation has already been characterized in this system and moose are the only large herbivores present on the island browsing on balsam fir trees (Vucetich and Peterson 2004). Additionally, there is little to no migration or emigration and moose are generally solitary during winter so urine samples collected during winter are from individual moose. Moreover, evaluation of fir trees browsed during winter offers an effective method for evaluating concentrations of PSMs selected and ingested by moose. By measuring bite diameters on browsed fir trees, we could estimate the biomass intake rate (Risenhoover, 1987, Fig F.1) and by extension, the relative intake rate of PSMs from fir. Further, using fecal microhistology of moose pellets, we can determine relative proportions of known PSMs from a specific plant component in an animal's diet. Finally, metabolites that are biomarkers of detoxification (glucuronic acid, GA), nutritional condition (urea nitrogen, UN) and relative metabolism (creatinine, C) can be quantified in urine deposited by individual moose at foraging patches where PSMs from selected fir, intake rate of fir and proportion of fir consumed are also measured. To our knowledge, this represents the first study to evaluate the relative importance of PSMs in plants at foraging patches, behavioral (selection, rate of intake and proportional intake of a specific plant species) and physiological adaptations to PSMs (GA) in explaining the nutritional condition (UN) in free-ranging vertebrate herbivores. We used this system to test the hypothesis that nutritional condition is more dependent on the behavioral and physiological responses to

PSMs by herbivores than the quality of available forage or considering behavioral responses alone. Based on our hypothesis, we made the following predictions:

- GA:C in urine, which accounts for both behavioral and physiological responses to PSMs, will better predict nutritional condition of moose (UN:C ratios) than the concentrations of PSMs in fir or accounting for behavioral responses alone.
- 2. GA:C in urine will predict nutritional condition of moose (UN:C ratios) within and among years.
- Variation in GA:C in urine of moose is a function of relative intake of PSMs in fir.

Methods

To test these predictions, we analyzed samples collected from balsam fir trees browsed by moose for total concentrations of two classes of PSMs: monoterpenes and phenolics. We used bite diameter at the site of a browsed fir twig to determine intake rate (Appendix F) and we used fecal microhistology to determine proportion of fir in diet. To determine the general reliance on glucuronidation pathways and nutritional condition of overwintering moose, we analyzed urine samples collected from snow for total GA as a biomarker of toxin exposure, UN content as a biomarker of nutritional condition, and C as an internal standard to account for dilution effects of snow and relative hydration of individual animals.

Sample Collection.

All balsam fir, fecal and urine samples were collected from both east and west ends on Isle Royale National Park located in the northwest portion of Lake Superior, North America (47°50′ N, 89°00′ W; Appendix A, Fig A.1). Fir samples were collected between late January and early February annually from 2013 to 2015. Urine samples were collected annually between late January and early February 1994 to 2015 (Appendix G). We located and followed single moose tracks until urine and fecal samples in the snow along the tracks were observed and collected. Tracks with multiple animals were avoided to ensure that each sample was collected from a single individual. Urine samples were collected from snow by collecting all the urine soaked snow (\approx 50 cm³) in 50 mL Falcon tubes. Urine deposits that penetrated the snow cover to the bare ground beneath were not collected. In the laboratory, urine samples were thawed, mixed and transferred to plastic 15mL conical tubes and stored at -20° for later analysis.

Samples from browsed balsam fir trees from were collected when tracks of moose led researchers to a foraging patch. A foraging patch is defined as an area along the track of the moose where the moose demonstrated active browsing on at least three trees. Areas where moose browsed only one tree or areas where the track moved straight through a patch of trees without signs of active browsing were not included as foraging patches. We located recent browse marks on fir trees along the path of moose tracks within a foraging patch. For samples collected during 2014 and 2015, twig diameter at the site of the observed bite marks on each tree was measured with calipers to the nearest millimeter. Typically, the trunk and lateral branches of *A. balsamea* grow one new whorl concentrically around the main trunk each year (Silvertown and Dodd 1999; Chapter 1, Fig 1.2). Un-browsed lateral stems on the same whorl as the browsed stems were measured with calipers to the same diameter as the observed browse mark and samples were taken at that point. Samples were collected from three browsed fir trees within each

foraging patch along the tracks of the moose. Samples from browsed fir trees were stored in sealed Zip Lock bags at -20° for later analysis.

Preparation of Samples

Clippings from browsed plants were frozen using liquid nitrogen and were ground using a mortar and pestle to an average particle size of ~ 2 mm. A subsample (100mg wet weight, WW) of each ground sample was placed in a 20mL glass head-space vial with a crimp style cap for analysis of monoterpenes. Subsamples of each ground sample were placed in separate 1.5mL micro-centrifuge tubes for analysis of total phenolics (50mg WW). Approximately 2-4g of each ground sample was dried for three days at 69°C in a Thermo-Scientific, Heratherm oven. Dried samples were sent to Dairy One Laboratories, Ithaca, New York, USA for analysis of available nitrogen content via combustion (method AOAC 990.03). Urine samples were thawed and filtered through glass wool into 2.0mL aliquots for analysis of glucuronic acid (GA), urea nitrogen (UN), and creatinine (C).

Chemical Analysis of Samples.

Monoterpenes in balsam fir were measured using headspace gas chromatography. Concentrations were measured with an Agilent 7694 headspace auto-sampler coupled with an Agilent 6890N gas chromatograph (GC). Headspace vials containing 100mg WW of each ground sample were heated for a period of 20 min at 100°C to achieve vial equilibrium. Headspace gas (1mL) was then injected into a J&W DB-5 capillary column (30m x 250µm x 0.25µm). We identified monoterpene content via co-chromatography with known standards and quantified the area under the curve (AUC) for total monoterpenes present in browsed plants. Detailed operating conditions for the headspace auto-sampler can be found in Appendix B.

Total phenolics in plant samples were analyzed by eluting 50mg of each ground sample with 1.0mL of HPLC grade methanol. Eluted samples were placed in a sonicating water bath and sonicated for a period of 3 min, two times at 25°C with a 2 min break between sonications to minimize heat. Samples were centrifuged at 13,000g for a period of 5 min. The supernatant was filtered through glass wool into a 1.5mL amber vial. Samples were analyzed for total phenolics following procedures from Ainsworth and Gillespie (2007). Briefly, 20µL subsamples were diluted to a total volume of 100µL (1:5 dilution) with HPLC grade methanol. Samples were prepared in triplicate in a 96-well plate with 20µL diluted sample extract. Each sample was reacted with 100µL 10% Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (Sigma 47742; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and 80µL 7.5% sodium carbonate solution. All reagents were thoroughly mixed inside the plate wells by repeatedly drawing and expelling well contents with a multi-channel pipette. Completed 96-well plates were then wrapped in aluminum foil and incubated at room temperature for a period of 120 min. Plates were read on a Biotek SynergyMX multimode micro-plate spectrophotometer at 765nm. Each sample was paired with a negative control and ran with a range of known standards of Gallic acid (Cat #5995-86-8, Fisher Scientific, Waltham Massachusetts, USA).

Urine samples spanning 17 years (between 1994 and 2015, Appendix G) were analyzed for UN and total C by Wolff Laboratories, Inc., Bloomington, Minnesota, USA, utilizing spectrophotometric procedures and reagents provided by JAS Diagnostics, Inc. Miami, Florida (Cat #BUN2.S01, urea nitrogen; Cat# CRE2.S01, creatinine). UN and C in urine samples were read on a Cobas Mira spectrophotometer at 510nm and 340nm, respectively. Urine samples were analyzed for total GA following procedures modified from Blumenkrantz and Asboe-Hansen (1973). Briefly, 20µL of thawed urine was diluted to a total volume of 2.0mL in 0.01M borax buffer (pH ca. 9.5, 1:100 dilution). Each diluted sample $(333\mu L)$ was reacted for 5 min on a heating block set to 100°C with 2.0mL concentrated sulfuric acid (A300-212, Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) and then treated with 12.5mM sodium tetraborate decahydrate. Once removed from heat, samples were placed in an ice bath and allowed to cool to room temperature. Once samples had cooled, they were oxidized for a period of 10 min with 50μ L of 0.15% 3-Phenylphenol (Sigma 262250, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) dissolved in 100mL 0.5% sodium hydroxide solution. Each sample reaction was conducted in duplicate and 200µL of each reaction was transferred to a 96-well plate for spectrophotometric analysis at 520nm on a Biotek SynergyMX multi-mode micro-plate spectrophotometer. Each sample was paired with a negative control and analysis of samples was repeated if the coefficient of variation between replicates exceeded 5%. Samples were analyzed with standards of known concentrations of D-Glucuronic acid (Sigma G-5269; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) ranging from 0.97 mg/dL $(50\mu M)$ to 6.7 mg/dL (350 μ M). GA and UN values were taken as ratios to C values to standardize for dilution factors related to snow volume and animal hydration. Statistical Analysis.

While our data set spanned multiple years, 2014 represented the only year for which we had data to calculate intake rate of PSMs (from bite diameter), proportion of PSMs from fir consumed (from microhistology), and proportional intake rate of PSMs in fir consumed. Intake rate (IR) of monoterpenes (AUC/gDW/min) and total phenolics (mgGAE/gDW/min) from fir was calculated as the product of the overall IR (g/min), as determined from the diameter of the observed bite mark on fir browsed by moose (Appendix F), and the measured concentration of monoterpenes (AUC/gDW) or phenolics (mgGAE/gDW) in fir samples. Proportion of PSMs from fir consumed (%) was calculated as the product of proportion fir in diet estimated from microhistological analysis of fecal pellets (Parikh et al 2016) and measured concentration of monoterpenes (AUC/gDW) or phenolics (mgGAE/gDW) in fir samples. Proportional IR of PSMs in fir was calculated as the product of the proportion of fir consumed (%) and calculated IR of monoterpenes (AUC/gDW/min) or total phenolics (mgGAE/gDW/min) consumed.

To assess the potential additive effects of monoterpenes and phenolics on nutritional condition, we normalized both total monoterpene and total phenolics data to fit a scale between 0 and 1 using the following equation:

$$z_i = \frac{x_i - \min(x)}{\max(x) - \min(x)}$$

where z represents the normalized value and x represents either monoterpenes or phenolics. Normalized values of monoterpenes and phenolics were then added together for each sample and were further multiplied by calculated IR and proportion of fir in diet to determine IR of total normalized PSMs, proportion of total normalized PSM in diet, and proportional IR of total normalized PSMs using procedures described above.

To test the relative influence of PSMs alone, behavioral adaptations to PSMs alone (IR, proportion, and proportional IR of PSMs), and combined behavioral and physiological adaptations to PSMs (GA:C) on nutritional condition of moose (UN:C ratios) within a year (2014), we used Akaike's Information Criterion values with sample size bias adjustment (AICc) of Generalized Linear Models (GLM). We compiled a candidate model set comprised of total PSMs (monoterpenes and phenolics), IR of fir, proportion of fir in diet, and proportional IR for each of three PSM variables (monoterpenes, phenolics, and total normalized PSMs) to evaluate predictors of nutritional condition. Only models with AICc values lower than that of the null (intercept only) and less than 2 AICc units of difference from the top model (Δ AICc) were deemed to carry enough model weight (w_i) to be sufficiently predictive (Table 2.1). All models not fitting this description were removed from further consideration.

To test if GA:C in urine predicted nutritional condition of moose (UN:C ratios) within and among years, we used least squares regression analysis to investigate the relationship between AIC top models and UN:C by plotting individual GA:C for all moose during 2013, 2014, and 2015. Additionally, we assessed the long term, intra-annual relationship between GA:C and UN:C by regressing the full 17-year data set (n > 35 / year) using average annual values of GA:C and UN:C.

To test if intake of PSMs in fir explains variation in GA:C values in urine of moose, we used regression analysis to examine relationship between total monoterpenes, total phenolics, and normalized total PSMs and the excretion of GA:C. Regression analysis was conducted using calculated IR of total PSMs, proportion of total dietary PSMs, and proportional IR of total PSMs. Sample sets for each year were checked for statistical outliers using a Grubbs Outlier Test. Data points with Grubb's significance ($\alpha = 0.05$) were removed resulting in three samples that were excluded from the final analysis. All statistical analyses were carried out using Prism version 7.02, Graphpad Software, San Diego, California, USA and R version 3.2.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing 2015).

Results

When assessing how PSM concentration in fir, behavioral adaptations (e.g., selection, intake rate, and diet mixing), and combined behavioral and physiological adaptations to PSMs (GA:C) predict nutritional condition using GLM AICc selection, GA:C emerged as the strongest predictor of UN:C (Table 2.1). GA:C accounted for 91% of the total weight of the candidate model set and fit the data better than the null model (AICc = 85.17, $w_i = 0.91$). There were no competing models in the candidate set. Proportional IR of monoterpenes (%AUC/gDW/min) emerged as the second-best model for the data but was > 2 Δ AICc from the top model and accounted for only 7% of total weight.

There was a significantly positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C within individual moose within each of three years: 2013 (Y = 0.02x + 1.62; $F_{1,39} = 4.558$, p = 0.04, $R^2 = 0.105$, 95% CI = 0.001 – 0.039) 2014 (Y = 0.076x + 0.706; $F_{1,35} = 28.19$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.45$, 95% CI = 0.047 – 0.105), and 2015 (Y = 0.053x + 0.31; $F_{1,25} = 25.43$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.504$, 95% CI = 0.032 – 0.075; Fig 2.1). The positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C was similar between east and west regions of the island (Appendix G). We observed inter-annual variation in both GA:C and UN:C (Fig 2.2) and a significant positive relationship between average annual GA:C and UN:C (Appendix G, Table G.2) over the entire 17-year data set (Y = 0.07x - 0.24; F_{1,15} = 18.57, p = 0.0006, R² = 0.553, 95% CI = 0.035 - 0.104; Fig 2.3). While proportional IR of monoterpenes did not fit the definition of a competing model using AICc, there was a significant positive relationship between this variable and UN:C over the data set available in 2014 (Y = 0.018x + 2.56; F_{1,30} = 15.41, p = 0.0005, R² = 0.34, 95% CI = 0.008 - 0.027) indicating a reduced nutritional condition associated with greater intake rate of monoterpenes (Fig 2.4).

There was no evidence that intake of PSMs explained GA:C in urine of moose. None of the variables examined (total monoterpenes, total phenolics, and normalized total PSMs in browsed trees, intake rate (IR) of total PSMs, proportion of total PSMs, and proportional IR of total PSMs) were significantly correlated with the excretion GA:C in moose urine (Appendix H).

Discussion

Our results show that increased intake of PSMs negatively influence nutritional condition of over-wintering moose, as indicated by elevated GA:C and UN:C levels in urine. Moreover, our ability to model the nutritional condition of moose improved when the predictor variable included both behavioral (intake rate and proportion of plant in diet) and physiological (absorption and detoxification) responses to PSMs (GA:C). Not only was GA:C a stronger predictor of UN:C than other parameters, it was a consistent and reliable predictor of nutritional condition in a free ranging generalist herbivore both within and across years. These results indicate that the behavioral and physiological processes associated with consuming, absorbing and detoxifying PSMs via the glucuronidation pathway may negatively affect the nutritional condition of herbivores.

Energetic expense associated with glucuronidation can potentiate a positive feedback loop in the energetic deficit associated with nutritional restriction. As length of the restricted period (e.g., duration of winter) increases, so does the energetic cost of detoxification, exacerbating the lower nutritional condition of moose over time. The present study marks the first study that we are aware of linking diet quality, physiology, and animal behavioral traits to nutritional outcomes in a wild vertebrate herbivore.

GA:C explained 55% of the intra-annual variation in the nutritional condition of wild moose (Fig 2.3). However, counter to our prediction, intake of PSMs in fir was not significantly correlated with GA:C excretion (Appendix H, Fig H.2). A positive relationship between higher intake of PSMs and increased GA production has been well documented in controlled feeding trials for a variety of vertebrate herbivores (Guglielmo et al. 1996; Hewitt and Kirkpatrick 1997; Servello and Schneider 2000; Sorensen et al. 2005b). However, these studies measured acute response to the introduction of a single PSM or PSMs from a single plant species to captive animals that were previously maintained on diets lacking PSMs. In contrast, our study measured PSMs and GA in wild herbivores in a natural system where concentrations of PSMs from a variety of plants are a consistent dietary constituent and animals are physiologically acclimated to PSMs. Conjugation with GA is not the only metabolic detoxification pathway used for the clearance of potentially harmful PSMs and theory suggests that different classes of PSMs are detoxified through distinct metabolic pathways which we did not assess (Dearing and Cork 1999). For example, wild herbivores may rely more on the induction of other substrate limited detoxification pathways such as sulfoxidation or amino acid conjugation (Casarett et al. 2013), metabolism from specialized gut microbiota (Kohl 2012; Forbey et

al. 2013), or regulated absorption (Appendix J) to potentially reduce reliance on GA relative PSM intake.

Lack of relationship between intake of PSMs in fir and GA:C may reflect behavioral adaptations that are not considered in captive studies. For example, herbivores rarely subsist on a single forage type. Even under winter conditions, when forage options are limited, some diet mixing still occurs in the majority of plant/herbivore systems (Provenza et al. 2003). For example, while balsam fir is the dominant forage available and consumed by island moose during winter (Vucetich and Peterson 2004; Montgomery et al. 2013; Parikh et al. 2016) and proportional intake of crude protein (%) from balsam fir demonstrated a significantly positive correlation with UN:C values (Appendix I), fir is not the only forage consumed. White cedar (*Thuja accidentallis*) and a variety of dormant deciduous twigs are also consumed, but to a lesser extent (Parikh et al. 2016). In our study, we identified and quantified PSMs from balsam fir as the principle forage of moose but did not investigate the contribution of PSMs from white cedar which can comprise 27% of the diet of island moose. PSMs from balsam fir are only a subset of chemicals consumed by moose and excreted via the glucuronidation pathway. For example, Servello and Schneider (2000) reported that cedar significantly increased urinary GA:C concentrations relative to deciduous diets but balsam fir increased concentrations of GA:C to a greater extent than cedar consumption in white-tailed deer.

With balsam fir being the largest component of winter diet for moose (Parikh et al. 2016), it is reasonable to assume that GA concentrations should correlate with the proportion and rate of PSMs in fir consumed by moose. Our lack of findings with regard to this prediction may best be explained by considering the time of year that the samples

78

were collected. In our study, samples were collected between late January and early March each year, well into the dormant period for deciduous trees. By this time moose had already been feeding almost exclusively on conifers, primarily balsam fir, for more than two full months. It is possible that within that period urinary GA:C levels could have reached an average concentration based on an average daily intake of PSMs. This conclusion is supported by the basic premise of metabolic theory which states that the rate of a metabolic process is a function of mass, temperature, and amounts of raw materials put into the system (Marquet et al. 2004). With relatively consistent daily temperatures during the sample period and relatively consistent daily average intake of PSMs from balsam fir, changes in moose mass may happen too slowly to reflect changes in GA:C concentration. Therefore, given our experimental design, it stands to reason that a relationship between GA:C and PSM concentration consisting of slight variations in average daily intake of PSMs may not be detected within a winter season.

An alternative, but not mutually exclusive, explanation is that GA:C is influenced by more than intake of PSMs (Ghosal et al. 2004). Glucuronidation is also responsible for the excretion of endogenous stress hormones (Steimer 1993) and hepatic bilirubin (Kamisako et al. 2000). Moreover, GA production can be stimulated by the presence of parasitic endobiotics (Ritter 2000). Free-ranging herbivores experience a myriad of complex ecological interactions that cannot be simulated in controlled experiments where the tight relationships between PSM intake and GA have been demonstrated (Guglielmo et al. 1996; Hewitt and Kirkpatrick 1997; Servello and Schneider 2000; Sorensen et al. 2005b). As a result, findings that link GA:C to PSMs in controlled experiments where stress and parasites are held constant may not be transferable to wild populations. Moose on Isle Royale are currently facing increased intraspecific competition for resources due to lack of top-down population controls (Wilmers et al. 2006) and a potentially depleting food resource (Peterson 1999), as well as tick infestations (DeIgiudice et al. 1997). These factors likely contribute to individual GA:C concentrations and confound the ability to detect relationships between GA:C and ingested PSMs in fir.

It is widely recognized in the field of wildlife ecology that access to suitable forage is an important factor in herbivore habitat selection and population growth. Studies investigating habitat selection and bottom-up regulation of herbivores generally focus on forage availability (Cook et al. 2004; Stephens 2008; van Beest et al. 2010; Wam and Hjeljord 2010; Bjørneraas et al. 2011) and quality (Villalba et al. 2002; Provenza et al. 2003; Wiggins et al. 2005; Parker et al. 2009; Frye et al. 2013; Kohl et al. 2015). The presence of PSMs in natural browse and their influence on herbivory is not a new concept in the study of plant herbivore interactions. However, a direct link between PSMs and herbivore nutritional condition has yet to be established in wild populations. Captive feeding trials have previously been the primary means for assessing the link between PSMs, the excretion of GA and nutritional consequences (e.g., UN, energy budgets, Servello and Schneider 2000; Sorensen et al. 2005b; Shipley et al. 2012; Saltz and White 1991a, b). In the present study we have filled this gap, linking behavioral and physiological responses to diet quality (PSMs) to the nutritional condition of a freeranging herbivore. In so doing, we have taken the first step in linking consequences of PSM ingestion to individual and population level fitness parameters. We have demonstrated that the process of detoxification through conjugation with GA predicts nutritional condition as evident by increased UN:C under winter conditions. We

demonstrated this effect both within years (Fig 2.1) and among years (Fig 2.3).

Quantification of GA:C is non-invasive, easy, and relatively inexpensive means for predicting the nutritional condition of individuals and populations over time and space. Moreover, our results suggest that GA:C represents a more informative parameter to assess the consequences of PSMs on herbivores, than quantifying PSMs in forage alone because it accounts for behavioral and physiological responses to PSMs. As such, variance in GA:C over time may be a useful indicator of the variable amount of PSM consumed and detoxified per unit time, which represents an important aspect of understanding PSM-mediated plant-herbivore dynamics (Liu et al. 2008; Feng et al. 2009). Because GA:C is dynamically linked to the nutritional condition of moose over time (Parikh et al. 2016, Fig 2.2), it may also help explain population densities relative to predation, parasites and other factors. Monitoring the potential costs of detoxification of ingested PSMs and nutritional condition through the collection and analysis of urine samples can provide managers with novel data to make informed decisions regarding habitat and population management practices and help identify populations in greatest need of management. Difficult to manage species or species of critical concern may benefit, at the population level, from an understanding of the physiological effects of poor diet quality on nutritional condition over time.

Literature Cited

Adams LG (2005) Effects of Maternal Characteristics and Climatic Variation on Birth Masses of Alaskan Caribou. J Mammal 86:506–513. doi: 10.1644/1545-1542(2005)86[506:EOMCAC]2.0.CO;2

- Ainsworth EA, Gillespie KM (2007) Estimation of Total Phenolic Content and Other Oxidation Substrates in Plant Tissues Using Folin–Ciocalteu Reagent. Nat Protoc 2:875–877. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.102
- Au J, Marsh KJ, Wallis IR, Foley WJ (2013) Whole-Body Protein Turnover Reveals the Cost of Detoxification of Secondary Metabolites in a Vertebrate Browser. J Comp Physiol [B] 183:993–1003. doi: 10.1007/s00360-013-0754-3
- Bjørneraas K, Solberg EJ, Herfindal I, et al (2011) Moose Alces alces Habitat Use at Multiple Temporal Scales in a Human-Altered Landscape. Wildl Biol 17:44–54. doi: 10.2981/10-073
- Blumenkrantz, N., Asboe-Hansen, G (1973) New Method for Quantitative Determination of Uronic Acids. Anal Biochem 54:484–9. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(73)90377-1
- Brittas R (1988) Nutrition and Reproduction of the Willow Grouse Lagopus lagopus in Central Sweden. Ornis Scand Scand J Ornithol 19:49–57. doi: 10.2307/3676527
- Casey A, Greenhaff PL (2000) Does Dietary Creatine Supplementation Play a Role in Skeletal Muscle Metabolism And Performance? Am J Clin Nutr 72:607s–617s.
- Casarett LJ, Doull, J, Klaassen, CD (2013) Casarett and Doull's Toxicology : The Basic Science of Poisons, 8th ed. New York : McGraw-Hill Education, NLM ID: 101586259
- Clauss M, Kohlschein G-M, Peemöller A, et al (2013) Short-Term Digestible Energy Intake in Captive Moose (*Alces alces*) on Different Diets. Zoo Biol 32:484–489. doi: 10.1002/zoo.21080
- Cook JG, Johnson BK, Cook RC, et al (2004) Effects of Summer-Autumn Nutrition and Parturition Date on Reproduction and Survival of Elk. Wildl Monogr 155:1–61. doi: 10.2193/0084-0173(2004)155[1:EOSNAP]2.0.CO;2
- Dearing MD, Cork S (1999) Role of Detoxification of Plant Secondary Compounds on Diet Breadth in a Mammalian Herbivore, Trichosurus vulpecula. J Chem Ecol 25:1205–1219. doi: 10.1023/A:1020958221803

- Dearing MD, Foley WJ, McLean S (2005) The Influence of Plant Secondary Metabolites on the Nutritional Ecology of Herbivorous Terrestrial Vertebrates. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 36:169–189. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.36.102003.152617
- DeGabriel JL, Moore BD, Foley WJ, Johnson CN (2009) The Effects of Plant Defensive Chemistry on Nutrient Availability Predict Reproductive Success in a Mammal. Ecology 90:711–719. doi: 10.1890/08-0940.1
- Degabriel JL, Wallis IR, Moore BD, Foley WJ (2008) A Simple, Integrative Assay to Quantify Nutritional Quality of Browses for Herbivores. Oecologia 156:107–116. doi: 10.1007/s00442-008-0960-y
- DeIgiudice GD, Peterson RO, Samuel WM (1997) Trends of Winter Nutritional Restriction, Ticks, and Numbers of Moose on Isle Royale. J Wildl Manag 61:895–903. doi: 10.2307/3802198
- DelGiudice GD (1995) Assessing Winter Nutritional Restriction of Northern Deer with Urine in Snow: Considerations, Potential, and Limitations. Wildl Soc Bull 1973-2006 23:687–693.
- Delgiudice GD, Mech LD, Seal US (1990) Effects of Winter Undernutrition on Body Composition and Physiological Profiles of White-Tailed Deer. J Wildl Manag 54:539–550. doi: 10.2307/3809347
- Demas GE, Adamo SA, French SS (2011) Neuroendocrine-Immune Crosstalk in Vertebrates and Invertebrates: Implications for Host Defence. Funct Ecol 25:29– 39. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01738.x
- Doi K, Yuen PST, Eisner C, et al (2009) Reduced Production of Creatinine Limits Its Use as Marker of Kidney Injury in Sepsis. J Am Soc Nephrol 20:1217–1221. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008060617
- Feng Z, Liu R, DeAgelis DL, Bryant JP, Kielland KF, Chapin III S, Swihart RK (2009) Plant Toxicity, Adaptive Herbivory, and Plant Community Dynamics. Ecosystems, 12, 4, 534–547.
- Foley, WJ., Iason, GR., McArthur, C (1999) Role of Plant Secondary Metobolites in the Nutritional Ecology of Mammalian Herbivores: How Far Have We Come In 25

Years? Nutritional Ecology of Herbivores: Proceedings of the Internaional Symposium on the Nutrition of Herbivores. 130-209. ISBN 0-9666553-0-3

- Forbey JS, Dearing MD, Gross EM, et al (2013) A Pharm-Ecological Perspective of Terrestrial and Aquatic Plant-Herbivore Interactions. J Chem Ecol 39:465–480. doi: 10.1007/s10886-013-0267-2
- Forbey JS, Pu X, Xu D, et al (2011) Inhibition of Snowshoe Hare Succinate Dehydrogenase Activity as a Mechanism of Deterrence for Papyriferic Acid in Birch. J Chem Ecol 37:1285–1293. doi: 10.1007/s10886-011-0039-9
- Fouillet H, Juillet B, Bos C, et al (2008) Urea-Nitrogen Production and Salvage are Modulated by Protein Intake in Fed Humans: Results of an Oral Stable-Isotope-Tracer Protocol And Compartmental Modeling. Am J Clin Nutr 87:1702–1714.
- Frye GG, Connelly JW, Musil DD, Forbey JS (2013) Phytochemistry Predicts Habitat Selection by an Avian Herbivore at Multiple Spatial Scales. Ecology 94:308–314. doi: 10.1890/12-1313.1
- Ghosal A, Hapangama N, Yuan Y, et al (2004) Identification of Human UDP-Glucuronosyltransferase Enzyme(S) Responsible for the Glucuronidation of Posaconazole (Noxafil). Drug Metab Dispos Biol Fate Chem 32:267–271. doi: 10.1124/dmd.32.2.267
- Guglielmo CG, Karasov WH, Jakubas WJ (1996) Nutritional Costs of a Plant Secondary Metabolite Explain Selective Foraging by Ruffed Grouse. Ecology 77:1103–1115. doi: 10.2307/2265579
- Harder JD and Kirkpatrick RL (1994) Physiological Methods in Wildlife Research. Pages 275-306 in T. A. Bookhout, ed. Research and management techniques for wildlife and habitats. The Wildlife Society, Bethesda, Md.
- Hewitt DG, Kirkpatrick RL (1997) Ruffed Grouse Consumption and Detoxification of Evergreen Leaves. J Wildl Manag 61:129–139. doi: 10.2307/3802422
- Iason G (2005) The Role of Plant Secondary Metabolites in Mammalian Herbivory: Ecological Perspectives. Proc Nutr Soc 64:123–131. doi: 10.1079/PNS2004415

- Jolles AE, Beechler BR, Dolan BP (2015) Beyond Mice and Men: Environmental Change, Immunity and Infections in Wild Ungulates. Parasite Immunol 37:255– 266. doi: 10.1111/pim.12153
- Jones KMW, Maclagan SJ, Krockenberger AK (2006) Diet Selection in the Green Ringtail Possum (*Pseudochirops archeri*): A Specialist Folivore in a Diverse Forest. Austral Ecol 31:799–807. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-9993.2006.01579.x
- Kamisako T, Kobayashi Y, Takeuchi K, et al (2000) Recent Advances in Bilirubin Metabolism Research: The Molecular Mechanism of Hepatocyte Bilirubin Transport and its Clinical Relevance. J Gastroenterol 35:659–664. doi: 10.1007/s005350070044
- Kohl KD (2012) Diversity and Function of the Avian Gut Microbiota. J Comp Physiol B 182:591–602. doi: 10.1007/s00360-012-0645-z
- Kohl KD, Pitman E, Robb BC, et al (2015) Monoterpenes as Inhibitors of Digestive Enzymes and Counter-Adaptations in a Specialist Avian Herbivore. J Comp Physiol [B] 185:425–434. doi: 10.1007/s00360-015-0890-z
- Lafferty KD, Gerber LR (2002) Good Medicine for Conservation Biology: the Intersection of Epidemiology and Conservation Theory. Conserv Biol 16:593– 604. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00446.x
- Legbo SM, Sivachelvan MN, Haruna Y, Yahaya IMW and A (2010) Incidence of Congenital Malformations in Ruminants in the North Eastern Region of Nigeria.
- Liu R, Feng Z, Shu H, DeAngelis DL (2008) Bifurcation Analysis of a Plant–Herbivore Model with Toxin-Determined Functional Response. J. Differential Equations 245 (2008) 442–467
- Mangione AM, Dearing D, Karasov W (2001) Detoxification in Relation to Toxin Tolerance in Desert Woodrats Eating Creosote Bush. J Chem Ecol 27:2559–2578. doi: 10.1023/A:1013639817958
- Marquet PA, Labra FA, Maurer BA (2004) Metabolic Ecology: Linking Individuals to Ecosystems. Ecology 85:1794–1796.

- McArthur, C., Hagerman, A.E. and Robbins, T. (1991) Physiological Strategies of Mammalian Herbivores Against Plant Defenses. In *Plant Defenses against Mammalian Herbivory*. CRC press inc, Boca Raton, Florida. 1-28.
- McLean S, Brandon S, Boyle RR, Wiggins NL (2008) Development of Tolerance to the Dietary Plant Secondary Metabolite 1,8-cineole by the Brushtail Possum (Trichosurus vulpecula). J Chem Ecol 34:672–680. doi: 10.1007/s10886-008-9463-x
- McLean S, Duncan AJ (2006) Pharmacological Perspectives on the Detoxification of Plant Secondary Metabolites: Implications for Ingestive Behavior of Herbivores. J Chem Ecol 32:1213–1228. doi: 10.1007/s10886-006-9081-4
- Moen R, DeIgiudice GD (1997) Simulating Nitrogen Metabolism and Urinary Urea Nitrogen: Creatinine Ratios in Ruminants. J Wildl Manag 61:881–894. doi: 10.2307/3802197
- Montgomery RA, Vucetich JA, Peterson RO, et al (2013) The Influence of Winter
 Severity, Predation and Senescence on Moose Habitat Use. J Anim Ecol 82:301– 309. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12000
- Moore BD, Lawler IR, Wallis IR, et al (2010) Palatability Mapping: A Koala's Eye View of Spatial Variation in Habitat Quality. Ecology 91:3165–3176.
- Parikh GL, Forbey JS, Robb B, et al (2016a) The Influence of Plant Defensive
 Chemicals, Diet Composition, and Winter Severity on the Nutritional Condition
 of a Free-Ranging, Generalist Herbivore. Oikos n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/oik.03359
- Parker KL, Barboza PS, Gillingham MP (2009) Nutrition Integrates Environmental Responses of Ungulates. Funct Ecol 23:57–69. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01528.x
- Parker KL, Gillingham MP, Hanley TA, Robbins CT (1999) Energy and Protein Balance of Free-Ranging Black-Tailed Deer in a Natural Forest Environment. Wildl Monogr 3–48.

- Peterson RO (1999) Wolf-Moose Interaction on Isle Royale: The End of Natural Regulation? Ecol Appl 9:10–16. doi: 10.2307/2641163
- Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Dziba LE, et al (2003) Linking Herbivore Experience, Varied Diets, and Plant Biochemical Diversity. Small Rumin Res 49:257–274. doi: 10.1016/S0921-4488(03)00143-3
- Reichardt PB, Bryant JP, Clausen TP, Wieland GD (1984) Defense of Winter-Dormant Alaska Paper Birch against Snowshoe Hares. Oecologia 65:58–69.
- Risenhoover, K.L. (1987) Winter Foraging Strategies of Moose in Subarctic and Boreal Forest Habitat. Dissertation, Michigan Technological University, 104.
- Ritter JK (2000) Roles of Glucuronidation and UDP-Glucuronosyltransferases in Xenobiotic Bioactivation Reactions. Chem Biol Interact 129:171–193. doi: 10.1016/S0009-2797(00)00198-8
- Saltz D, White GC (1991a) Urinary Cortisol and Urea Nitrogen Responses to Winter Stress in Mule Deer. J Wildl Manag 55:1–16. doi: 10.2307/3809235
- Saltz D, White GC (1991b) Urinary Cortisol and Urea Nitrogen Responses in Irreversibly Undernourished Mule Deer Fawns. J Wildl Dis 27:41–46. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-27.1.41
- Sansinanea A, Cerone S, Virkel G, et al (2000) Nutritional Condition Affects the Hepatic Antioxidant Systems in Steers. Vet Res Commun 24:517–525.
- Searle KR, Hobbs NT, Gordon IJ (2007) It's the "Foodscape", not the Landscape: Using Foraging Behavior to Make Functional Assessments of Landscape Condition. Isr J Ecol Evol 53:297–316. doi: 10.1560/IJEE.53.3.297
- Servello FA, Schneider JW (2000) Evaluation of Urinary Indices of Nutritional Status for White-Tailed Deer: Tests with Winter Browse Diets. J Wildl Manag 64:137–145. doi: 10.2307/3802983
- Shipley LA, Davis EM, Felicetti LA, et al (2012) Mechanisms for Eliminating Monoterpenes of Sagebrush by Specialist and Generalist Rabbits. J Chem Ecol 38:1178–1189. doi: 10.1007/s10886-012-0192-9
- Silvertown J, Dodd M (1999) Evolution of Life History in Balsam Fir (*Abies balsamea*) in Subalpine Forests. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 266:729–733. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1999.0697
- Sorensen JS, Heward E, Dearing MD (2005a) Plant Secondary Metabolites Alter the Feeding Patterns of a Mammalian Herbivore (*Neotoma lepida*). Oecologia 146:415–422. doi: 10.1007/s00442-005-0236-8
- Sorensen JS, McLister JD, Dearing MD (2005b) Plant Secondary Metabolites Compromise the Energy Budgets of Specialist and Generalist Mammalian Herbivores. Ecology 86:125–139. doi: 10.1890/03-0627
- Steimer, TH (1993) Reproductive Health. Eds.: A. Campana, J.J. Dreifuss, P. Sizonenko,J.D. Vassalli and J. Villar. Ares-Serono Symposia Series Frontiers inEndocrinology, Vol. 2. Ares Serono Symposia Publications, Rome.
- Stephens DW (2008) Decision Ecology: Foraging and The Ecology of Animal Decision Making. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci 8:475–484. doi: 10.3758/CABN.8.4.475
- Stolter C, Ball JP, Julkunen-Tiitto R, et al (2005) Winter Browsing of Moose on Two Different Willow Species: Food Selection in Relation to Plant Chemistry and Plant Response. Can J Zool 83:807–819. doi: 10.1139/Z05-077
- Torregrossa A-M, Dearing MD (2009) Nutritional Toxicology of Mammals: Regulated Intake of Plant Secondary Compounds. Funct Ecol 23:48–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01523.x
- Ulappa AC, Kelsey RG, Frye GG, et al (2014) Plant Protein and Secondary Metabolites Influence Diet Selection in a Mammalian Specialist Herbivore. J Mammal 95:834–842. doi: 10.1644/14-MAMM-A-025
- van Beest FM, Mysterud A, Loe LE, Milner JM (2010) Forage Quantity, Quality and Depletion as Scale-Dependent Mechanisms Driving Habitat Selection of a Large Browsing Herbivore. J Anim Ecol 79:910–922. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01701.x
- Villalba JJ, Provenza FD, Bryant JP (2002) Consequences of The Interaction Between Nutrients and Plant Secondary Metabolites on Herbivore Selectivity: Benefits or

Detriments for Plants? Oikos 97:282–292. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.970214.x

- Vucetich JA, Peterson RO (2004) The Influence of Top-Down, Bottom-Up and Abiotic Factors on the Moose (*Alces alces*) Population of Isle Royale. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 271:183–189.
- Wam HK, Hjeljord O (2010) Moose Summer and Winter Diets Along a Large Scale Gradient of Forage Availability in Southern Norway. Eur J Wildl Res 56:745– 755. doi: 10.1007/s10344-010-0370-4
- Weiner ID, Mitch WE, Sands JM (2014) Urea and Ammonia Metabolism and the Control of Renal Nitrogen Excretion. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol CJN.10311013. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10311013
- Wiggins NL, McArthur C, Davies NW (2005) Diet Switching in a Generalist Mammalian Folivore: Fundamental to Maximising Intake. Oecologia 147:650–657. doi: 10.1007/s00442-005-0305-z
- Wilmers CC, Post E, Peterson RO, Vucetich JA (2006) Predator Disease Out-Break Modulates Top-Down, Bottom-Up and Climatic Effects on Herbivore Population Dynamics. Ecol Lett 9:383–389. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00890.x

Tables

Table 2.1 Model components of Generalized Linear Models; log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for the model selection used for determining predictor of UN:C in moose (*Alces alces*) at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2014.

Model	Log Likelihood (LL)	Number of parameters (K)	AIC _c	ΔAIC_{c}	Akaike weight (w _i)
GA:C ¹	-39.16	3	85.17	0.00	0.91
Proportional IR of Monoterpenes ²	-41.77	3	90.39	5.22	0.07
IR of Monoterpenes	-43.96	3	94.77	9.60	0.01
Proportion of Monoterpenes	-44.84	3	96.53	11.36	0.00
Total normalized IR of PSMs ³	-45.48	3	97.81	12.64	0.00
Total normalized proportion of	-45.60	3	98.06	12.89	0.00
PSMs					
Total normalized proportional IR of	-45.72	3	98.29	13.12	0.00
PSMs					
Proportional IR of Phenolics	-45.83	3	98.52	13.25	0.00
Proportion of Phenolics	-46.40	3	99.65	14.48	0.00
IR of Phenolics	-46.53	3	99.92	14.75	0.00
NULL	-48.40	2	101.21	16.04	0.00
Total Normalized PSM ³	-47.73	3	102.32	17.15	0.00
Total Phenolics	-48.03	3	102.91	17.74	0.00
Total Monoterpenes	-48.25	3	103.36	18.19	0.00

¹ Glucuronic Acid (GA) to Creatinine (C) ratio present in moose urine samples.

² Proportional intake rate (IR) – calculated as the rate of intake multiplied by the proportion of fir present in the diet.

³Total normalized PSMs – calculated by normalizing monoterpenes and phenolics to a 0 -1 scale. Normalized values were added together for total PSM value.



Figures

Fig 2.1 Linear regression between GA:C and UN:C from moose

urine at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA for three years; 2013 (Y=0.02x + 1.62; $F_{1,39} = 4.558$, p = 0.04, R² = 0.105, 95% CI = 0.001 – 0.039), 2014 (Y=0.76x + 0.706; $F_{1,35} = 28.19$, p < 0.001, R² = 0.45, 95% CI = 0.047 – 0.105), and 2015 (Y=0.053x + 0.31; $F_{1,25} = 25.43$, p < 0.001, R² = 0.504, 95% CI = 0.032 – 0.075). Solid line represents the least squares regression with dashed lines representing 95% confidence intervals.



Fig 2.2 Intra-annual variation in urinary GA:C (black) and UN:C (grey) for moose on Isle Royale National Park from 2002 - 2015. Points represent average values for each sample year. Only continuous data was used, years with missing or anomalous data (1994, 1997, and 2001) are not included.



Fig 2.3 17-year relationship between UN:C and GA:C of urine from freeranging moose on Isle Royal National Park from 2002 - 2015. Points represent annual averages of all samples from individual moose (Y=0.069x -0.244; F1,15 = 18.57, p = 0.0006, R2 = 0.553, 95% CI = 0.035 - 0.104). Solid line represents the least squares regression between the two variables with dashed lines representing the 95% confidence intervals.



Fig 2.4 Relationship between the proportional IR of monoterpenes (AUC/gDW/min) and UN:C (mg/dL) for the 2014 data set (n = 40, Y=0.018x + 2.56; F_{1,30} = 15.41, p = 0.0005, R2 = 0.34, 95% CI = 0.008 - 0.027). Solid line represents least squares regression while the dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

Isle Royale National Park

Herbivores comprise the bulk of economically important game species in most states. As such, understanding the factors that regulate their populations is of critical importance for many local and regional revenue streams. Herbivores can have important impacts on plant communities and ecosystems which can in turn have important impacts on ecosystem function. Diet selection and intense browsing by large herbivores can alter landscape vegetative communities, diversity, and structure by inducing changes in plant and soil chemical characteristics (Singer and Schoenecker 2003; Stolter 2008; Ulappa et al. 2014). Many large herbivores function as keystone species in forested systems (Kowalczyk et al. 2011). In systems containing large herbivores with negligible predation, herbivores play an additional role of ecosystem engineers with the potential to change ecosystem function (Olofsson et al. 2004; Olofsson 2006; Post and Pedersen 2008). For example, Ricca et al. (2016) showed that predator free herbivory in the Aleutian Islands, Alaska resulted in a dramatic decrease in forage plant community composition and a shift in ecosystem processes.

Few natural systems contain large herbivore populations that are not, at least in part, regulated by predation. Isle Royale National Park has had a long-standing history as one of very few single predator-single prey system, and has been a model for the study of predator-prey interactions. With the near total loss of the wolf population on the island in recent years, moose population regulation may be increasingly governed by forage resources. Given these conditions, researchers have an opportunity to assess the effect moose, with limited predation, will have on plants and also the role that plant availability and quality will have in influencing moose populations. We have demonstrated that plants can influence the behavior and physiology of moose in ways that could alter their population dynamics through nutritional deficits. We used urinary metabolites, specifically glucuronic acid (GA) as a biomarker for exposure to plant chemical defenses, as well as urea nitrogen (UN) as a biomarker of their overall nutritional condition to investigate the effects of PSMs on winter nutritional condition of moose. We found strong correlations between GA and UN for 17 of 18 years. These results suggest that energetic demands increase as intake of PSMs increase, which in turn adds to the nutritional stress of moose. This positive feedback loop ultimately could result in continually decreasing nutritional condition in herbivores. Population GA levels follow the same general trends as population size of the moose on Isle Royale (Fig 3.1) suggesting that interspecific competition for resources could further increase energetic demands. In other words, as herbivore populations increase in size, it may become increasingly difficult for herbivores to locate nutritious forage, thereby increasing their reliance on nutritionally poor forage options and perpetuating the effects of nutritional restriction. This trend has serious implications for population biology in systems where resources are limited or predation is minimal.

In 1996, lack of predation pressure allowed moose populations to reach an alltime high leading to a near total loss of winter forage resources and a dramatic population crash in moose due to starvation (Peterson 1999; Fig 3.2). Current trends in moose population growth place tremendous pressure on balsam fir stands on the island which have not fully recovered from the 1996 over-population of moose. If moose populations continue to grow at their current rate, a near total extirpation of browsable balsam fir may be imminent. As such, we would expect to see annual increases in GA and UN concentrations with potential increases in PSM concentrations in remaining fir trees. Isle Royale is designated as a protected National Park, and as such, generates large amounts of revenue through tourism. Leaving the moose to their fate and assuming that bottomup, density dependent forces will directly regulate moose populations may be misguided. Unchecked population growth could have disastrous consequences for the moose, fir, and the island ecosystem, which could negatively influence revenue generated through anthropogenic use. A stable equilibrium between herbivores and their food source is unlikely to exist in systems without predation (Sæther 1997; Terborgh et al. 2001). It is more likely that density dependence will regulate populations in a delayed fashion, leading to large carrying capacity overshoots followed by high instances of winter dieoffs. Such delayed density dependence could severely alter the islands vegetative communities and significantly reduce its carrying capacity for moose. History has repeatedly shown that large herbivore over-abundance can have severe consequences for trophic cascades and ecological processes (Ripple and Beschta 2005; Griggs et al. 2006). Author and philosopher George Santayana is credited with coining the phrase "Those who cannot learn from history are doomed to repeat it". The ecosystem at Isle Royale may be irreversibly facing just such a fate if steps to manage the moose populations are not taken. Either by thinning moose numbers through direct anthropogenic interference or through re-introduction of wolves, direct management of the Isle Royale moose population is needed to preserve current ecosystem function.

Other Systems

We demonstrated the utility of urinary GA and UN as biomarkers PSM exposure and winter nutritional condition in a single species system. However, the use of these biomarkers could provide a novel mechanism by which to monitor overwintering nutritional status for many plant-herbivore systems. Climate change is exposing herbivores to additional ecological pressures that include loss of habitat and invasion of non-native and domestic species (Thomas et al. 2004; George et al. 2008). Climate change is also allowing many herbivores to expand historical home ranges into areas where they previously did not occur, while simultaneously restricting ranges of certain niche species (Parmesan 2006). Range expansion can lead to increased interspecific conflict and competition for resources as well as interspecific disease transmission. Declines in moose populations along the southern periphery of their range have been correlated with overlapping ranges of high populations of white-tailed deer (Lankester 2010). Moose declines in this region are commonly attributed to warmer winters which allow increased deer presence and the spread of *Parelaphostrongylus tenuis*, a meningeal worm carried by white-tailed deer that is pathogenic to moose (Rempel 2011). Other effects of climate change on herbivores include increased PSMs and decreased tolerance to PSMs (Dearing et al. 2008) as well as increased abundance of and decreased resistance to parasites (Gray et al. 2009; Molnár et al. 2013). All of these could be detected in excretion of GA (see Chapter 2), effectively increasing potential energetic deficits. In the case of herbivores, quantification of urinary GA and UN may provide managers with an "early warning" physiological metric of populations that may be in trouble, regardless of the health their habitat.

Wildlife managers currently collect and maintain a litany of data on herbivore population dynamics including population size, distribution, birth rates, death rates, and many more. Much of this data is gathered through direct observation of animals as well as a variety of mark and recapture techniques. These data are useful in determining management successes, failures, and future directions, but collection of such data is time and labor intensive. What is missing is an easily obtained physiological metric pertaining directly to animal health as it relates to their environment. Urinary metabolites discussed herein provide this metric at a minimal cost to management agencies. Methods discussed in this thesis are simple, non-invasive, relatively inexpensive, and applicable to a wide range of avian and mammalian herbivores. Analysis of urinary GA and UN (or uric acid in avian herbivores) has the potential to provide a rapid, single-point reference pertaining directly to the physiological and nutritional condition of free-ranging populations that links to their diet, energy budget and nutritional status. We recommend that field observation or mark and recapture methods of mammalian herbivores be adjusted to allow for the collection of urine when possible for the analysis of GA and UN metabolites. Laboratory diagnostics procedures could easily be enacted at minimal cost, yet produce great benefits to wildlife managers interested in monitoring and maintaining the health of wildlife populations and entire trophic systems.

Literature Cited

Dearing MD, Forbey JS, McLister JD, Santos L (2008) Ambient Temperature Influences
Diet Selection and Physiology of an Herbivorous Mammal, *Neotoma albigula*.
Physiol Biochem Zool PBZ 81:891–897. doi: 10.1086/588490

- George JL, Martin DJ, Lukacs PM, Miller MW (2008) Epidemic Pasteurellosis in a Bighorn Sheep Population Coinciding With The Appearance Of A Domestic Sheep. J Wildl Dis 44:388–403. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-44.2.388
- Gray JS, Dautel H, Estrada-Peña A, et al (2009) Effects of Climate Change on Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases in Europe. Interdiscip Perspect Infect Dis. doi: 10.1155/2009/593232
- Griggs JA, Rock JH, Webster CR, Jenkins MA (2006) Vegetative Legacy of a Protected Deer Herd in Cades Cove, Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Nat Areas J 26:126–136. doi: 10.3375/0885-8608(2006)26[126:VLOAPD]2.0.CO;2
- Kowalczyk R, Taberlet P, Coissac E, et al (2011) Influence of Management Practices on Large Herbivore Diet—Case of European Bison in Białowieża Primeval Forest (Poland). For Ecol Manag 261:821–828. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.11.026
- Lankester MW (2010) Understanding the Impact of Meningeal Worm, Parelaphostrongylus tenuis, on Moose Populations. Alces J Devoted Biol Manag Moose 46:53–70.
- Molnár PK, Dobson AP, Kutz SJ (2013) Gimme Shelter the Relative Sensitivity of Parasitic Nematodes With Direct and Indirect Life Cycles to Climate Change. Glob Change Biol 19:3291–3305. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12303
- Olofsson J (2006) Short- And Long-Term Effects of Changes in Reindeer Grazing Pressure on Tundra Heath Vegetation. J Ecol 94:431–440. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2006.01100.x
- Olofsson J, Stark S, Oksanen L (2004) Reindeer Influence on Ecosystem Processes in the Tundra. Oikos 105:386–396. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.13048.x
- Parmesan C (2006) Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 37:637–669. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110100
- Peterson RO (1999) Wolf-Moose Interaction on Isle Royale: The End of Natural Regulation? Ecol Appl 9:10–16. doi: 10.2307/2641163

- Post E, Pedersen C (2008) Opposing Plant Community Responses to Warming With and Without Herbivores. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105:12353–12358. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802421105
- Rempel RS (2011) Effects of Climate Change on Moose Populations: Exploring the Response Horizon Through Biometric and Systems Models. Ecol Model 222:3355–3365. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.07.012
- Ricca M, Miles AK, Van Vuren DH, Eviner VT (2016) Impacts of Introduced Rangifer on Ecosystem Processes of Maritime Tundra on Subarctic Islands. Ecosphere 7:23. doi: 10.1002/ecs2.1219
- Ripple WJ, Beschta RL (2005) Linking Wolves and Plants: Aldo Leopold on Trophic Cascades. BioScience 55:613–621. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0613:LWAPAL]2.0.CO;2
- Sæther B-E (1997) Environmental Stochasticity and Population Dynamics of Large Herbivores: A Search For Mechanisms. Trends Ecol Evol 12:143–149. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(96)10068-9
- Singer FJ, Schoenecker KA (2003) Do Ungulates Accelerate or Decelerate Nitrogen Cycling? For Ecol Manag 181:189–204. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00133-6
- Stolter C (2008) Intra-Individual Plant Response to Moose Browsing: Feedback Loops and Impacts on Multiple Consumers. Ecol Monogr 78:167–183.
- Terborgh J, Lopez L, Nuñez P, et al (2001) Ecological Meltdown in Predator-Free Forest Fragments. Science 294:1923–1926. doi: 10.1126/science.1064397
- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE, et al (2004) Extinction Risk from Climate Change. Nature 427:145–148. doi: 10.1038/nature02121
- Ulappa AC, Kelsey RG, Frye GG, et al (2014) Plant Protein and Secondary Metabolites Influence Diet Selection in a Mammalian Specialist Herbivore. J Mammal 95:834–842. doi: 10.1644/14-MAMM-A-025

Figures



Fig 3.1 Population trends of Isle Royale moose between 1995 and 2015 (diamonds, black line) and average urinary glucuronic acid (GA) concentration (squares, grey line). Broken line representing GA between 1995 and 2002 is due to missing annual values resulting from sample contamination or loss.



Fig 3.2 Populations of wolves (diamonds, grey line) and moose (squares, black line) on Isle Royale National Park, Michigan U.S.A between 1959 and 2015. Figure courtesy of J.A. Vucetich, Michigan Technological University, used with permission.

Appendix A

Study system: Isle Royale National Park

Study system: Isle Royale National Park

We met the objectives outlined in this thesis by investigating moose population dynamics in a wolf-moose-balsam fir system on Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. A critically distinctive feature of this research was the ability to test behavioral and physiological responses to diet quality and measure those physiological consequences over time in a system where predation has already been characterized. Isle Royale is a 544 km² island situated in the north-western region of Lake Superior, North America (47°50'N, 89°00'W) (Fig A.1). It is well known as one of the only known single predatorsingle prey ecological systems and has been studied continuously in that capacity for over 50 years. The island is populated by a population of moose (Alces alces) and grey wolves (*Canus lupus*). There is no direct evidence indicating how moose arrived on Isle Royale (Vucetich et al. 2011). They either swam the short distance from the mainland or were introduced by people in the early 20th century (Scarpino 2011), with recent evidence supporting the introduction hypothesis (Scarpino et al. 2015). Wolves arrived by crossing an ice bridge that formed during a particularly cold winter between 1948 and 1950 (Vucetich et al. 2011). These populations are isolated from mainland populations with little to no immigration or emigration and hunting is strictly prohibited (Vucetich and Peterson 2004). Island climate is characterized by warm summers ($\approx 50^{\circ} - 75^{\circ}$ F) and cold, wet winters (\approx -6° – 21° F). Winter snowfall ranges from moderate (\approx 29.6 cm) to severe (\approx 72.4 cm) with an average summer precipitation of \approx 9.02 cm/month (Parikh et al. 2016).

The island sits at the boundary between boreal and northern hardwood forests with large components of both biomes and there are distinct differences in vegetation and

soil morphology between the east and west ends of the island (Sanders and Grochowski 2013). Receding Pleistocene glaciers deposited till on the western end of the island allowing for deeper, nutrient rich soils while glacial scouring exposed bedrock on the eastern end resulting in shallow, nutrient poor soils (Montgomery et al. 2014). Principle forage for moose on Isle Royale consists of balsam fir (Abies balsamea), white spruce (*Picea glauca*) and cedar (*Thuja accidentalis*) with balsam fir being the most important source of winter forage (Vucetich and Peterson 2004; Montgomery et al. 2013). A variety of deciduous trees and shrubs are also available including American mountain ash (Sorbus Americana), red osier dogwood (Cornus stolonifera), paper birch (Betula papyrifera) as well as Populus spp and Acer spp. (Montgomery et al. 2013; Parikh et al. 2016). Differences in soil morphology and content between the east and west ends of Isle Royale have led to important differences in the distribution of key browsing species. The western end is characterized by northern deciduous forest and dominated by a greater proportion of cedar trees. In the Eastern region, boreal forests types dominate with thick stands of mature balsam fir (DeIgiudice et al. 1997; Sanders and Grochowski 2013). Balsam fir is the principle source of winter browse for moose. Fir occurs across the island, but is found in much lower densities in the west end than in the east (DeIgiudice et al. 1997).

Isle Royale's wolf-moose system provides a unique opportunity to study the effects of plant secondary metabolites on the population dynamics of prey species in general and ungulates in particular. Moose are the only large ungulate and prey species on the island. Hunting and vehicular traffic are prohibited leaving only predation and starvation as the leading causes of moose mortality. Moose leave browsing marks on selected trees that are easily identified and winter browse options are limited to only a few coniferous and deciduous species for which PSMs are easily tested. With wolf numbers on the island in critical decline, understanding the effects of diet selection and nutritional condition are important factors to understanding how diet quality influences moose population dynamics of moose. Conclusions of this research can have far reaching impacts into other predator-prey systems. Understanding the effects of PSMs on population dynamics of herbivores could aid in understanding food chain and food web stability where predation varies considerably.

Literature Cited

- DeIgiudice GD, Peterson RO, Samuel WM (1997) Trends of Winter Nutritional Restriction, Ticks, and Numbers of Moose on Isle Royale. J Wildl Manag 61:895–903. doi: 10.2307/3802198
- Montgomery RA, Vucetich JA, Peterson RO, et al (2013) The Influence of Winter Severity, Predation and Senescence on Moose Habitat Use. J Anim Ecol 82:301– 309. doi: 10.1111/1365-2656.12000
- Montgomery RA, Vucetich JA, Roloff GJ, et al (2014) Where Wolves Kill Moose: The Influence of Prey Life History Dynamics on the Landscape Ecology of Predation. PLoS ONE 9:e91414. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091414
- Parikh GL, Forbey JS, Robb B, et al (2016) The Influence of Plant Defensive Chemicals, Diet Composition, and Winter Severity on the Nutritional Condition of a Free-Ranging, Generalist Herbivore. Oikos n/a–n/a. doi: 10.1111/oik.03359
- Sanders S, Grochowski J (2013) The Forests of Isle Royale National Park: Can We Preserve This Pristine Wilderness in the Face of Climate Change? Nat Areas J 33:66–77. doi: 10.3375/043.033.0108
- Scarpino, P.V. (2011) Isle Royale National Park: Balancing Human and Natural History in a Maritime Park. The George Wright Forum, volume 28, pp. 182–198.

- Scarpino SV, Guerrero RF, Scarpino PV (2015) The Moose of Isle Royale: An Unnatural Condition? bioRxiv 019984. doi: 10.1101/019984
- Vucetich JA, Peterson RO (2004) The Influence of Top-Down, Bottom-Up and Abiotic Factors on The Moose (*Alces alces*) Population of Isle Royale. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 271:183–189.
- Vucetich JA, Vucetich LM, Peterson RO (2011) The Causes and Consequences of Partial Prey Consumption by Wolves Preying on Moose. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 66:295– 303. doi: 10.1007/s00265-011-1277-0



Fig A.1 Isle Royale; a 544 km2 island situated in the north-western region of Lake Superior, North America (47° 50'N, 89° 00'W). 22km from Ontario, Canada and 25km from Grand Portage, Minnesota.

Appendix B

GC Headspace autosampler parameters during monoterpene quantification analysis

of balsam fir (Abies balsamea)

GC Headspace autosampler parameters during monoterpene quantification analysis of balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*)

Volatile monoterpenes were quantified using an Agilent 7694 headspace autosampler in tandem with an Agilent 6890N gas chromatograph. Ground sub-samples (100mg) of both browsed and unbrowsed balsam fir trees were placed in separate 20mL glass headspace vials. For each sample, 1mL of headspace gas inside the vial was injected into a J&W DB-5 capillary column (30m x 250µm x 0.25µm) following a 20 min vial equalization time.

Operating Parameters for the headspace auto-sampler were:

- Temperatures
 - \circ oven temperature at 100°C
 - loop temperature at 110°C
 - o transfer line temperature at 120°C
- Times
 - \circ Vial equilibrium time = 20 minutes
 - \circ Pressurization time = 0.20 minutes
 - \circ Loop fill time = 0.50 minutes
 - \circ Loop equilibrium time = 0.20 minutes
 - \circ Injection time = 0.50 minutes
- Vial Shaking Parameters = OFF

Operating conditions for the Gas Chromatograph were:

- Splitless injector at 250°C
- Flame ionization detector at 300°C
- Oven temperature

- \circ 40°C for a period of two (2) minutes.
- Increase at a rate of 3° C/min to 60° C.
- \circ Increase at a rate of 5°C/min to 120°C.
- \circ Increase at a rate of 20°C/min to 300°C.
- \circ Held steady at 300°C for a period of seven (7) minutes.
- Inlet pressure of 80KPa with a flow rate of 1.0mL/min.
- Make-up gas = Nitrogen
- Carrier gas = Helium

Retention times and peak areas of individual monoterpenes were calculated in HP ChemStation version B.01.00. Peak areas were calculated via integration of chromatogram curves. Compounds with peak areas greater than 1% of the total area and

present in > 70% of samples were used in analysis.

Appendix C

Multivariate correlation matrix testing collinearity of dietary parameters in balsam

fir trees

Multivariate correlation matrix testing collinearity of dietary parameters in balsam

=-0.2173 =-0.0448 r**=-0**.3751 r=-0.0183 **r=_0**.1703 **e-0**.2137 **r=-0.1976** r=-0,0664 -0.2053 r=-0.0319 =0.3450 r=0.0462 68 40 10 Phenolics . -0.0743 r=-0.0812 r<u></u>≢=0.1358 r₽-0.1388 r=-0.0898 r=-0.0646 r=0.2654 r=0.1245 =-0.3751 -0.4284 =-0.1946 =-0.0482 12 Tannins =0.3450 =0.0418 r=-0.4284 =0.0831 r=0.1036 r=0.1997 r=0.1207 r=0.0764 r=0.0871 r=0.0208 -0.1641 r=0.2026 12 Protein Э r=-0.0743 =0.0831 r=0.9051 =-0.2173 =0.6392 =0.7931 r=0.6519 r=0.8271 r=0.6176 r=0.4190* r=0.3871 r=0.4274 ٠ 1 AUC/mgdwt r=-0.0812 =0.6392 r=0.6422 =0.9770 r=0.5407 r=0.4163 r=0.2387 r=0.2773® r=0.4822 =0.0462 r=0.1036 r=0.2307 25 20 15 10 unknown 12.08 . ۰. r=0.7931 =0.6422 r=0.6137 r=0.7424 r=0.6842 r=0.2374® r=-0.0448 r=-0.1946 r=0.1997 r=0.4797 r=0.1506 r=0.3338 200 150 100 50 a-pinine \sim --0,0183 r=-0.0482 r=0,6519 r=0.9770 =0.6137 r=0.5568 r=0,4318 r=0,2540 r=0.2840° r=0.2429 r=0.4645 r=0.0418 150 camphene 100 50 r=0.9051 r=0.5407 r=0.7424 r=0.7818 =-0.1703 r=-0.1358 r**≓0.12**07 r=0.5568 r=0.45**0**4 r=0.3808 r=0.1551 r=0.2715 1400 b-pinene 800 200 r=0.0719 r=0.4318 r=0.4170 0,2137 r=-0.1388 r=0.0764 r=0.8271 r=0.4163 r=0.6842 r=0.7818 =0.7694 r=0.1633 35 myrcene 20 r=0.4504 r=0.0871 r=0.2387 r=0.4797 r=0.7694 r=0.2913 €0.0233 r=0.1058 =-0.1976 r=**-0**.0898 r=0.6176 r=0.**25**40 500 400 300 200 100 -limonene r=0.2913 -0.0664 r=-0.0646 r=0.0208 r=0.4190 r=0.2773 r=0.2374 r=0.2840 r=0.3808 r=0.4170 -0.0858 r=0.2258 20 15 10 2 terpinolen V ۰. ۰. r=0.2654 r=0.3871 r=0.0233 =-0.2053 r=-0.1641 r=0.2307 r=0.1506 r=0.2429 r=0.1551 r=0.0719 r=0.0858 =0.4141 400 300 200 1 •.• borneol 0.0 -. . -0 100 . r=0.2026 r=0.4274 r=0.3338 r=0.4645 r=0.1633 r=0.4141 -0.0319 r=0.1245 r=0.4822 r=0.2715 r=0.1058 r=0.2258 120 -----2 bornyl acetate 60 0 20 35 100 300 600 5 10 20 0 200 500 10 30 50 6 12 ģ 12 500 2000 5 15 25 50 150 50 150 200 1400 0 60 120

fir trees.

Fig C.1 Multivariate analysis of one unknown and eight known monoterpenes, total monoterpenes, total tannins, total phenolics, and % crude protein. Variables with r > 0.7 were considered to be strongly correlated and in violation of multicollinearity requirements.

- * Alpha-pinene and myrcene were removed because they both correlate with beta-pinene (r = 0.7424 and r = 0.7818 respectively) and myrcene is also correlated with r-limonene (r = 0.7694). Individually, beta-pinene and r-limonene comprise significantly higher proportions of total AUC than do alpha-pinene and myrcene combined. This proportional difference is consistent across the entire sample set. Therefore, beta-pinene and r-limonene were retained for further analysis. Unknown with a retention time of 12.08 min was strongly correlated with camphene (r = 0.9770). Since this peak at 12.08 min was the only unknown monoterpene > 1% total AUC and present in > 70% of samples and it is correlated with a known terpene (camphene), the unknown compound was removed from further analysis.
- **Total AUC was omitted from analysis because it is correlated with (and driven by) a number of individual chemicals. We selected individual monoterpenes because we know animals respond to individual chemicals, not just the sum of all parts (Stolter et al. 2005; Frye et al. 2013).

This multivariate analysis represents and "island-wide" analysis. Multivariate analyses with respect to island region (east versus west) as well as with respect to year were also conducted. All correlations remained consistent across all analysis models indicating that PSM correlations were governed at the plant level scale rather than spatial or temporal scales.

Literature Cited

- Frye GG, Connelly JW, Musil DD, Forbey JS (2013) Phytochemistry Predicts Habitat Selection by an Avian Herbivore at Multiple Spatial Scales. Ecology 94:308–314. doi: 10.1890/12-1313.1
- Stolter C, Ball JP, Julkunen-Tiitto R, et al (2005) Winter Browsing of Moose on Two Different Willow Species: Food Selection in Relation to Plant Chemistry and Plant Response. Can J Zool 83:807–819. doi: 10.1139/Z05-077

Appendix D

East and west regional differences in dietary and environmental parameters

by sample year.

Table D.1 Mean concentrations ± SEM of plant secondary metabolites (total and individual monoterpenes >1% total AUC and present in >70% samples (AUC/mg DW), total phenolics (mg GAE/g DW), total tannins (µM TAE/g DW), nutrient content (% crude protein), snow depth (cm), and bite diameter (mm) in balsam fir trees (*Abies balsamia*) at patches browsed by moose (*Alces alces*) at East and West ends of Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2013, 2014, and 2015.

	2013		2014		2015	
Parameter	East (\overline{x})	West (\overline{x})	East (\overline{x})	West (\overline{x})	East (\overline{x})	West (\overline{x})
Total Monoterpenes	1034.69 ± 34.21	1031.03 ± 36.27	1174.26 ± 48.22	1314.81 ± 68.86	1046.63 ± 72.03	1031.34 ± 50.58
Unknown 12.08 ¹	12.91 ± 0.40	14.05 ± 0.58	13.49 ± 0.58	13.91 ± 0.83	12.25 ± 0.69	12.58 ± 0.58
α-pinene	111.08 ± 3.77	104.22 ± 4.77	109.21 ± 4.35	121.91 ± 6.76	93.32 ± 6.21	97.71 ± 4.30
Camphene	85.05 ± 2.65	92.34 ± 3.52	94.11 ± 3.98	96.10 ± 5.64	83.62 ± 4.46	85.47 ± 3.62
β-pinene	535.03 ± 20.80	520.57 ± 23.14	593.20 ± 28.72	673.72 ± 44.74	480.67 ± 28.41	485.44 ± 25.12
Myrcene	16.40 ± 0.64	15.76 ± 0.81	18.90 ± 0.72	21.52 ± 1.33	14.86 ± 0.92	15.12 ± 0.88
R-limonene	151.16 ± 8.34	147.20 ± 8.18	180.85 ± 10.04	230.67 ± 20.81	145.28 ± 8.88	155.24 ± 12.81
Terpinolene	9.62 ± 0.72	9.45 ± 0.88	10.01 ± 0.51	9.26 ± 1.01	8.65 ± 0.84	9.48 ± 0.64
Borneol ²	22.86 ± 1.49	21.77 ± 1.87	47.99 ± 5.40	35.09 ± 2.46	81.71 ± 24.02	56.38 ± 11.87
Bornyl Acetate	37.18 ± 3.06	48.88 ± 4.84	32.74 ± 2.60	40.71 ± 4.75	46.36 ± 5.20	51.30 ± 4.70
Number of compounds ³	8.64 ± 0.16	8.61 ± 0.18	8.87 ± 0.11	8.80 ± 0.17	8.00 ± 0.21	8.50 ± 0.16
Total phenolics ⁴	46.59 ± 1.87	45.38 ± 1.98	19.99 ± 0.70	16.70 ± 0.94	25.25 ± 1.60	24.71 ± 0.84
Total Tannins ⁴	3.55 ± 0.15	3.01 ± 0.13	5.98 ± 0.23	5.56 ± 0.59	8.20 ± 0.54	7.60 ± 0.46
Crude Protein	9.98 ± 0.21	10.05 ± 0.19	8.41 ± 0.09	9.91 ± 0.15	8.20 ± 0.14	8.80 ± 0.08
Snow Depth	38.0 ± 1.32	43.46 ± 1.33	67.46 ± 0.86	76.20 ± 2.51	52.27 ± 1.86	50.09 ± 1.37
Bite Diameter ⁵	na	na	3.06 ± 0.07	2.87 ± 0.19	2.62 ± 0.13	2.66 ± 0.12

- ¹ Unidentifiable monoterpene, numbers following "unknown" refer to retention time (min) in the chromatogram resulting from gas chromatography
- ² Borneol concentrations were measured but were excluded from analysis due to inconsistency in repeat samples and lack of adequate control standards.
- ³ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.
- ⁴ Total phenolics and tannins, concentrations in mg Gallic Acid Equivalence (GAE, phenolics) or μM Tannic Acid Equivalence (TAE, tannins)/g DW
- ⁵ Bite diameter, diameter of the twig (mm) at the observed bite mark by moose on browsed trees. Not collected during sample year 2013.

Appendix E.

AICc model selection by region to determine region specific effects of dietary

parameters on browsing selection by moose.

AICc model selection by region to determine region specific effects of dietary parameters on browsing selection by moose.

East and west regions of Isle Royale are characterized by distinct differences in soil morphology and soil nutrient composition (Appendix A). It is proposed that these differences in soil morphology further influence difference in dominant vegetation and plant community composition between the two regions (Fox-Dobbs et al. 2007). It is likely that these differences lead to differences in wind and light exposure which can directly result in bio-geochemical and nutrient cycling differences between the two regions (Li et al. 2007; Li and Kubota 2009). Concurrently, difference in nutrient cycling could directly affect PSM production and relative concentrations (Coley et al. 1985) between east and west fir trees. Indeed, our data showed significant difference between the two regions with respect to bornyl acetate and crude protein, with higher concentrations in the east (Table 1.1). It is reasonable to conclude that differences in PSM production and concentration could, in turn, result in differing selection criteria for moose browsing on the east and west ends of the island. We sought to determine if region specific behavior was a factor in moose diet selection.

Following univariate analysis of clogit models, six covariates remained in the candidate model set as possible indicators of diet selection; camphene, beta-pinene, bornyl acetate, r-limonene, tannins, and total number of compounds. Sub-setting the data by region and conducting individual AIC analysis on each region resulted in camphene as the top model for both regions. Beta-pinene resulted as a competing model (< $2 \Delta AICc$ from the top model) in the eastern region (Table E.1), while tannins and bornyl acetate emerged as competing models in the western region (Table E.2). All competing models

from both regional analyses were included in a second-round model selection in which all possible combinations of the four covariates were considered. Camphene again emerged as the top model candidate with an additive model containing camphene + tannins as the only competing model (Table E.3). For conditional logistic models, confidence intervals that cross 1.0 are considered to be non-predictive. Analysis of odds ratios and confidence intervals for simple models containing camphene and tannins showed that camphene reliably predicted browsing (exp.coef = 1.0224, 95% conf = 1.005 - 1.04), while tannins did not (exp.coef = 0.9306, 95% conf = 0.7836 - 1.105). Odds ratio analysis of the additive model containing both covariates showed that tannin performance within that model remained unpredictive (exp.coef = 0.991, CI = 0.8228 - 1.1931) indicating that camphene was the driving factor in model weight and performance. Furthermore, model averaging of the simple model containing only camphene and the additive model containing camphene + tannins had no effect on the model estimate (est = 0.02) of the top (camphene only) model.

An additive model containing camphene + beta-pinene was < $2 \Delta AICc$ from the top, fitting the criteria of a competing model, however, it only accounted or 9% of the weight of the candidate set. Given the results of the odds ratio analysis of the additive model containing tannins, the additive model containing beta-pinene was not considered for further analysis. These results indicate that camphene is a reliable "island wide" and region specific predictor of browsing selection by moose.

Literature Cited

- Coley PD, Bryant JP, Chapin FS (1985) Resource Availability and Plant Antiherbivore Defense. Science 230:895–899.
- Fox-Dobbs K, Bump JK, Peterson RO, et al (2007) Carnivore-Specific Stable Isotope Variables and Variation in the Foraging Ecology of Modern and Ancient Wolf Populations: Case Studies from Isle Royale, Minnesota, and La Brea. Can J Zool 85:458–471. doi: 10.1139/Z07-018
- Li J, Okin GS, Alvarez L, Epstein H (2007) Quantitative Effects of Vegetation Cover on Wind Erosion and Soil Nutrient Loss in a Desert Grassland of Southern New Mexico, USA. Biogeochemistry 85:317–332. doi: 10.1007/s10533-007-9142-y
- Li Q, Kubota C (2009) Effects of Supplemental Light Quality on Growth and Phytochemicals ff Baby Leaf Lettuce. Environ Exp Bot 67:59–64. doi: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.06.011
Table E.1 Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for the conditional logit selection models used for the browsing of balsam fir (*Abies balsamia*) patches used by moose (*Alces alces*) in the eastern region of Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2013, 2014, and 2015. Plant use (browsed/unbrowsed) was the binary response for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value lower than the null model, are shown in bold.

Predictor category	Model	Log Likelihood (LL) Number of parameters (K)		AIC _c	ΔAIC_c	Akaike weight (w _i)
PSM	Camphene ¹	-24.89	1	51.82	0	0.40
	β-pinene ¹	-25.60	1	53.23	1.41	0.20
	NULL	-27.03	0	54.07	2.25	0.13
	Bornyl Acetate ¹	-26.13	1	54.30	2.48	0.11
	Number of Compounds ²	-26.71	1	55.45	3.63	0.06
	Tannins ³	-26.98	1	55.99	4.17	0.05
	R-limonene ¹	-26.98	1	56.00	4.18	0.05

¹ Monoterpene compounds, AUC/mgDW > 1% total AUC and present in >70% of samples, and with univariate analysis p < 0.5.

 2 Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.

 3 Total tannins, μM Tannic Acid Equivalence (TAE)/g DW

Table E.2 Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for the conditional logit selection models used for the browsing of balsam fir (*Abies balsamia*) patches used by moose (*Alces alces*) in the western region of Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2013, 2014, and 2015. Plant use (browsed/unbrowsed) was the binary response for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value lower than the null model, are shown in bold.

Predictor category	Model	Log Likelihood (LL)	Number of parameters (K)	AICc	Δ AIC _c	Akaike weight (w _i)
PSM	Camphene ¹	-19.51	1	41.07	0	0.31
	Tannins ²	-19.81 1		41.67	0.60	0.23
	Bornyl Acetate ¹	-20.09	1	42.23	1.16	0.17
	NULL	-21.49	0	42.98	1.91	0.12
	Number of Compounds ³	-20.88	1	43.81	2.74	0.08
	R-limonene ¹	-21.30	1	44.64	3.57	0.05
	β-pinene ¹	-21.37	1	44.80	3.73	0.05

¹ Monoterpene compounds, AUC/mgDW > 1% total AUC and present in >70% of samples, and with univariate analysis p < 0.5.

² Total tannins, µM Tannic Acid Equivalence (TAE)/g DW.

³ Total number of monoterpenes with retention times < 24 minutes, > 1% total AUC, and present in > 70% of samples.

Table E.3 Model components, log likelihood (LL), number of parameters (K), Akaike's Information Criterion with sample size bias-adjustment (AICc), change in AICc from the top model (Δ AICc), and model weight (w_i) for second round model selection of competing conditional logit models used for the browsing of balsam fir (*Abies balsamia*) patches used by moose (*Alces alces*) at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA during winter 2013, 2014, and 2015. Plant use (browsed/unbrowsed) was the binary response for each model. Top models, with < 2 Δ AICc from the top model and with an AICc value lower than the null

Model	Log Likelihood (LL)	Number of parameters (K)	AIC _c	ΔAIC_c	Akaike weight (w _i)
Camphene ¹	-44.41	1	90.84	0.00	0.23
Camphene + Tannins ²	-43.44	2	90.95	0.11	0.22
Camphene + β-pinene ¹ Camphene + Bornyl	-44.31	2	92.68	1.86	0.09
Acetate ¹	-44.39	2	92.83	2.00	0.08
Camphene + β-pinene + Tannins	-43.36	3	92.85	2.01	0.08
Camphene + Bornyl Acetate + Tannins	-43.43	3	92.98	2.15	0.08
Bornyl Acetate + Tannins	-45.12	2	94.30	3.47	0.04
Bornyl Acetate	-46.23	1	94.47	3.63	0.04
Camphene + β -pinene					
+ Bornyl Acetate	-44.28	3	94.68	3.84	0.03
NULL	-43.34	4	94.90	4.06	0.03
Tannins	-46.79	1	95.59	4.76	0.02
β -pinene + Tannins	-45.95	2	95.96	5.12	0.02
β -pinene + Bornyl Acetate					
+ Tannins	-44.97	3	96.06	5.22	0.02
β-pinene + Bornyl Acetate	-46.08	2	96.22	5.38	0.02
β-pinene	-47.38	1	96.77	5.94	0.01

¹ Monoterpene compounds, AUC/mgDW > 1% total AUC and present in >70% of samples, and with univariate analysis p < 0.5.

² Total tannins, µM Tannic Acid Equivilence (TAE)/g DW.

Appendix F

Estimating intake rate from bite diameter of balsam fir trees

Estimating intake rate from bite diameter of balsam fir trees

Intake rate was estimated from a diameter-length-weight regression equation, $Y=13.1374X^{2.0795}$ (Figure F.1) determined by Risenhoover (1987) for balsam fir trees on Isle Royale, Michigan, USA.

Literature Cited

Risenhoover, K.L. (1987) Winter Foraging Strategies of Moose in Subarctic and Boreal Forest Habitat. Dissertation, Michigan Technological University, 104.



Fig F.1Intake rate as a function of bite diameter of balsam fir trees (*Abies balsamea*) browsed by moose on Isle Royale, Michigan, USA. Bite diameter measurements collected during sample years 2014 and 2015 (n=67).

Appendix G

Regional and island wide values of GA:C and UN:C for the 18-year sample set.

Regional and island wide values of GA:C and UN:C for the 18-year sample set.

Interannual variation in condition and PSM responses over time has important implications for the nutritional health and energy budgets of herbivores. To initially investigate interannual variation in these parameters, we collected urine samples, via urine soaked snow, annually during the months of February to March from 1994 to 2015. All samples were analyzed for urea nitrogen (UN) and creatinine (C) at Wolff Laboratories, Minneapolis Minnesota, USA. In general, there were more samples collected from the eastern region than from the west. Where possible, 20 randomly selected samples from each region (east/west) were tested for glucuronic acid (GA) at Boise State University (Table G.1). Samples from 1995, 1996, 1998, and 1999 were lost due to an undetected freezer failure during storage. This allowed samples from these years to warm up to room temperature for an unknown period of time, hence, they were not included in extended data set. All other years demonstrated a significantly positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C indicating that increased intake, absorption and detoxification of PSMs correlates with decreased nutritional condition, with the exception of sample year 2001 (Table G.2).

Samples collected during calendar year 2001 from the western region of Isle Royale routinely tested well below the average values for GA than all other years. GA values for samples collected from the eastern region during that year, as well as values for UN and C from both regions were all within average range of other year's values and demonstrated the same positive relationship as all the other years in the 18-year sample set. When samples from the western region were added to the same analysis illustrating an "island-wide" analysis, that relationship was negated. Samples from the western region demonstrated similar relative UN and C concentrations as the eastern region. However, GA concentrations consistently (repeated chemical analysis of the same samples) returned results far below the average for other years. These mark the only samples in the entire extended data set where GA detection was so low as to be negligible in some samples. Due to these repeatedly demonstrated difference in GA concentration in this group of samples relative to the rest of the extended data set, sample year 2001 was deemed to be anomalous and removed from further consideration. Samples collected from east and west regions were stored separately after UN and C analysis and prior to GA analysis. It is possible that western samples became contaminated at some point during the interim.

The three-year sample set (2013 - 2015), Fig 2.1) was further analyzed with respect to region to determine if the relationship between GA:C and UN:C held constant for each region. East and West regions both demonstrated a positive correlation between GA:C and UN:C (Fig G.1).

Table G.1Mean (\bar{x}) and SEM of GA:C (mg/dL) and UN:C (mg/dL) values for each of 17 years of collected samples, n= 40 for each year. Values reflect the average values specific to east and west regions as well as across the entire island.Sequential gaps with respect to year between 1994 and 2000 are the result of freezer failure in which samples were lost.Sample year 2001 (bold) was removed from further analysis due to suspected alteration of samples from the west region which was an outlier relative to all other years.

	GA:C west		UN:C west		GA:C East		UN:C East		GA:C Island		UN:C Island	
Year	x	SEM	x	SEM	x	SEM	x	SEM	x	SEM	x	SEM
1994	27.125	1.878	1.954	0.221	40.895	2.120	2.109	0.172	34.010	1.780	2.031	0.139
1997	29.044	2.067	2.135	0.144	50.318	2.694	2.970	0.152	40.241	2.438	2.553	0.124
2000	33.733	2.890	2.145	0.128	42.432	2.239	2.871	0.141	38.083	1.934	2.508	0.111
2001	20.088	2.630	2.630	0.168	36.571	1.361	2.710	0.143	28.330	1.969	2.670	0.109
2002	28.246	1.293	1.712	0.118	39.181	2.684	2.127	0.198	33.713	1.701	1.919	0.118
2003	31.546	2.478	2.218	0.111	41.364	1.938	2.805	0.196	37.191	1.701	2.555	0.129
2004	30.227	1.306	2.426	0.195	57.020	5.568	3.320	0.207	43.624	3.545	2.873	0.157
2005	31.878	1.430	2.060	0.154	35.475	1.766	2.126	0.214	33.227	1.133	2.085	0.124
2006	45.568	5.409	2.928	0.327	40.218	2.937	2.890	0.268	42.893	3.025	2.909	0.208
2007	28.995	1.582	2.025	0.123	51.489	13.903	3.131	0.740	37.350	5.458	2.436	0.293
2008	34.276	1.855	2.216	0.156	46.279	2.223	2.835	0.102	38.169	1.708	2.416	0.119
2009	37.112	2.648	2.652	0.220	68.967	4.086	3.680	0.192	53.040	3.504	3.166	0.166
2010	37.457	2.101	1.968	0.163	33.748	2.197	1.872	0.155	35.602	1.532	1.920	1.532
2011	33.796	1.739	2.368	0.208	47.014	1.985	3.084	0.142	40.405	1.678	2.726	0.137
2012	37.530	2.458	2.194	0.354	41.889	2.209	2.408	0.173	39.709	1.668	2.301	0.196
2013	45.662	3.143	2.254	0.193	47.210	2.615	2.801	0.147	46.436	2.001	2.528	0.123
2014	40.216	2.529	3.446	0.314	46.060	2.121	4.349	0.200	44.599	1.744	4.123	0.179
2015	40.528	2.622	2.519	0.183	43.906	2.905	2.560	0.260	41.779	1.962	2.535	0.147

Year	n	F-stat	р	R ² Adj	95% CI	eq
1994	39	6.55	0.015	0.127	0.006 - 0.049	y = 0.0274x + 1.0145
1997	38	16.64	< 0.001	0.297	0.014 - 0.043	y = 0.0287x + 1.4197
2000	40	18.67	< 0.001	0.312	0.017 - 0.048	y = 0.0328x + 1.2595
2001	39	0.64	0.427	-0.009	-0.025 - 0.011	y = -0.0071x + 2.87
2002	42	69.23	< 0.001	0.625	0.042 - 0.069	y = 0.0553x + 0.0545
2003	40	8.06	0.007	0.153	1.576 - 9.418	y = 0.0318x + 1.3719
2004	40	5.11	0.03	0.095	0.002 - 0.029	y = 0.0153x + 2.2064
2005	40	4.47	0.04	0.082	0.002 - 0.069	y = 0.0354x + 0.908
2006	38	14.28	< 0.001	0.264	0.017 - 0.056	y = 0.0361x + 1.3642
2007	35	215.17	< 0.001	0.863	0.043 - 0.057	y = 0.05x + 0.567
2008	37	15.01	< 0.001	0.28	0.018 - 0.058	y = 0.0383x + 0.9539
2009	40	20.16	< 0.001	0.329	0.021 - 0.056	y = 0.0279x + 1.689
2010	39	16.48	< 0.001	0.289	0.020 - 0.060	y = 0.0402x + 0.489
2011	40	14.86	< 0.001	0.262	0.021 - 0.066	y = 0.0432x + 0.9806
2012	40	52.76	< 0.001	0.57	0.090 - 0.159	y = 0.0894x + 1.248
2013	41	4.56	0.04	0.082	0.001 - 0.039	y = 0.0199x + 1.6183
2014	40	16.12	< 0.001	0.279	0.028 - 0.084	y = 0.0712x + 0.913
2015	44	20.17	< 0.001	0.308	0.029 - 0.075	y = 0.0518x + 0.286

Table G.2Regression statistics for GA:C (predictor) and UN:C (response) isolated from
moose urine at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA for each year in the extend sample
set. Sample year 2001(bold) was deemed anomalous and was removed from further analysis.
All other years demonstrated a significantly positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C.



Fig G.1 Linear regression of GA:C and UN:C for East (Y = 0.047x + 1.244) and West (Y = 0.026x + 1.515) regions of Isle Royale for the three-year sample set; 2013 (circles), 2014 (square), and 2015 (triangle). Solid line represents the least squares regression with dashed lines representing 95% confidence intervals. Both regions demonstrated a significantly positive relationship between GA:C and UN:C (east: $F_{1,56} = 12.78$, p = 0.0007, $R^2 = 0.19$; west: $F_{1,44} = 4.938$, p = 0.031, $R^2 = 0.10$).

Appendix H

Influence of individual and normalized PSMs on GA:C and UN:C

Influence of individual and normalized PSMs on GA:C and UN:C

AICc model selection showed that the biomarker for toxin exposure, (glucuronic acid:creatine, GA:C), was the best predictor of nutritional condition (urea nitrogen: creatinine, UN:C) with proportional intake rate (IR) of monoterpenes being the second best predictor of nutritional condition (Chapter 2, Table 2.1). While not a competing model (> Δ AICc from top model), proportional IR of monoterpenes still resulted in a strong significantly positive relationship with UN:C. However, monoterpenes are not the only class of PSM produced by plants. Non-tannin phenolic compounds are another class produced by most plants, many of which are attributed to dietary health benefits, primarily through antioxidant activity (see chapter 1). In contrast, some phenolic compounds can form harmful intermediary products (Sakihama et al. 2002) which may have cytotoxic effects (Lapidot et al. 2002). As a result, these potentially harmful intermediary compounds may have additional influence on detoxification requirements and nutritional condition.

To assess the potential additive effects of phenolics on detoxification and nutritional condition, we normalized both total monoterpene and total phenolics data to fit a scale between 0 and 1 using the following equation.

$$z_i = \frac{x_i - \min(x)}{\max(x) - \min(x)}$$

These two normalized values were added together for a total normalized PSM value for each plant sample. AICc analysis (Chapter 2, Table 2.1) showed that proportional IR, which includes behavioral responses to PSMs, was a better predictor of UN:C for both monoterpene and phenolics than when we considered only individually. As a result, we focused solely on proportional IR when considering effects of three PSM

classes (i.e. monoterpenes, phenolics, and total normalized PSM) on GA:C and UN:C and did not include total PSMs in browsed fir, proportion of fir in diet, or IR (from bite diameter) alone.

Proportional IR of all three categories of PSMs found in browsed fir trees; monoterpenes (Y=0.018x + 2.56; $F_{1,30} = 15.41$, p = 0.0005, $R^2 = 0.34$, 95% CI = 0.008 – 0.027), phenolics (Y=0.0005x + 3.35; $F_{1,30} = 5.22$, p = 0.03, $R^2 = 0.15$, 95% CI = 0.00005 – 0.0009), and normalized total PSM (Y=2.29x + 3.1; $F_{1,30} = 5.41$, p = 0.03, $R^2 = 0.15$, 95% CI = 0.278 – 4.293) showed significantly positive relationships with UN:C (Fig H.1). Of the three, phenolics was the least significant, possibly due to the many health benefits known to be associated with non-tannin phenolics (Sakakibara et al. 2003; Mennen et al. 2005; Ainsworth and Gillespie 2007). Of the three variables tested, none demonstrated any relationship with GA:C levels; monoterpenes (Y=0.077x + 35.34; $F_{1,30} = 2.598$, p = 0.117, $R^2 = 0.08$, 95% CI = -0.021 – 0.174), total phenolics (Y=0.001x + 43.4; $F_{1,30} = 0.22$, p = 0.64, $R^2 = 0.007$, 95% CI = -0.003 – 0.005), normalized total PSM (Y=14.8x + 38.71; $F_{1,30} = 2.6$, p = 0.118, $R^2 = 0.08$, 95% CI = -3.96 – 33.55; Fig H.2). This trend is likely due to the many other ecological factors, beyond diet quality, that influence glucuronidation (see chapter 2).

Literature Cited

- Ainsworth EA, Gillespie KM (2007) Estimation of Total Phenolic Content and Other Oxidation Substrates in Plant Tissues Using Folin–Ciocalteu Reagent. Nat Protoc 2:875–877. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.102
- Lapidot T, Walker MD, Kanner J (2002) Antioxidant and Prooxidant Effects of Phenolics on Pancreatic β-Cells in Vitro. J Agric Food Chem 50:7220–7225. doi: 10.1021/jf020615a

- Mennen LI, Walker R, Bennetau-Pelissero C, Scalbert A (2005) Risks and Safety of Polyphenol Consumption. Am J Clin Nutr 81:326S–329S.
- Sakakibara H, Honda Y, Nakagawa S, et al (2003) Simultaneous Determination of All Polyphenols in Vegetables, Fruits, and Teas. J Agric Food Chem 51:571–581. doi: 10.1021/jf020926l
- Sakihama Y, Cohen MF, Grace SC, Yamasaki H (2002) Plant Phenolic Antioxidant and Prooxidant Activities: Phenolics-Induced Oxidative Damage Mediated by Metals in Plants. Toxicology 177:67–80. doi: 10.1016/S0300-483X(02)00196-8



Fig H.1 Relationship between proportional IR of PSMs in balsam fir trees browsed by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA during late winter, 2014 and urinary UN:C. a) Proportional IR of total monoterpenes (Y=0.018x+2.56; $F_{1,30} = 15.41$, p = 0.0005, $R^2 = 0.34$, 95% CI = 0.008 – 0.027). b) Proportional IR of total phenolics (Y=0.0005x+3.35; $F_{1,30} = 5.22$, p = 0.03, $R^2 = 0.15$, 95% CI = 0.00005 – 0.0009). c) Proportional IR of normalized total PSM (Y=2.29x+3.1; $F_{1,30} = 5.41$, p = 0.03, $R^2 = 0.15$, 95% CI = 0.278 – 4.293). Solid lines represent least squares regression while dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals.



Fig H.2 Relationship between the proportional IR of PSMs from balsam fir trees browsed by moose at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan USA during late winter, 2014 and urinary GA:C. a) Proportional IR of total monoterpenes (Y=0.077x+35.34; $F_{1,30} = 2.598$, p = 0.117, R² = 0.08, 95% CI = -0.021 – 0.174). b) Proportional IR of total phenolics (Y=0.001x+43.4; $F_{1,30} = 0.22$, p = 0.64, R² = 0.007, 95% CI = -0.003 – 0.005). c) Proportional IR of normalized total PSM (Y=14.8x+38.71; $F_{1,30} = 2.6$, p = 0.118, R² = 0.08, 95% CI = -3.96 – 33.55). Solid lines represent least squares regression while dotted lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

Appendix I

Influence of Dietary Protein on Urinary Urea Nitrogen.

Influence of Dietary Protein on Urinary Urea Nitrogen.

Urea Nitrogen (UN) is the end product of protein catabolism in the mammalian body, it comprises the largest pool of free nitrogen in the body and its production is directly related to changes in catabolism of both dietary and endogenous proteins (Weiner et al. 2014). When utilizing UN:C ratios to determine nutritional condition of overwintering populations of wild herbivores, it is important to consider the effects of dietary protein as well as catabolized endogenous protein. To examined the effects of crude protein on nutritional condition we calculated the percent crude protein in browsed plants and regressed the proportional intake rate of crude protein with UN:C values. We predicted that proportional IR of crude protein would demonstrate a positive relationship with UN:C values but would not show any relationship with GA:C. We found that proportional IR of crude protein did have a significantly positive relationship with UN:C values (Y=0.19x + 2.92; F_{1,31} = 7.761, p = 0.009, R² = 0.20, 95% CI = 0.051 – 0.331; Fig I.1), and did not affect GA:C values (Y=0.75x + 39.6; F_{1,31} = 1.084, p = 0.306, R² = 0.034, 95% CI = -0.722 – 2.23) as predicted.

These results seem counterintuitive when viewed in the context that increased UN:C equates to decreased nutritional condition. However, it is important to consider that urinary UN levels are highly correlated with blood serum UN levels (Kohn et al. 2005), which are in turn governed by the catabolism of both dietary and endogenous proteins (DelGiudice 1995; Parker et al. 2005; Weiner et al. 2014). When considered in this context, increases in UN:C ratios attributed to increased protein intake can be seen as a healthy increase for overwintering animals. Conversely, increases in UN:C associated with increased consumption of PSMs can be seen as an increase in endogenous protein catabolism and hence, a reduction in nutritional condition. Ungulates voluntarily reduce intake during winter months yet still require a daily protein intake greater than $6.8\% \pm 0.8\%$ for maintenance requirements (Timmermann and McNicol 1988; Sauvé and Côté 2007). Although balsam fir is the most nutritious forage option available for overwintering moose on Isle Royale (Parikh et al. 2016) its protein content ($9.2\% \pm 0.11$) is still barely sufficient to meet daily needs of browsing moose when considering potential voluntary reduction of intake associated with behavioral avoidance of PSMs. Protein assimilation may be further compromised by the presence of co-occurring PSMs which can inhibit digestive enzymes (Kohl et al. 2015), decrease protein digestibility (Mehansho et al. 1987; Foley and Moore 2005) and effect whole body protein turnover (Au et al. 2013). Increased protein consumption may help to mitigate endogenous effects of PSM metabolism. However, at present, we do not possess any method for differentiating UN produced from dietary protein from that produced from endogenous proteins.

Literature Cited

- Au J, Marsh KJ, Wallis IR, Foley WJ (2013) Whole-Body Protein Turnover Reveals the Cost of Detoxification of Secondary Metabolites in a Vertebrate Browser. J Comp Physiol [B] 183:993–1003. doi: 10.1007/s00360-013-0754-3
- DelGiudice GD (1995) Assessing Winter Nutritional Restriction of Northern Deer with Urine in Snow: Considerations, Potential, and Limitations. Wildl Soc Bull 1973-2006 23:687–693.
- Foley WJ, Moore BD (2005) Plant Secondary Metabolites and Vertebrate Herbivores from Physiological Regulation to Ecosystem Function. Curr Opin Plant Biol 8:430–435. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2005.05.009

- Kohl KD, Pitman E, Robb BC, et al (2015) Monoterpenes as Inhibitors of Digestive Enzymes and Counter-Adaptations in a Specialist Avian Herbivore. J Comp Physiol [B] 185:425–434. doi: 10.1007/s00360-015-0890-z
- Kohn RA, Dinneen MM, Russek-Cohen E (2005) Using Blood Urea Nitrogen to Predict Nitrogen Excretion and Efficiency of Nitrogen Utilization in Cattle, Sheep, Goats, Horses, Pigs, and Rats. J Anim Sci 83:879–889. doi: 10.2527/2005.834879x
- Mehansho H, Butler LG, Carlson DM (1987) Dietary Tannins and Salivary Proline-Rich Proteins: Interactions, Induction, and Defense Mechanisms. Annu Rev Nutr 7:423–440. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nu.07.070187.002231
- Parikh GL, Forbey JS, Robb B, et al (2016) The Influence of Plant Defensive Chemicals,
 Diet Composition, and Winter Severity on the Nutritional Condition of a Free Ranging, Generalist Herbivore. Oikos n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/oik.03359
- Parker KL, Barboza PS, Stephenson TR (2005) Protein Conservation in Female Caribou (*Rangifer tarandus*): Effects of Decreasing Diet Quality During Winter. J Mammal 86:610–622. doi: 10.1644/1545-1542(2005)86[610:PCIFCR]2.0.CO;2
- Sauvé DG, Côté SD (2007) Winter Forage Selection in White-Tailed Deer at High Density: Balsam Fir is the Best of a Bad Choice. J Wildl Manag 71:911–914. doi: 10.2193/2006-056
- Timmermann HR, McNicol JG (1988) Moose Habitat Needs. For Chron 64:238–245. doi: 10.5558/tfc64238-3
- Weiner ID, Mitch WE, Sands JM (2014) Urea and Ammonia Metabolism and the Control of Renal Nitrogen Excretion. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol CJN.10311013. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10311013



Fig I.1 Relationship between proportional intake of crude protein of balsam fir consumed by moose and UN:C values present in moose urine (Y=0.19x + 2.92; $F_{1,31} = 7.761$, p = 0.009, $R^2 = 0.20$, 95% CI = 0.051 – 0.331). Solid lines represent the least squares regression while dashed lines represent the 95% confidence intervals.

Appendix J

Other Notable Observations

Other Notable Observations

Relative Absorption of Consumed Monoterpenes

Our results showed no correlation between ingested PSMs and GA:C output. One possible explanation is that not all ingested PSMs are absorbed into the blood stream. Absorbed PSMs relative to those consumed may be a more indicative metric of the effect of PSMs on energetic budgets and detoxification systems then PSM concentrations in browsed plants alone. Monoterpene profiles for balsam fir trees on Isle Royale have been characterized (Chapter 1, Fig 1.4) and their effects on the nutritional condition of moose have been shown (Chapter 2, Fig 2.2). To further understand the effects of monoterpenes on moose energetic budgets, and by extension, nutritional condition, it would be useful to know what proportion of ingested monoterpenes were absorbed and detoxified through the hepatic system. To test this, we collected moose pellets at each identified browsing patch and placed 0.5g of fresh fecal material in a 20mL headspace vial. Relative concentrations of monoterpenes excreted unchanged were measured using an Agilent 6890N gas chromatograph (GC), following specifications detailed in chapter 2. Results show that all major identified compounds present in the balsam fir samples were also present in the fecal pellets with the exception of one, borneol, which showed negligible concentrations in fecal pellets relative to plant concentrations (Fig J.1). Monoterpenes are lipophilic organic compounds and as such should be readily absorbed in the GI tract (Sorensen et al. 2006). However, some data suggests that monoterpenes are not easily absorbed through the intestinal tract, and those that are can take up to five days to be detoxified and cleared from the body (Köppel et al. 1981). Therefore, it is not useful for

us to use these data as a metric for how much of the ingested monoterpenes were absorbed and subsequently detoxified.

Biomarkers of Physiological Processes

Urine Urea Nitrogen as an Index of Nutritional Condition

Historically, fecal nitrogen (FN) has been the primary means by which researchers established the nutritional condition of free-ranging herbivores. Fecal droppings from wild populations are readily available, provide a convenient and noninvasive sampling technique, and nitrogen content of droppings remain relatively constant for 2-3 weeks post-defecation regardless of environmental conditions (Jenks et al. 1990; Leslie et al. 2008). However, the use of FN as an indicator of nutritional condition has faced considerable criticism regarding its efficacy in studies involving wild herbivores. Hobbs (1987) and Leslie and Starkey (1987) both reported that ingestion of PSMs can elevate FN concentrations regardless of dietary nitrogen consumed. Protein binding activity of simple and complex tannins provides the simplest explanation of this elevated FN when herbivores consume plants. In the absence of tannin binding salivary proteins, tannins can bind insolubly with ingested plant proteins or digestive proteins, reducing overall protein assimilation and increasing nitrogen passage in the feces (Juntheikki 1996; Osborn and Ginnett 2001; Shimada 2006). Loss of dietary protein is greatly decreased in the presence of tannin binding salivary proteins (McArthur 1991). Even in the presence of salivary proteins, dietary protein can still be lost through tannin complexation if tannin concentrations are sufficiently high. In a controlled study, Osborn and Ginnett (2001) reported that tannin complexation significantly increased FN in white-tailed deer and Mould and Robbins (1981) demonstrated that that when plants

containing high levels of secondary metabolites represent >33% of the diet of a captive elk, protein digestibility was decreased and FN increased. Leslie et al (2008) argue that with exception of certain extremes, herbivores rarely consume a diet made up of >33% of a single plant species high in PSMs. While this may be supported by diet mixing under summer forage condition, many herbivores are subjected to extreme dietary restriction during winter, often limited to a few forage options high in PSMs. Thus, the use of fecal nitrogen to determine nutritional condition of overwintering animals may not be useful and an alternative approach is needed. Quantification of UN:C from urine recovered from winter snow provides an alternative measure of nutritional condition without the effects of tannin complex inflation demonstrated in FN studies.

The use of UN:C ratios obtained from snow collected urine as an index for the nutritional condition has faced some criticism (Parker 2003). Säkkinen et al. (2001) argued that UN:C ratios have complex dynamics that are sensitive to both seasonal and dietary changes, and thus, are not a useful indicator of nutritional condition. White et al. (1995) argued that UN:C ratios are subject to variation among sex and age and are only useful when the sex and age of the animals are known and analysis is considered within that context. They further argued that even within the proper age-sex context, UN:C values are non-indicative of condition until >20% of fall fat reserves have been depleted. An additional limitation of UN:C utility for determining nutritional condition in wild herbivores is that samples collected from highly gregarious species could contain urine from multiple animals. Thus, the use of snow collected UN:C requires special conditions rarely present in natural systems to maintain any utility.

While we acknowledge the proposed limitations, the use of UN:C as an index of nutritional restriction has been validated in natural systems (Larter and Nagy 2000; Delgiudice et al. 2001). In our study, many of these issues are limited. First, winter diet of moose on Isle Royale has been clearly characterized and remains largely consistent. Age-sex variation was not considered in our study and could not only influence UN:C, but also GA:C. Green and Fisher (1981) showed that both glucuronidation efficiency and relative use of different detoxification pathways vary by both sex and age in rats. Sex and age variation in the expression UGT enzymes responsible for glucuronidation have also been demonstrated in pigs (Kojima and Degawa 2014) and humans (Liston et al. 2001) Despite potential variation in UN:C and GA:C relative to age and sex we still found robust relationships linking the potential consequences of PSMs (GA:C) to nutritional condition. However additional analysis of samples could help tease apart variation in this relationship attributed to age and sex. Second, samples were collected in late winter when fat reserves are expected to be critically depleted or nearing critical levels. Finally, island moose are non-gregarious and samples were only collected if they came from single animals, as evident by tracks in the snow.

Correlation of Glucuronic Acid and Urea Nitrogen with Creatinine

Creatinine (C) is the end result in creatine metabolism in skeletal muscles (Doi et al. 2009). Creatine is endogenously produced in the liver or gained through dietary intake and is stored in the skeletal muscles as phosphocreatine. Energy in the form of ATP for muscular contraction is obtained through anaerobic degradation of stored phosphocreatine resulting in the reduced form, creatinine, which is excreted from the body exclusively in urine (Casey and Greenhaff 2000) at a relatively constant daily rate

(Moen and DeIgiudice 1997). Because its production is governed by muscular activity, creatinine concentrations in urine are dependent upon muscle mass and relative physical activity (Brisco et al. 2013). Thus, concentrations of creatinine provide a good indication of the lean muscle mass of the animal in question and is strongly correlated with body weight (Baxmann et al. 2008). We found that both GA and UN were significantly positive correlated with C in snow recovered urine (Fig J.2). These results indicate that larger animals possess greater detoxification capacity (or greater intake of PSMs) and greater rates of urea production under conditions of nutritional restriction than do smaller conspecifics. During winter months, when dietary options are limited, smaller animals have less endogenous energy reserves, higher mass specific metabolic requirements, and may have difficulty locating sufficiently nutritious forage. These results may provide important insights to population ecology by identifying populations of greatest concern regarding winter nutritional maintenance. Additionally, these results may provide management insights for range restricted and/or economically important populations and may help inform supplemental winter feeding programs.

Literature Cited

- Baxmann AC, Ahmed MS, Marques NC, et al (2008) Influence of Muscle Mass and Physical Activity on Serum and Urinary Creatinine and Serum Cystatin C. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol CJASN 3:348–354. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02870707
- Brisco MA, Coca SG, Chen J, et al (2013) Blood Urea Nitrogen/Creatinine Ratio
 Identifies a High-Risk but Potentially Reversible Form of Renal Dysfunction in
 Patients With Decompensated Heart Failure. Circ Heart Fail 6:233–239. doi:
 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.112.968230
- Casey A, Greenhaff PL (2000) Does Dietary Creatine Supplementation Play a Role in Skeletal Muscle Metabolism and Performance? Am J Clin Nutr 72:607s–617s.

- Delgiudice GD, Moen RA, Singer FJ, Riggs MR (2001) Winter Nutritional Restriction and Simulated Body Condition of Yellowstone Elk and Bison before and after the Fires of 1988. Wildl Monogr 1–60.
- Doi K, Yuen PST, Eisner C, et al (2009) Reduced Production of Creatinine Limits Its Use as Marker of Kidney Injury in Sepsis. J Am Soc Nephrol 20:1217–1221. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008060617
- Green MD, Fischer LJ (1981) Age- And Sex-Related Differences in Acetaminophen Metabolism in the Rat. Life Sci 29:2421–2428. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(81)90479-3
- Hobbs NT (1987) Fecal Indices to Dietary Quality: A Critique. J Wildl Manag 51:317– 320. doi: 10.2307/3801008
- Jenks JA, Soper RB, Lochmiller RL, Leslie DM Jr (1990) Effect of Exposure on Nitrogen and Fiber Characteristics of White-Tailed Deer Feces. J Wildl Manag 54:389–391. doi: 10.2307/3809644
- Juntheikki M-R (1996) Comparison of Tannin-Binding Proteins in Saliva of Scandinavian and North American Moose (*Alces alces*). Biochem Syst Ecol 24:595–601. doi: 10.1016/S0305-1978(96)00084-1
- Kojima M, Degawa M (2014) Sex Differences in the Constitutive Gene Expression of Sulfotransferases and UDP-glucuronosyltransferases in the Pig Liver: Androgenmediated Regulation. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 29:192–197. doi: 10.2133/dmpk.DMPK-13-RG-086
- Köppel C, Tenczer J, Tönnesmann U, et al (1981) Acute Poisoning With Pine Oil Metabolism of Monoterpenes-. Arch Toxicol 49:73–78. doi: 10.1007/BF00352074
- Larter NC, Nagy JA (2000) Overwinter Changes in Urea Nitrogen:Creatinine and Cortisol:Creatinine Ratios in Urine From Banks Island Peary Caribou. Rangifer 20:125–132. doi: 10.7557/2.20.5.1637

- Leslie DM, Bowyer RT, Jenks JA (2008) Facts From Feces: Nitrogen Still Measures Up as a Nutritional Index for Mammalian Herbivores. J Wildl Manag 72:1420–1433. doi: 10.2193/2007-404
- Leslie DM Jr, Starkey EE (1987) Fecal Indices to Dietary Quality: A Reply. J Wildl Manag 51:321–325. doi: 10.2307/3801009
- Liston HL, Markowitz JS, DeVane CL (2001) Drug Glucuronidation in Clinical Psychopharmacology. J Clin Psychopharmacol 21:500–515.
- McArthur, C., Hagerman, A.E. and Robbins, T. (1991) Physiological Strategies of Mammalian Herbivores Against Plant Defenses. In *Plant Defenses against Mammalian Herbivory*. CRC press inc, Boca Raton, Florida. 1-28.
- Moen R, DeIgiudice GD (1997) Simulating Nitrogen Metabolism and Urinary Urea Nitrogen: Creatinine Ratios in Ruminants. J Wildl Manag 61:881–894. doi: 10.2307/3802197
- Mould ED, Robbins CT (1981) Nitrogen Metabolism in Elk. J Wildl Manag 45:323–334. doi: 10.2307/3807915
- Osborn RG, Ginnett TF (2001) Fecal Nitrogen and 2,6-Diaminopimelic Acid as Indices to Dietary Nitrogen in White-Tailed Deer. Wildl Soc Bull 1973-2006 29:1131– 1139.
- Parker KL (2003) Advances in the Nutritional Ecology of Cervids at Different Scales. Écoscience 10:395–411.
- Säkkinen H, Stien A, Holand Ø, et al (2001) Plasma Urea, Creatinine, and Urea:
 Creatinine Ratio in Reindeer (Rangifer tarandus tarandus) and in Svalbard
 Reindeer (Rangifer tarandus platyrhynchus) during Defined Feeding Conditions
 and in the Field. Physiol Biochem Zool 74:907–916. doi: 10.1086/324567
- Shimada T (2006) Salivary Proteins as a Defense Against Dietary Tannins. J Chem Ecol 32:1149–1163. doi: 10.1007/s10886-006-9077-0
- Sorensen JS, Skopec MM, Dearing MD (2006) Application of Pharmacological Approaches to Plant-Mammal Interactions. J Chem Ecol 32:1229–1246. doi: 10.1007/s10886-006-9086-z

White PJ, Garrott RA, White CAV, Sargeant GA (1995) Interpreting Mean Chemical Ratios from Simple Random Collections of Snow-Urine Samples. Wildl Soc Bull 1973-2006 23:705–710.



Fig J.1 Representative Monoterpene profile of balsam fir shown with monoterpene profiles of moose fecal pellets collected during 2013, 2014, and 2015 (each offset) winter field seasons at Isle Royale National Park, Michigan, USA. Peaks show individual compounds, with the height of the peak (AUC) indicating relative abundance of each identified compound.



Fig J.2 Relationship between (a) creatinine and glucuronic acid (Y = 33.58X + 76.63; $F_{1,102} = 165.5$, p < 0.001, R2 = 0.619, 95% CI = 28.4 - 38.76) and (b) creatinine and urea nitrogen (Y = 2.595X + 4.053; $F_{1,102} = 92.23$, p < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.475$, 95% CI = 2.059 - 3.131). Both relationships were significantly positively correlated with higher concentrations C correlating to higher concentrations of both GA and UN. Solid line represents least squares regression, dotted line represents 95% confidence intervals.